EFFECTS OF COMMONLY USED ANALGESICS AND ANTIINFLAMMATORY DRUGS, IN ACUTE AND CHRONIC PAIN IN THE NAKED MOLE-RAT (<u>HETEROCEPHALUS</u> <u>GLABER</u>) USING THE FORMALIN TEST

11

THIS THESIS HAS BEEN ACCEPTED FOR THE DOF MSC ((97)) THE DIARY BE PLACED IN THE WARY.

ΒY

FARZANA KARIM, B. V. M. (NAIROBI) DEPARTMENT OF ANIMAL PHYSIOLOGY UNIVERSITY OF NAIROBI.

A THESIS SUBMITTED IN PART FULFILMENT FOR THE DEGREE OF M.Sc. (COMPARATIVE MAMMALIAN PHYSIOLOGY) IN THE UNIVERSITY OF NAIROBI.

1991

UNIVERSITY OF NAIROEL

#### DECLARATION

This thesis is my original work and has not been presented for a degree in any other University.

FARZANA KARIM, B.V.M. Department of Animal Physiology, University of Nairobi, Kenya.

Ferr

This thesis has been submitted for examination with my approval as University supervisor.

T. I. KANUI, Ph. D.

Senior lecturer, Department of Animal Physiology,

University of Nairobi.

This thesis has been submitted with my approval as second supervisor.

ogwa

S.W. MBUGUA, Ph. D.

Senior lecturer, Department of Clinical Studies,

University of Nairobi.

## DEDICATION

TO:

## My Mother, Father, Sisters and Brothers

## TABLE OF CONTENTS

	Page
Title	(i)
Declaration	(ii)
Dedication	(iii)
Table of contents	(iv)
List of figures	(viii)
List of tables	(xi)
List of appendices	(xiii)
Acknowledgements	(xvi)
Abstract	(xvii)

## **CHAPTER 1**

1.0	LITERATURE REVIEW	1
1.1	Introduction	1
1.2	Pain	4
1.2.1	Definitions	4
1.2.2	Peripheral mechanisms of nociception	5
1.2.2.1	Cutaneous nociceptors	5
1.2.2.2	Muscular and articular nociceptors	9
1.2.2.3	Visceral nociceptors	10
1.2.2.4	Mechanisms of nociceptor activation	12
1.2.2.4.1	Direct or indirect action of nociceptive	
	stimulation	12
1.2.2.4.2	Involvement of nociceptors in	
	neurogenic inflammation	13
1.2.3	Central mechanisms of nociception	16
1.2.3.1	Neuroanatomy and physiology of the	
	dorsal horn of the spinal cord	16

1.2.3.2	Primary afferent input to the dorsal	
	horn of the spinal cord	21
1.2.3.3	Viscero-somatic convergence in the	
	spinal cord	23
1.2.3.4	Propriospinal inputs into the spinal cord	24
1.2.3.5	Neurotransmitter release by the	
	nociceptive afferents at the spinal level	25
1.2.3.5.1	Substance P (SP)	25
1.2.3.6	Ascending systems that transmit	
	information from nociceptors	27
1.2.3.7	Descending systems acting on dorsal	
	horn neurones	31
1.2.3.8	Neuropharmacology of the descending	
	systems	33
1.2.3.9	The role of the thalamus and cerebral	
	cortex in nociception	38
1.3	Tests used in nociception for the evaluation	
	of analgesics and study of nociceptive	
	mechanisms	42
1.3.1	Chemically induced writhing	43
1.3.2	Yeast or carageenin induced	
	hyperalgesia	43
1.3.3	Adjuvant induced arthritis	44
1.3.4	The tail-flick test	45
1.3.5	The hot-plate test	45
1.3.6	The formalin test	46
1.4	Modes of action of narcotic	
	analgesics and antiinflammatory drugs	51
1.4.1	Narcotic analgesics	51

1.4.2	Steroidal antiinflammatory drugs	56
1.4.3	Non-steroidal antiinflammatory drugs	58
1.5	The effect of opiates on behaviour	62
1.6	OBJECTIVES	66

## **CHAPTER 2**

2.0	MATERIALS AND METHODS	67
2.1	Experimental animals	67
2.2	Experimental procedure	68
2.2.1	Drugs and dosages	68
2.2.2	Experimental design	69
2.2.3	Drug administration	69
2.2.4	Formalin test	70
2.2.5	Agonistic behaviour	71
2.2.6	Statistical analysis	71

## **CHAPTER 3**

3.0	RESULTS	72
3.1	The formalin test	72
3.1.1	Pethidine hydrochloride	72
3.1.2	Codeine phosphate	79
3.1.3	Acetylsalicylic acid (ASA)	83
3.1.4	Naproxen	87
3.1.5	Hydrocortisone sodium succinate	91
3.1.6	Dexamethasone phosphate	95
3.2	Agonistic and hyperactive behaviour	104
3.2.1	Agonistic and hyperactive behaviour	
	induced by pethidine hydrochloride	104
3.2.2	Agonistic and hyperactive behaviour	

	induced by codeine phosphate	109
CHAPTER 4	ł	
4.0	DISCUSSION	115
4.1	The formalin test	115
4.2	Effects of narcotic analgesics and	
	antiinflammatory drugs in the	
	formalin test	119
4.3	Agonistic and hyperactive behaviour	121
4.4	Conclusions	124
REFERENCES		126
APPENDIX		159

#### **LIST OF FIGURES**

## Figure 1. Catabolic pathways of arachidonic acid 57 2. Time-course of paw-licking after a subcutaneous injection of 20 µl of 10% formalin into the dorsal right hind paw 73 3. Time-course of paw-licking after a subcutaneous injection of 20 µl of 10% formalin or vehicle into the dorsal right hind paw 74 Antinociceptive effect of intraperitoneally 4. administered pethidine (10, 20, 30 mg/kg) or vehicle on licking activity, after a subcutaneous injection of formalin in the hind paw, in the early and late phase of the formalin test 77 5. Effect of intraperitoneally administered pethidine (10, 20, 30 mg/kg) or vehicle on time spent licking the injected hind paw in the early and late phase of the formalin test 78 6. Effect of intraperitoneally administered codeine (10, 25, 50 mg/kg) or vehicle on licking activity in the early and late phase of the formalin test 81 7. Effect of intraperitoneally administered codeine (10, 25, 50 mg/kg) or vehicle on time spent licking the injected hind paw in the early and late phase of the

	formalin test	82
8.	Effect of intraperitoneally administered ASA	
	(200, 400, 600 mg/kg) or vehicle on licking	
	activity in the early and late phase of the	
	formalin test	85
9.	Effect of intraperitoneally administered ASA	
	(200, 400, 600 mg/kg) or vehicle on time	
	spent licking the injected hind paw in the early	
	and late phase of the formalin test	86
10.	Effect of intraperitoneally administered naproxen	
	(50, 100, 200 mg/kg) or vehicle on licking	
	activity in the early and late phase of the	
	formalin test	89
11.	Effect of intraperitoneally administered naproxen	
	(50, 100, 200 mg/kg) or vehicle on time spent	
	licking the injected hind paw in the early and	
	late phase of the formalin test	90
12.	Effect of intraperitoneally administered	
	hydrocortisone (40, 75, 150 mg/kg) or vehicle	
	on licking activity in the early and	
	late phase of the formalin test	93
13.	Effect of intraperitoneally administered	
10	hydrocortisone (40, 75, 150 mg/kg) or vehicle	
	on time spent licking the injected hind paw	
1.	in the early and late phase of the formalin test	94
14.	Effect of intraperitoneally administered	
10	dexamethasone (10, 20, 30 mg/kg) or vehicle	
	on licking activity in the early and late	
	phase of the formalin test	97

15.	Effect of intraperitoneally administered	
	dexamethasone (10, 20, 30 mg/kg) or vehicle	
	on time spent licking the injected hind paw	
	in the early and late phase of the formalin test	98
16.	Effect of intraperitoneally administered	
	dexamethasone (20, 30 mg/kg) on licking	
	activity in the formalin test	100
17.	Time-course of paw-licking after a subcutaneous	
	injection of 20 $\mu l$ of 10% formalin into the	
	dorsal right hind paw	101
18.	Effect of intraperitoneally administered	
	dexamethasone (20, 30 mg/kg) or vehicle on	
	licking activity in the early and late phase	
	of the formalin test	102
19.	Effect of intraperitoneally administered	
	dexamethasone (20, 30 mg/kg) or vehicle on	
	time spent licking the injected hind paw in	
	the early and late phase of the formalin test	103
20.	Number of skin lesions counted from colony	
	caged naked mole-rats 18 h after injection of	
	pethidine alone (20 or 30 mg/kg) or	
	pethidine + naloxone	108
21.	Number of skin lesions counted from colony	
	caged naked mole-rats 18 h after injection of	
	codeine alone (25 or 50 mg/kg) or	
	codeine + naloxone	113

x

## LIST OF TABLES

## Table

1.	Number of licks and time spent licking the	
	injected hind paw (mean $\pm$ s.e.m.) after	
	administration of vehicle or pethidine	
	(10, 20, 30 mg/kg) in the early and late	
	phase of the formalin test	75
2.	Number of licks and time spent licking the	
	injected hind paw (mean $\pm$ s.e.m.) after	
	administration of vehicle or codeine	
	(10, 25, 50 mg/kg) in the early and late	
	phase of the formalin test	80
3.	Number of licks and time spent licking the	
	injected hind paw (mean $\pm$ s.e.m.) after	
	administration of vehicle or ASA	
	(200, 400, 600 mg/kg) in the early and	
	late phase of the formalin test	84
4.	Number of licks and time spent licking the	
	injected hind paw (mean $\pm$ s.e.m.) in	
	vehicle- or naproxen-treated animals	
	in the early and late phase of the	
	formalin test	88
5.	Number of licks and time spent licking the	
	injected hind paw (mean ± s.e.m.) after injection of	
	hydrocortisone (40, 75, 150 mg/kg) or vehicle	
	in the early and late phase of the formalin test	92

6.	Number of licks and time spent licking the	
	injected hind paw (mean $\pm$ s.e.m.) after	
	administration of dexamethasone	
	(10, 20, 30 mg/kg) or vehicle in the early	
	and late phase of the formalin test	96
7.	Number of licks and time spent licking the	
	injected hind paw (mean ± s.e.m.) after	
	administration of dexamethasone	
	(20, 30 mg/kg) in the early and late	
	phase of the formalin test	99
8.	Effect of intraperitoneal pethidine	
	alone or pethidine + naloxone on behaviour	
	and mortality in the naked mole-rat	105
9.	Number of skin lesions counted from	
	colony caged naked mole-rats, 18 h	
	after injection of pethidine alone or	
	pethidine + naloxone	107
10.	Effect of intraperitoneal codeine	
	alone or codeine + naloxone on behaviour	
	and mortality in the naked mole-rat	110
11.	Number of skin lesions counted from colony	
	caged naked mole-rats 18 h after	
	injection of codeine alone or	
	codeine + naloxone	112

xii

#### LIST OF APPENDICES

## Appendix

Shows time (sec) spent licking the	
injected hind paw, in blocks of 5 min	
after subcutaneous injection of 10%	
formalin or vehicle in the naked	
mole-rat during a 1 h observation period	159
Time (sec) spent licking the injected hind paw.	
in blocks of 5 min after subcutaneous injection	
of 10% formalin or vehicle in the hind	
paw of the naked mole-rat during a 2 h	
observation period	160
Shows number of licks recorded in blocks of 5 min	
after i.p. injection of vehicle or pethidine	
(10, 20 and 30 mg/kg) in the naked	
mole-rat during a 1 h observation period	161
Shows time (sec) spent licking the injected hind	
paw, in blocks of 5 min after i.p. injection	
of vehicle or pethidine (10, 20 and 30 mg/kg)	
in the naked mole-rat during a 1 h	
observation period	162
Number of licks recorded in blocks of 5 min	
after i.p. injection of vehicle or codeine	
(10, 25 and 50 mg/kg) in the naked	
mole-rat during a 1 h observation period	163
	Shows time (sec) spent licking the injected hind paw, in blocks of 5 min after subcutaneous injection of 10% formalin or vehicle in the naked mole-rat during a 1 h observation period Time (sec) spent licking the injected hind paw, in blocks of 5 min after subcutaneous injection of 10% formalin or vehicle in the hind paw of the naked mole-rat during a 2 h observation period Shows number of licks recorded in blocks of 5 min after i.p. injection of vehicle or pethidine (10, 20 and 30 mg/kg) in the naked mole-rat during a 1 h observation period Shows time (sec) spent licking the injected hind paw, in blocks of 5 min after i.p. injection of vehicle or pethidine (10, 20 and 30 mg/kg) in the naked mole-rat during a 1 h observation period Number of licks recorded in blocks of 5 min after i.p. injection of vehicle or codeine (10, 25 and 50 mg/kg) in the naked mole-rat during a 1 h observation period

6.	Time (sec) spent licking the injected hind paw,	
	in blocks of 5 min after i.p. injection of	
	vehicle or codeine (10, 25 and 50 mg/kg) in	
	the naked mole-rat during a 1 h	
	observation period	164
7.	Number of licks recorded in blocks of 5 min	
	after i.p. injection of vehicle or ASA (200, 400	
	and 600 mg/kg) in the naked mole-rat during	
	a 1 h observation period	165
8.	Time (sec) spent licking the injected hind paw,	
	in blocks of 5 min after i.p. injection of	
	vehicle or ASA (200, 400 and 600 mg/kg) in	
	the naked mole-rat during a 1 h	
	observation period	166
9.	Number of licks recorded in blocks of 5 min	
	after i.p. injection of vehicle or naproxen	
	(50, 100 and 200 mg/kg) in the naked	
	mole-rat during a 1 h observation period	167
10.	Time (sec) spent licking the injected hind paw,	
	in blocks of 5 min after i.p. injection of	
	vehicle or naproxen (50, 100 and 200 mg/kg)	<u>.</u>
	in the naked mole-rat during a 1 h	
	observation period	168
11.	Number of licks recorded in blocks of 5 min	
	after i.p. injection of vehicle or hydrocortisone	
	(40, 75 and 150 mg/kg) in the naked	
	mole-rat during a 1 h observation period	169
12.	Time (sec) spent licking the injected hind paw,	
	in blocks of 5 min after i.p. injection of vehicle	

	or hydrocortisone (40, 75 and 150 mg/kg)	
	in the naked mole-rat during a 1 h	
	observation period	170
13.	Number of licks recorded in blocks of 5 min	
	after i.p. injection of vehicle or dexamethasone	
	(10, 20 and 30 mg/kg) in the naked	
	mole-rat during a 1 h observation period	171
14.	Time (sec) spent licking the injected hind paw,	
	in blocks of 5 min after i.p. injection of	
	vehicle or dexamethasone	
	(10, 20 and 30 mg/kg) in the naked	
	mole-rat during a 1 h observation period	172
15.	Number of licks recorded in blocks of 5 min	
	after i.p. injection of vehicle or dexamethasone	
	(20 and 30 mg/kg) in the naked mole-rat	
	during a 2 h observation period	173
16.	Time (sec) spent licking the injected hind paw,	
	in blocks of 5 min after i.p. injection of vehicle	
	or dexamethasone (20 and 30 mg/kg) in the naked	
	mole-rat during a 2 h observation period	174
		8

#### **ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS**

First and foremost, I am very grateful to my supervisor, Dr. T. I. Kanui for his guidance and constructive criticism that helped make this thesis a reality.

My sincere gratitude also goes to Dr. S. W. Mbugua whose invaluable advice and suggestions contributed to the production of this thesis.

I am indeed indebted to P. Osamo and W. Muiruri for feeding and taking good care of the animals throughout the study period.

My thanks also go to Dr. B. Omija for his help in editing my thesis. My very special gratitude goes to Dr. J. M. Mwanzia whose encouragement kept me going. My thanks also go to all my colleagues and the staff of the Department of Animal Physiology for their kindness and friendship throughout my stay in the Department.

I am very thankful to NORAD for the scholarship which enabled me undertake this project. I also would not forget the Norwegian Veterinary Association for raising funds to enable me complete the research project successfully.

Last but not the least, my appreciation goes to Professors Lokken, Olsvik and Nafstad for considering our case in Norway for further funding when the scholarships were temporarily terminated.

xvi

#### ABSTRACT

The aim of the present study was to investigate the effect of commonly used analgesic and antiinflammatory drugs in the naked mole-rat. Two centrally acting narcotic analgesics (pethidine hydrochloride and codeine phosphate), two non-steroidal antiinflammatory drugs (acetylsalicylic acid and naproxen) and two steroidal antiinflammatory drugs (hydrocortisone sodium succinate and dexamethasone phosphate) were used. The animals were kept under controlled laboratory conditions.

The formalin test was performed by injecting a dilute solution of formalin (20  $\mu$ l of 10% formalin) subcutaneously in the right hind paw of both control and test animals. Two parameters, the number of licks and the time spent licking the paw (sec) were monitored in blocks of 5 min for either 1 h or 2 h. The vehicle or drug were injected 30 min prior to the formalin test.

The injection of dilute formalin produced two periods of pain behaviour characterized by licking and biting of the injected paw, the early (0-5 min) and the late (25-60 min) phase. Pethidine (20 or 30 mg/kg) and codeine (10, 25 or 50 mg/kg) significantly reduced licking activity in a dose-dependent manner, in both the early and late phase. In addition, pethidine and codeine administration also induced agonistic, hypersensitive, hyperactive behaviour and motor impairment that was naloxone (2 mg/kg) reversible. Acetylsalicylic acid (400 or 600 mg/kg), naproxen (200 mg/kg), hydrocortisone (75 or 150 mg/kg) and dexamethasone (30 mg/kg) significantly reduced licking and pain related activity in a dose-dependent manner but in the late phase only.

It is concluded that the naked mole-rat has anti-nociceptive

xvii

systems that can be activated by administration of the narcotic and non-narcotic drugs used. It appears that the opioid system, in the naked mole-rat is more involved in the regulation of agonistic and motor behaviour, than anti-nociception.

#### **CHAPTER 1**

#### **1.0 LITERATURE REVIEW**

#### **1.1 Introduction**

Animal experimental models are commonly used in pain research to obtain an understanding of pain mechanisms and for the screening of analgesic drugs (Zimmerman, 1983) that can be used in Veterinary and Human Medicine. The mouse, rabbit and rat have been used extensively in research for the evaluation of drug potency, their pharmacokinetic and pharmacodynamic properties and for screening of any side effects. During these experiments a novel laboratory rodent, the naked mole-rat, was used.

The naked mole-rat is a hairless rodent which lives in subterrancan colonies, each having an average of 70-80 animals (sometimes the number can go up to 300). They are found in the arid regions of Kenya, Somalia and Ethiopia (Jarvis and Sale, 1971; Jarvis, 1978). They feed on roots and tubers that they obtain from the burrows (Jarvis and Sale, 1971; Jarvis, 1978).

The skin of the naked mole-rat is well vascularized but lacks sweat glands (Thigpen, 1940). These animals have high rates of thermal conductance (McNab, 1966). They have low basal metabolic rate, less than 40% of the expected value (McNab, 1966; 1968; Jarvis, 1978) and a body temperature of about  $32^{0}$ C.

These naked mole-rats are highly social rodents with only one

breeding female, the queen (Jarvis, 1978). The queen breeds only once per year, except when the newborn litter dies, where she may then breed again (Jarvis, 1978; Faulkes *et al.*, 1987). The nonbreeding females have reproductive suppression which seems to be due to a failure in ovulation (Faulkes *et al.*, 1987). Non-breeders have been found to have low urinary progesterone levels as compared to the queen (< 0.50 ng/mg creatinine cf. 0.73-148.40 ng/mg creatinine in the queen) (Faulkes *et al.*, 1987). Non-breeding females when removed from the suppressing influences of their colonies and housed with a male, become reproductively active (Jarvis, 1978). The non-workers stay deep in burrows with the queen. The worker molerats are responsible for digging burrows, locating food and transporting it to the nest areas (Jarvis, 1978).

The burrow systems of naked mole-rats consist of extensive foraging burrows running at root or tuber level and a deeper nest area. The burrows are extended in a random direction in order to increase the chances of getting food. Once the food is located, it is carried to the nest area and eaten there if it is small enough, whereas the larger tubers are gradually hollowed out (Jarvis and Sale, 1971; Jarvis, 1978). The humidity of the burrows is above 90% while the temperature is between  $30-32^{0}$  C (McNab, 1966; 1968).

Naked mole-rats cause damage to roots and tubers, tea and coffee bushes, and impair soil, giving it a honeycomb appearance, with tunnels and mounds (Jarvis, 1969).

There is little information on the physiology of these rodents

(Brett, 1986), and only two studies on it's pharmacology have been performed (Kanui and Hole, 1990; Kanui and Hole, unpublished). The ability to detect aversive stimuli are basic features of animals, and mechanism of pain perception and pain regulation are basic functions of the nervous system (Kavaliers, 1988). It was of interest to obtain more information on the physiology of the naked mole-rat.

To study nociception, a modified formalin test was used (Kanui and Hole, unpublished), and to study analgesic mechanisms, 2 opioids (pethidine and codeine), 2 steroidal antiinflammatory drugs (dexamethasone and hydrocortisone) and 2 non-steroidal antiinflammatory drugs (acetylsalicylic acid and naproxen) were used. These drugs were chosen because their effects have been well demonstrated in the formalin test in other rodents and would therefore provide good comparative data.

The formalin test was used because it is a more superior test of nociception in several aspects: there is no restraint during the observation period and so the animals are not stressed, since stress can alter pain sensitivity. The pain stimulus bears a resemblance to most clinical pain and the two phases observed in the test may represent different types of pain, acute and chronic pain respectively (Dubuisson and Dennis, 1977; Alreja *et al.*, 1984; Hunskaar *et al.*, 1985a;1986; Hunskaar and Hole, 1987).

#### L2 Pain

#### **1.2.1 Definitions** (IASP, 1979)

**Pain** can be defined as an unpleasant sensory and emotional experience associated with actual or potential tissue damage, or described in terms of such damage.

Analgesia refers to the absence of pain on noxious stimulation.

Hyperalgesia refers to increased sensitivity to noxious stimulation.

Hypoalgesia refers to diminished sensitivity to noxious stimulation.

A **nociceptor** is a receptor preferentially sensitive to a noxious or potentially noxious stimulus.

A **noxious** stimulus is a tissue damaging stimulus.

**Pain threshold** is the least stimulus intensity at which a subject perceives pain.

Lewis (1942) described two types of pain; superficial and deep. Superficial pain results from intense stimulation of the skin and can be well localized. Deep pain arises from skeletal muscles, tendons, periosteum, and joints and is poorly localized. Visceral pain shares many of the attributes of deep pain. Many authors further subdivide superficial pain into bright pricking pain and burning pain (Lewis, 1942). It has been proposed that first and second pain are produced by activation of A- $\delta$  and C fibers (Lewis, 1942; Price *et al.*, 1977).

Nociceptors, whether in the skin, muscle, or viscera, all seem to terminate as free nerve endings. There is no obvious structural distinction between the endings of various kinds of nociceptors. All of the nociceptors are supplied by small-sized afferent fibers, including both A- $\delta$  and C fibers (Zotterman, 1939).

#### 1.2.2 Peripheral mechanisms of nociception

#### 1.2.2.1 Cutaneous nociceptors

The bodies of primates and subprimates are endowed with receptors in the skin (Zotterman, 1939; Iggo, 1959; Burgess and Perl, 1967; Perl, 1968; Bessou and Perl, 1969; Adriaensen *et al.*, 1983) capable of detecting damaging or potentially damaging stimuli. The conduction velocities of these cutaneous nociceptive afferents are consistent with their being unmyelinated or fine myelinated fibers. Zotterman (1939) showed that burning and needle pricks elicited discharges in C and A- $\delta$  fibers. Conduction velocities of a range of 6 to 37 m/s and 5 to 28 m/s respectively have been reported (Iggo, 1959; Burgess and Perl, 1967).

The receptive fields of the cutaneous nociceptors have also been analysed in the above studies. The receptive fields are generally small and consist of responsive spots of under 1 mm in diameter (Burgess and Perl, 1967; Perl, 1968; Iggo, 1969)

Fibers activated by noxious mechanical stimuli can be divided into

specific mechanonociceptors and polymodal nociceptors. Specific mechanonociceptors are high threshold mechanoreceptors activated by mechanical stimulation and respond only to moderately intense or noxious mechanical stimuli (Burgess and Perl, 1967). They make up about 20% of the cutaneous A- $\delta$  fibers in the cat (Burgess and Perl, 1967) and are slowly adapting (Campbell *et al.*, 1979). The conduction velocity in the monkey is in the range of 5.2-53 m/s (Perl, 1968).

Polymodal C nociceptors respond to intense thermal, mechanical and chemical stimuli (Besson and Chaouch, 1987). Their conduction velocity is in the range of 0.5-1.4 m/s. These receptors increase their discharge with the intensity of stimulation and following a large initial discharge, the response adapts and settles to a lesser level that can outlast the stimulation (Adrian and Zotterman, 1926). They undergo fatigue following repetitive stimulation of the receptive field (Torebjork and Hallin, 1974; Kumazawa and Perl, 1977). Some A- $\delta$ polymodal nociceptors activated by thermal and mechanical stimulation have also been described in the cat (Beck *et al.*, 1974) and primates (Iggo and Ogawa, 1971). Their response to mechanical nociceptive stimulation is similar to that of the polymodal C nociceptors (Georgopoulos, 1976).

Some C fibers are activated by noxious thermal stimuli and also mechanical stimuli (Sumino and Dubner, 1981). Their threshold to heat stimulation is generally around 42<sup>o</sup>C although some only respond to higher temperatures (Bessou and Perl, 1969). Their response to a suprathreshold stimulus occurs after a relatively short latency (Beitel

and Dubner, 1976; Georgopoulos, 1976). After the onset of the stimulus, a high level of activity is reached rapidly which then decreases but is maintained throughout the duration of the stimulation and can continue after cessation of the stimulus (Beitel and Dubner, 1976; Croze *et al.*, 1976). Some nociceptors continue to increase in activity above  $53^{\circ}$ C yet others seem to reach a level of saturation at temperatures of above  $50^{\circ}$ C (Beitel and Dubner, 1976; Georgopoulos, 1976). Increasing the skin temperature brings about a reduction in the latency and an increase in the response which is linear (Beck *et al.*, 1974) or exponential (Beitel and Dubner, 1976; Georgopoulos, 1976). Adriaensen *et al.*, (1983) reported that the discharge frequency to radiant heat, in humans, was higher in some A- $\delta$  polymodal fibers than in C fibers.

Receptors activated by both warming and cooling have been reported in the scrotal skin of the rat (Pierau *et al.*, 1974). A group of thermoreceptors that are excited at both non-noxious and noxious warm temperatures (above  $43^{\circ}$ C) have been described by Sumino and Dubner, (1981) in the monkey.

There is little information on the responses of afferent fibers to noxious cold stimulation. These have response frequencies that increase with the degree of cooling (Georgopoulos, 1977). Dodt and Zotterman (1952b) described cold receptors on the tongue of the cat that responded to temperatures of above 45°C. This paradoxical response has been confirmed (Dubner *et al.*, 1975; Long, 1977). Their responses commence after a latency, and then increase with the intensity of stimulation.

The conduction velocities of subprimate thermosensitive afferents are generally slow (Iggo, 1959) whereas those of the primates are faster (Iggo, 1969; Sumino and Dubner, 1981). The receptive fields consist of tiny spots of < 1 mm in diameter in both groups (Iggo, 1969; Duclaux and Kenshalo, 1980; Sumino and Dubner, 1981).

Polymodal nociceptors are sensitized by a previous nociceptive thermal stimulus. This is characterized by a reduction in threshold, an increase in response to a given set thermal stimulus, a reduction in the response latency and the appearance of spontaneous activity (Bessou and Perl, 1969; Beck *et al.*, 1974; Beitel and Dubner, 1976; Georgopoulos, 1976; Kumazawa and Perl, 1977; Lynn and Carpenter, 1982). This sensitization phenomenon is undoubtedly important in terms of the hyperalgesia of the skin in areas of damage due to repeated noxious stimulation (Hardy *et al.*, 1951).

The responses of the polymodal nociceptors to the cutaneous application of algogenic chemicals have been studied in animals (Bessou and Perl, 1969; Forster and Ramage, 1981; Lynn and Carpenter, 1982) and in humans (Van Hees and Gybels, 1972; Torebjork and Hallin, 1974). The response of A- $\delta$  polymodal nociceptors have also been described in humans (Adriaensen *et al.*, 1983). A good correlation exists between the activity produced by these stimuli and the pain sensation (pricking or burning) as reported by the human subjects tested (Adriaensen *et al.*, 1983).

In some situations, pain does not appear to result from the firing of

specific nociceptors, but is triggered instead, by activity of large diameter fibers that respond to gentle tactile stimulation. A good example here has been observed in painful neuropathies (Campbell *et al.*, 1988).

There is also a class of unmyelinated primary sensory neurones which do not respond to transient excessive mechanical or thermal stimuli, but have a chemical sensitivity that makes them responsive if tissues become inflammed. These have been referred to as silent afferents and have been identified in the monkey skin (Cohen *et al.*, 1990). These afferents significantly displayed receptive fields in the presence of experimental arthritis (Schaible and Schmidt, 1988), that could not be detected in the healthy joint.

#### 1.2.2.2 Muscular and articular nociceptors

Muscle afferents of type III (fine myelinated fibers) and type IV (unmyelinated fibers) are activated by strong mechanical stimulation, intramuscular injection of hypertonic solutions and by thermal stimulation (Paintal, 1960; Bessou and Laporte, 1961; Iggo, 1961). Both the myelinated and unmyelinated fibers have similar characteristics. On the basis of their response thresholds to mechanical stimulation, two groups of afferent fibers can be distinguished. One group is only activated by intense stimuli (64% of group IV fibers and 56% of group III fibers), the other group is responsive to light mechanical stimuli such as innocuous indentations

of the tissue or active contractions of moderate force and innocuous stretch (Mense and Meyer, 1975).

Group III and group IV fibers also respond to algogenic substances such as bradykinin (Mense, 1977). However, some of these fibers are exclusively activated by chemical stimulation although a large number of group III and IV afferents resemble polymodal nociceptors (Kumazawa and Mizumura, 1977).

A- $\delta$  afferent fibers of the cat posterior articular nerve responding to noxious articular stimulation have been reported (Burgess and Clark, 1969). A detailed analysis of the joint afferents has indicated that some of the group III and IV sensory units in joint nerves may be involved in signalling innocuous joint movements and position, whereas other fine fibers are probably specific nociceptors since they are only activated by extreme rotation which could be considered as noxious (Schaible and Schmidt, 1983a,b). These fine afferent articular units are also activated by bradykinin and acute joint inflammation (Coggeshall *et al.*, 1983).

#### 1.2.2.3 Visceral nociceptors

It is generally held that under normal conditions, the activation of visceral receptors does not give rise to any painful sensation (Cervero, 1988). However, a painful sensation on occasion referred to a cutaneous zone can appear after various visceral disorders (ischaemia, irritation of mucosa or serosa, torsion or traction of the mesenteries,

contraction or excessive distension of the viscera) (Cervero, 1988). It is not yet clear whether visceral pain results from the activation of specific nociceptors or from the excessive activity of receptors involved in reflex regulations of visceral functions in normal conditions (Cervero, 1988).

Some fine diameter afferent fibers in the heart are activated by myocardial ischaemia (Brown, 1967; Uchida and Murao, 1974) and by application of KCl or lactic acid to the myocardium (Uchida and Murao, 1975). A large number of A- $\delta$  and C fibers emanating from the heart, lungs and large vessels are excited by the local application of bradykinin and also by light mechanical stimulation. Only a small number of cardiac afferents activated by bradykinin are also excited by strong pressure and pinch and so could be considered as nociceptors (Barker *et al.*, 1980).

In the respiratory system, receptors localized in the superficial tracheobronchial tree which are activated by irritants and the receptors situated in the intra-alveolar space and excited by pulmonary congestion could be considered as nociceptors (Paintal, 1973).

Some receptors capable of inducing vegetative reactions have been characterized in the bile duct (Cervero, 1982). Similarly, the rectal mucosa possesses receptors that respond to strong mechanical stimulation and on occasion also to thermal and or chemical stimuli applied to their discrete receptive fields. They resemble cutaneous C polymodal nociceptors and are similar to those of the spermatic

nerve of the dog testicle (Kumazawa and Mizumura, 1980). These A- $\delta$  and C fibers in the superior spermatic nerve are activated as well by intense mechanical stimuli. They are also highly excited by noxious heat and algogenic compounds (Kumazawa and Mizumura, 1980). The pain that results from excessive distension or contraction of hollow viscera may be due to activity of the "in series" tension receptors (Leek, 1972).

#### 1.2.2.4 Mechanisms of nociceptor activation

#### **1.2.2.4.1** Direct or indirect action of nociceptive stimulation

The short latency and relatively low threshold to mechanical and thermal stimuli of some cutaneous nociceptors argues for a direct activation of nociceptors by the stimulus (Besson and Chaouch, 1987). Using a very brief thermal stimuli produced by a laser beam, it was demonstrated that the latency of C polymodal nociceptors in humans was longer by only 21 ms than that evoked by transcutaneous electrical stimulation, which probably bypasses the terminal transducing processes. This very minor difference in latency (taking into account the time taken for heat to be transferred from the skin surface towards the terminals) does not seem to favour a role for a chemical mediator in the action of natural stimuli (Paintal, 1976). However, a variety of studies have shown excitatory action of some chemical substances on polymodal nociceptors, suggesting an intermediate action in certain conditions (Handwerker, 1976; King *et al.*, 1976).

The effect of heat on some cutaneous nociceptors can under certain conditions be potentiated by bradykinin or prostaglandins (Handwerker, 1976). Furthermore, analgesic effects of ASA, which is mediated through inhibition of prostaglandin synthesis (Vane, 1971) may further support an indirect action through chemical mediators.

#### 1.2.2.4.2 Involvement of nociceptors in neurogenic inflammation

When nociceptive stimulation is applied to cutaneous areas, a characteristic set of responses (neurogenic inflammation) consisting initially of a local reddening at the site of injury and that spreads outwards from the initial stimulus site is produced (Lewis, 1942). Antidromic stimulation sufficient to activate nociceptive afferents produces a reduction in the threshold of nociceptors (Fitzgerald, 1979) and a peripheral vasodilatation (Garcia and Hamamura, 1974) resulting from the release of various substances.

Pain associated with inflammation is derived from the stimulation of chemoreceptors by inflammatory mediators (Ferreira, 1982). These chemoreceptors are unmyelinated free nerve endings localized in the connective tissue spaces close to the capillaries and venules. During inflammation, sensory nerves may be injured, but hyperalgesia derives possibly from the concomitant action of inflammatory mediators, sometimes enhanced by the presence of physical stimulation like pressure (Ferreira, 1982).

Prostaglandins (PG) are probably the most important inflammatory

mediators (Ferreira, 1982). Ferreira, (1982) showed that a slow rate of prostaglandin release during a long period of time, as in inflammation, is capable of causing hyperalgesia. PGE<sub>1</sub> potentiated pain caused by bradykinin or histamine (Ferreira *et al.*, 1973). Infusion of PGE<sub>1</sub> together with histamine, produced itching (Ferreira *et al.*, 1973). The effects of PGE<sub>1</sub> and PGE<sub>2</sub> are cummulative and sustained. Thus, continuous generation of minute amounts of PGs at site of injury will sensitize the nerves so that mechanical stimulation or mediators such as bradykinin and histamine can cause pruritus or pain (Ferreira, 1982).

Central release of PGs is also thought to increase peripheral hyperalgesia. This has been seen in the cerebral cortex and in frog spinal cord (Ramwell and Shaw, 1966; Ramwell *et al.*, 1966). Using a modification of the Randall-Selitto test which measures the sensitivity to pressure in a carageenin injected paw. Ferreira *et al.* (1978) demonstrated both central and peripheral components of inflammatory hyperalgesia in rats. The hyperalgesia was counteracted by several prostaglandin synthesis inhibitors including aspirin, indomethacin and paracetamol, regardless of route of administration. Hyperalgesia to thermal stimulation in rats tested with the hot-plate has been reported after administration of PGF<sub>2</sub> $\alpha$  in rats (Ferreira, 1983). Hyperalgesia has also been reported after intrathecal administration of PGF<sub>2</sub> $\alpha$  in rats (Ferreira, 1983).

In another study, PGE, administered systemically produced analgesia in rats. This study implied that some of the PGs may inhibit the central transmission of nociceptive information (Sanyal *et al.*, 1979). PGs are widely distributed in the central nervous system and it is likely that they interact with various systems related to modulation of nociception and the different effects reported may reflect their different site of action (Berge, 1986).

PGs are thought to affect pain transmission by inhibiting the release of neurotransmitters from terminals of descending monoaminergic pathways. Inhibitory effects of PGs on the release of norepinephrine have been demonstrated in *in vitro* preparations of brain tissue (Chiu and Richardson, 1985).

Substance P (SP) also plays an important role in peripheral hyperalgesia. Peripheral terminals of fine-diameter afferents contain substance P (Hokfelt et al., 1975). During activation of fine nociceptive afferents, SP is released locally and at a distance via axonal reflexes (White and Helme, 1985). This peptide induces both vasodilatation and produces both direct and indirect effect on nociceptors. Substance P can cause release of histamine from adjacent mast cells which produces vasodilatation and activates or sensitizes the surrounding nerve endings (Foreman et al., 1983). The involvement of SP is mainly supported by the effect of it's antagonists which have been shown to reduce both neurogenic vasodilatation and plasma extravasation (Lembeck et al., 1982). This is in agreement with observations made after systemic or local administration of capsaicin, which produces a depletion of SP (Fitzgerald, 1983). Such studies have underlined the importance of chemical factors in the modulation of sensitivity of nociceptors at the peripheral terminal level.

Morphine and enkephalin have analgesic effect when tested directly on hyperalgesic paws (Ferreira, 1983) and in the writhing test in mice using acetic acid (Bentley *et al.*, 1981). These results support the idea of the presence of peripheral opiate receptors. Intradermal injection of low doses of morphine is able to reduce nociceptive responses evoked from the injected area (Ferreira, 1983). These results suggest the presence of peripheral opiate receptors. A possible involvement of adrenergic receptors at the peripheral terminals has been indicated (Coderre *et al.*, 1984). Therefore the activation of nociceptors could involve both direct or indirect mechanisms.

#### 1.2.3 Central mechanisms of nociception

# 1.2.3.1 Neuroanatomy and physiology of the dorsal horn of the spinal cord

The spinal cord of the cat has been subdivided into 10 laminae (Rexed, 1952, 1954). These subdivisions reflected neuronal groupings as seen in cytoarchitectonic studies (using Nissl's stains) based on shapes, sizes, density and distribution of neuronal cell bodies. Similar lamination has been noted in the rat (Steiner and Turner, 1972), and in the monkey (Scheibel and Scheibel, 1968; Light and Perl, 1979a,b; Ralston and Ralston, 1979). Laminae I-VI make up the dorsal horn.

Lamina I consists of small, medium and large-sized cells that are scattered and their cell bodies have a primarily horizontal arrangement (Rexed, 1952, 1954; Scheibel and Scheibel, 1968; Light and Perl, 1979a). Waldeyer (1888) referred to the large lamina 1 neurones as marginal cells since they occupy the dorsal margin of lamina I (LI). This layer of the spinal cord is usually referred to as the marginal zone of Waldeyer.

The marginal cell bodies are flattened between the overlying white matter and the underlying LII (Waldeyer, 1888; Rexed, 1952, 1954; Scheibel and Scheibel, 1968). Gobel (1978) classified LI cells into 2 groups, the pyramidal and multipolar cells that can be further subdivided into 2 each. The dendrites of the marginal cells travel between the plane of the white matter and the outer cells of LII (Cajal, 1909; Scheibel and Scheibel, 1968; Kumazawa and Perl, 1978; Light *et al.*, 1979). These dendrites are usually confined in LI (Gobel, 1978; Light *et al.*, 1979) but occasionally, dip down into LII. Marginal cells of LI have axons that project for long distances but also have local connexions with other LI neurones via short axons or collaterals via Lissauer's tract (Szentagothai, 1964; Scheibel and Scheibel, 1968). The axonal projections of the cells seem to be primarily to the thalamus or propriospinal (Szentagothai, 1964).

Christensen and Perl (1970) reported that the marginal cells in LI respond to peripheral stimulation in one of 3 ways: the first group of cells responded only to mechanical nociceptive stimulation by slowly <sup>conducting</sup> (small) myelinated axons. The second group was responsive to both mechanical and thermal nociceptive fibers, the former transmitted by small myelinated fibers, the latter by unmyelinated axons. Finally, the third group of cells responded to innocuous temperature changes as well as mechanical and thermal nociceptive stimuli. Later studies also have confirmed the presence of nociceptive neurones in LI (Menetrey *et al.*, 1977; Kumazawa and Perl., 1978; Cervero *et al.*, 1979a). This lamina has also been demonstrated to contain neurones that are excited by both innocuous and noxious mechanical stimulation in the monkey (Handwerker *et al.*, 1975), in the cat (Cervero *et al.*, 1979a) and in the rat (Menetrey *et al.*, 1977).

Lamina II (Rexed, 1952, 1954) is otherwise known as the substantia gelatinosa. This layer consists of small and closely packed cells with radial orientation with respect to the surface of the cord (Rexed, 1952, 1954; Szentagothai, 1964). 2 cell types were described by Cajal (1909), the central cells and the border cells, also called the islet and stalked cells respectively (Gobel, 1975, 1978). On the basis of cellular density, the substantia gelatinosa has been subdivided into LII outer and LII inner (Gobel, 1978; Light and Perl, 1979b; Ralston and Ralston, 1979).The dendrites of LII cells remain largely within LII and are extensively branched (Szentagothai, 1964; Scheibel and Scheibel, 1968).

The central cells of the substantia gelatinosa can be divided into 2 groups on the basis of their axonal projections; funicular cells and short-axoned cells (Cajal, 1909; Szentagothai, 1964; Scheibel and Scheibel, 1968). The axons of both these cells are thought to end
within the substantia gelatinosa (Szentagothai, 1964; Sugiura, 1975) and on this basis, the substantia gelatinosa is regarded as a closed system. Central cells appear to have axons that remain within LII (Gobel, 1975; 1978; Bennet *et al.*, 1980).

The border cells of LII are large and are situated in the dorsal part of the substantia gelatinosa. Their dendrites pass longitudinally over the dorsal horn as well as radially into the substance of the substantia gelatinosa (Cajal, 1909; Rexed, 1952, 1954; Sugiura, 1975). There is evidence that border cells of LII send their axons into LI (Gobel, 1975; 1978; Bennet *et al.*, 1980).

Electrophysiological recording of dorsal horn LII neurones is difficult because of their small size (Besson and Chaouch, 1987; Brown, 1982). Part of the difficulty is due to the relatively small samples of recordings from neurones that have been definitely established as LII neurones and to the use of different preparations (anaesthetized, spinal, decerebrate), and different types of microelectrodes. Different groups of workers classify the response of the units according to different criteria (e.g. based on inhibitory response or excitatory response) (Besson and Chaouch, 1987).

Neurones in the substantia gelatinosa that respond exclusively to noxious stimuli have been reported (Light *et al.*, 1979; Wall *et al.*, 1979; Bennet *et al.*, 1980). Neurones responding exclusively to innocuous mechanical stimulation of the skin have also been reported by the same groups. Furthermore, neurones that respond to both noxious and innocuous stimulus have also been reported (Price *et al.*,

1979; Wall et al., 1979; Bennet et al., 1980).

Melzack and Wall (1965) and (Wall, 1978) assigned a modulatory role to the neurones of the substantia gelatinosa in their gate control theory of pain. They proposed in their theory, that the substantia gelatinosa neurones modulate afferent signals before they influence the tract cells. These tract cells (T cells) which may be the origin of the spinothalamic tract (Nathan, 1976) were thought by Melzack and Wall (1965) and Wall (1978) to be the neural mechanism which comprises the action system for response and perception. The small myelinated and the unmyelinated fibers were assigned the important role for keeping the gate open whereas the large fibers tended to close the gate at some stage. The tonic activity in small fibers would keep the gate partly open while an input over large fibers would close the gate, limiting the discharge of the T cells. A prolonged stimulus would result in adaptation of the large afferents and the small fibers would get the upper hand, opening the gate further. The gate could be returned to a closed position by adding a large fiber input. Descending pathways could alter the gate control system. The activity in such pathways need to be appropriate to the situation and so a central control trigger was proposed. The dorsal column pathway and the spinocervicothalamic pathway were considered as likely candidates to provide the discriminative information needed for a central decision to alter the sensitivity of the gate mechanism.

The remaining laminae of the dorsal horn (LIII-LVI) can be considered together since their neurones have dendrites that cut across these laminae (Brown, 1982). Not much has been studied about these laminae. Lamina III contains a large number of small neurones about which little is known at present; some of them have similar properties to LII neurones according to Wall *et al.*, (1979). Neurones from LIII-VI do not have dendritic trees limited to their own lamina and are capable of sampling inputs from wide areas (Brown, 1982). With Laminae III-VI, most neurones even those whose main axons project out of the gray matter, have axonal projections that are directed to deeper laminae (Brown, 1982). Several major ascending systems arise from the cells whose somata lie within them (Brown, 1982).

### **1.2.3.2** Primary afferent input to the dorsal horn of the spinal cord

It is in the dorsal horn of the spinal cord where inputs from the skin and deep somatic and visceral structures are received. It is also here that descending influences from supraspinal structures can exert themselves on dorsal horn neurones and the primary afferents, and therefore, perhaps modify information from the periphery tremendously.

The branching patterns of axon collaterals arising from the axons after they enter the spinal cord is quite specific and varies according to the type of the afferent unit (Brown, 1982). Large myelinated axons innervating sensitive mechanoreceptors distribute their axons to some or all of LIII, IV, V and dorsal parts of LVI, with occasional branches in the inner LII (Light and Perl, 1979a; Brown *et al.*, 1981). The small myelinated and unmyelinated fibers form what is called Lissauer's tract (Earle, 1952; Pearson, 1952). The lateral part of this tract is propriospinal and some of it's fibers project from the substantia gelatinosa (Szentagothai, 1964; Light and Perl, 1979a). This lateral portion shows a preponderance of small diameter fibers. The A- $\delta$  group of axons, some of which innervate cutaneous and deep nocireceptors have been shown by intra-axonal horseradish peroxidase injection (Light and Perl, 1979b; Mense *et al.*, 1981) to provide boutons to LI, the marginal cell layer. In addition, they may send terminals to LV.

With the use of Golgi stain, Rethelyi, (1977) suggested that fine nonmyelinated (C fiber) axons were distributed to LII. Degeneration and autoradiographic studies (LaMotte, 1977; Ralston and Ralston, 1979) also showed C fiber terminations in LII. Light *et al.*, (1979), basing their studies on response properties and dendritic distribution of neurones within LI and LII, suggested that C fibers innervating sensitive high threshold mechanoreceptors project to inner LII whereas those innervating cutaneous nociceptors project to outer LII and LI. The large and small fibers mix to a certain degree and there is no absolute segregation (Light and Perl, 1979a).

Substance P, a putative transmitter in small axons, has been demonstrated to be mainly localized in LI and LII (Hokfelt *et al.*, 1975; Takahashi and Otsuka, 1975).

The pooling of data from experiments in which single cutaneous axons are injected with horseradish peroxidase show that the map of receptive fields recorded from dorsal horn neurones and the map of

the body surface laid down by the primary afferent fibers are similar (Brown *et al.*, 1980; Brown, 1982). This map of the receptive field of the body surface represented in the spinal cord is referred to as the somatotopic representation laid down by the primary afferent fibers. This map consists of concentric shells with the innermost representing the most distal and medial parts of the body, whereas the proximal parts are represented more laterally (Brown *et al.*, 1980; Brown, 1982). The map has a steep gradient mediolaterally and a gentle gradient rostrocaudally. These gradients reflect the fact that primary afferent fibers form long sagittally running columns of terminals within the dorsal horn (Brown, 1982).

#### **1.2.3.3** Viscero-somatic convergence in the spinal cord

It has been observed that pain from the viscera is sometimes referred to the skin and hence the term viscero-somatic convergence. Viscero-somatic convergence occurs in LV and LVIII of the spinal cord (Selzer and Spencer, 1969; Milne *et al.*, 1981).

In the study carried out by Milne *et al.*, (1981) in the monkey, it was demonstrated that viscero-somatic convergence of both visceral (testicular) and cutaneous nociceptors occured on spinothalamic neurones, thus some of the neurones showing convergence project to the thalamus.

The viscero-somatic convergence onto the same dorsal horn neurone has been used to explain referred pain and the inhibitory

interactions have been used to explain the alleviation of pain of visceral structures on stimulation of the skin or more superficial structures (Ruch, 1946).

### 1.2.3.4. Propriospinal inputs into the spinal cord

The marginal cells of LI seem to have a primary role in intersegmental connexions (Burton and Loewy, 1976). Less is known about propriospinal inputs into the dorsal horn than either primary afferent input and those from the brain because these are short ranging connexions and therefore more difficult to study. About a third of the axons from Lissauer's tract arise from the dorsal horn neurones most of which are marginal cells of LI or neurones in LII (Chung *et al.*, 1979; Chung and Coggeshall, 1979). These axons are propriospinal and run for short distances in Lissauer's tract connecting LI and LII.

Axons of ascending pathways may give off collaterals (in the white matter) that enter the dorsal horn. This has been reported for axons of both spinocervical tract neurones and also neurones belonging to the post-synaptic dorsal column system (Brown *et al.*, 1977; Brown and Fyffe, 1981).

## 1.2.3.5 Neurotransmitter release by the nociceptive afferents at the spinal level

#### **1.2.3.5.1** Substance P (SP)

Since it's discovery by Von Euler and Gaddum (1931), many studies have pointed to the role of SP, an 11-amino acid polypeptide, to be the neuromediator for thin nociceptive afferent fibers. SP is found in great concentrations at the level of the dorsal roots and dorsal horn (Otsuka and Konishi, 1976; Takahashi and Otsuka, 1975).

Anatomical studies using SP antibodies and electron microscopy have demonstrated the presence of SP in afferent terminals in LI and outer parts of LII of the dorsal horn of the spinal cord (Hokfelt *et al.*, 1975; Jessell *et al.*, 1979; Difiglia *et al.*, 1982; DeLanerolle and LaMotte, 1983). Dorsal root rhizotomy resulted in reduction of SP levels in the dorsal horn showing that most of this substance originates in the periphery (Hokfelt *et al.*, 1980). SP has also been shown to be present in intrinsic spinal neurones (Hokfelt *et al.*, 1980; Gibson *et al.*, 1981), and in fibers descending in the brain stem [Chan-Palay *et al.*, 1978; Pelletier *et al.*, 1981).

Release of immunoreactive SP has been evoked from various spinal cord preparations *in vitro* (Otsuka and Konishi, 1976; Jessell and lversen, 1977), and into the subarachnoid space of the spinal cord of anaesthetized cat after stimulation of the sciatic nerve, but only at high stimulus intensity neccessary to stimulate A- $\delta$  and C fibers (Yaksh *et al.*, 1980). A similar release of SP has been induced by

noxious natural stimulation (Kuraishi *et al.* 1985). In one study, diminished level of SP were observed in spinal cord substantia gelatinosa of patients with reduced pain sensitivity (Pearson *et al.*, 1982). Henry (1976) showed that iontophoretic administration of SP excited dorsal horn neurones that were also activated by noxious heat stimulation of the cutaneous receptive field.

Systemic administration of SP during neonatal period caused a degeneration of primary sensory neurones including a diminution in the number of C afferent fibers (Jancso et al., 1977; Scadding, 1980). Similarly, biochemical studies have demonstrated a reduction in SP at the level of the primary sensory neurones after administration of capsaicin (Fitzgerald, 1983). Results from electrophysiological studies in adult rats, after neonatal capsaicin pretreatment, have shown a mean reduction in the number of neurones responding to C fiber inputs in the dorsal horn (Cervero et al., 1984). Local application of capsaicin onto a peripheral nerve blocks axonal transport and depletes the neurone of SP (Gibson et al., 1982). This treatment, several days later, reduces postsynaptic excitation and decreases the number of noxious heat-responsive dorsal horn neurones (Fitzgerald and Woolf, 1982). A reduction of the responses to spinothalamic tract neurones to both noxious mechanical and thermal stimulation has been described in monkeys after acute topical application of capsaicin onto a peripheral nerve (Chung et al., 1985). In summary, SP present in primary afferent fibers appears to be involved in excitatory transmission processes related to the passage of nociceptive information in the spinal cord. The nature of this involvement is

however, unclear and evidence has been confusing, since no effect, analgesia, hyperalgesia and behavioral effects have been reported in many studies (Besson and Chaouch, 1987). A more recent speculation, therefore is that SP may modulate the excitability of dorsal horn neurones, possibly in combination with a rapidly acting neurotransmitter (Henry, 1982). Moreover, the fact that SP coexists with other substances in the same nociceptive fiber complicates the issue even further. In one study, calcitonin-gene-related-peptide (CGRP), coexisting with SP in the same sensory neurones potentiated hyperalgesia induced by intrathecal SP (Wieselfield-Hallin *et al.*, 1984).

Other substances such as excitatory amino acids (Glutamate, aspartate) and adenosine 5'-triphosphate could also act as neurotransmitters in primary afferent fibers (Salt and Hill, 1983).

## 1.2.3.6 Ascending systems that transmit information from nociceptors

Various ascending tracts are involved in relaying information from cutaneous and deep structures to supraspinal structures. These include the spinothalamic tract (Mehler, 1957; Mehler *et al.*, 1960; Boivie, 1971b), post-synaptic dorsal column pathway (Angaut-Petit, 1975a,b; Rustioni, 1977; Brown and Fyffe, 1981), the spinocervical tract (Brown, 1982) and the spinoreticular tract (Rossi and Brodal, 1957; Mehler *et al.*, 1960). The existence of the spinothalamic projections has been demonstrated in many species including the cat (Mehler, 1966; Boivie, 1971b), dog (Hagg and Ha, 1970), rat (Lund and Webster, 1967b; Mehler, 1969), monkey (Mehler *et al.*, 1960; Kerr, 1975b) and man (Bowsher, 1957; Mehler, 1969).

There are regional and species differences in the the cells of origin of spinothalamic tract (Willis and Coggeshall, the 1978). Electrophysiological mapping experiments have shown that the cells of origin in cervical enlargement of the cat are concentrated in LI, V and VI (Dilly et al., 1968) while those in the cat's lumbar enlargement are in Ll and LV-VIII (Trevino et al., 1972) but mostly in LVII and VIII. Later studies by Trevino and Carstens (1975), using retrograde horseradish peroxidase injected into the diencephalon as a marker, confirmed these sites of origin in the cat. In the lumbar cord of the monkey (Trevino et al., 1973; Albe-Fessard et al., 1974; Trevino and Carstens, 1975) and the rat (Giesler et al., 1976), the sites of origin of spinothalamic cells are in LI and IV to VIII, but mostly in V. Some spinothalamic tract cells project to the ipsilateral diencephalon, but most project contralaterally (Trevino et al., 1972; 1973). This has been confirmed using horseradish peroxidase (Trevino and Carstens, 1975). The decussation is probably in the same segment as the cell body.

By means of electron microscopy and degeneration studies of the spinothalamic tract, it has been revealed that the ascending axons appear to be myelinated. Only very few unmyelinated fibers were identified (Lippman and Kerr, 1972).

The tract has a roughly somatotopic organization with the caudal body represented dorsolaterally and the rostral body ventromedially (Applebaum *et al.*, 1975). The termination sites of the tract in the thalamus include the ventrobasal complex, the posterior nuclear group, the intralaminar nuclei, the nucleus paracentralis, ventrocaudal nucleus and nucleus centralis lateralis (Clark,1936; Anderson and Berry, 1959; Mehler *et al.*, 1960; Jones and Burton, 1974).

Some spinothalamic cells respond only to noxious stimuli, and many of these are located in LI (Price and Mayer, 1974; 1975; Willis *et al.*, 1975), although high threshold cells are also found deeper in the dorsal horn. Spinothalamic tract cells show vigorous response to the injection of algesic chemicals into the arterial circulation (Levante *et al.*, 1975; Foreman *et al.*, 1977). Other spinothalamic tract cells can be activated by low threshold stimulation and often also by noxious stimulation (Price and Mayer, 1974; 1975; Willis *et al.*, 1974; 1975; Applebaum *et al.*, 1975).

Thus, although there is evidence that points to the role of the spinothalamic tract neurones in pain signalling, it is not the sole tract involved in transmission of pain. In one experiment, Cadwalader and Sweet (1912) reported that dogs whose ventrolateral tracts had been sectioned, responded slowly to pain and extreme heat.

The post-synaptic dorsal column neurones are located in LIII, IV, and the medial parts of V (Angaut-Petit, 1975a; Rustioni, 1977; Brown and Fyffe, 1981). Apart from receiving information about light touch from sensitive cutaneous mechanoreceptors, this pathway also relays information emanating from nociceptors (Angaut-Petit, 1975b; Brown and Fyffe, 1981). Axons exclusively driven by nociceptors have been reported (Angaut-Petit, 1975b). Thus, this system is capable of transmitting information from nociceptors. This pathway terminates in the dorsal column nuclei (Angaut-Petit, 1975a).

The spinocervical tract is also involved in transmission of pain (Cervero *et al.*, 1977; Brown, 1982). The cells of origin are located in LIII, IV, and V of the dorsal horn (Brown, 1982). The spinocervical tract terminates in the lateral cervical nucleus in the upper cervical cord.

The cells of origin of the spinoreticular tract activated antidromically following stimulation in the reticular formation were found to be concentrated in LVII and VIII in the cat spinal cord (Fields *et al.*, 1975; 1977a), although there are also some cells in the dorsal horn. In degeneration studies, this pathway has been shown to terminate in various brain stem areas including the nucleus reticularis lateralis, nucleus reticularis gigantocellularis, and nucleus reticularis ventralis (Rossi and Brodal, 1957; Anderson and Berry, 1959). The electrophysiological properties have been well investigated (Fields *et al.*, 1977a,b; Menetrey *et al.*, 1980). The inputs to neurones of this tract include nociceptor afferents although the exact role of the tract in nociception is uncertain.

### 1.2.3.7 Descending systems acting on dorsal horn neurones

The dorsal horn also receives inputs from neurones located at various sites in the brain. These descending systems include the corticospinal tract (Nyberg-Hansen and Brodal, 1963; Coulter and Jones, 1977), the raphe-spinal system (Basbaum *et al.*, 1978) and the reticulo-spinal system (Basbaum *et al.*, 1978).

The corticospinal tract cells terminate in LIII-LVI or even VII in the cat (Nyberg-Hansen and Brodal, 1963), and are absent from LI and II. Using autoradiography in the monkey, the origin of the corticospinal tract was demonstrated to be from cytoarchitectonic regions 4, 3a, 3b, 1, 2, and 5 (Coulter and Jones, 1977).

Wall (1967) investigated the influence of the corticospinal pathway upon dorsal horn interneurones and reported no effect on LIV neurones, prominent inhibition in LV and excitation in LVI. Fetz (1968) reported that inhibition is more prominent dorsally and excitation ventrally. The inhibitions reported by Wall (1967) and Fetz (1968) are in agreement with earlier reports of primary afferent depolarization (Carpenter *et al.*, 1963b; Andersen *et al.*, 1964e), indicating the operation of presynaptic inhibition of cutaneous and group Ib and II muscle afferents and inhibition and excitation of various dorsal horn neurones including those giving rise to ascending pathways (Wall, 1967; Fetz, 1968; Coulter *et al.*, 1974).

The raphe spinal system arises from midline raphe nuclei of the brain stem and consists of bilateral pathways descending in the

dorsolateral funiculi (Basbaum and Fields, 1977). Terminations are in LI, LII, LV and medial parts of LVI and VII (Basbaum and Fields, 1977; Basbaum *et al.*, 1978). The parts of the dorsal horn receiving inputs from the raphe nuclei are those parts considered to be concerned with nociception and to give rise to the spinothalamic and spinoreticular tracts.

Fluorescence histochemistry has revealed the existence of numerous noradrenaline and serotonin containing neurones in the raphe spinal fibers (Dahlstrom and Fuxe, 1965). The monoaminergic terminals in the spinal cord disappear 6-8 days after transection of the cord. Iontophoresis of serotonin onto dorsal horn neurones leads to depression of their activity (Engberg and Ryall, 1966; Randic and Yu, 1976). These investigators demonstrated the inhibition of both spontaneous and noxious evoked activity of dorsal horn neurones on administration of serotonin.

Electrical stimulation of the nucleus raphe magnus produces inhibition of the dorsal horn neurones in Ll, V and VI that receive a noxious mechanical input (Fields *et al.*, 1977b; Guilbaud *et al.*, 1977b). Willis *et al.*, (1977) also reported that electrical stimulation of the nucleus raphe magnus in the monkey inhibited cells of origin of the spinothalamic tract. In another study by Proudfit and Anderson (1974), it was demonstrated that electrical stimulation of the nucleus raphe magnus leads to primary afferent depolarization indicating presynaptic inhibition of the dorsal horn neurones.

The nucleus reticularis gigantocellularis and nucleus reticularis

magnocellularis also contribute to the descending system to the spinal cord (Basbaum et al., 1978). These workers showed by means of autoradiography that the pathway arising in the nucleus reticularis magnocellularis descends in the ipsilateral dorsolateral part of the spinal cord and terminates in LI, II, V, VI and also VII in the ventral horn. The descending system from nucleus reticularis gigantocellularis was shown by the use of radioactive leucine to terminate ipsilaterally in LVII and LVIII and contralaterally in LVII in the ventral horn (Basbaum et al., 1978). These regions are related to the motor system. Electrical stimulation within the reticular nucleus produces primary afferent depolarization and both dorsal and ventral root potentials (Proudfit and Anderson, 1974), exerting presynaptic control on the spinal cord neurones. Thus even pathways that are generally regarded as part of the motor system produce actions at the spinal cord level that must have consequences for sensations.

Finally, many other descending pathways are capable of influencing either directly or indirectly the activity of the dorsal horn (Willis and Coggeshall, 1978). For example, stimulation of the vestibular nerve has been shown to excite interneurons in both the dorsal and ventral horn (Erulkar *et al.*, 1966). This action could be mediated by way of either vestibulospinal or reticulospinal tracts.

### 1.2.3.8 Neuropharmacology of the descending systems

Studies using fluorescence histochemistry (Dahlstrom and Fuxe, 1965) have shown serotonin (5-HT) containing cell bodies and

neuronal projections to be associated with brain stem raphe nuclei. Following brain stem stimulation, release of 5-HT in the spinal cord has been demonstrated *in vitro* (Anden *et al.*, 1964) and *in vivo* (Yaksh and Tyce, 1980).

In the dorsal horn there are many 5-HT terminals particularly associated with LI, II and V (Ruda and Gobel, 1980). Recent neuropharmacological experiments support the role of 5-HT as a neurotransmitter in the dorsal horn influencing antinociceptive mediation. Serotonin receptor blockade by administration of mianserin or metergoline shortened the response latencies in rats in the hot-plate and tail-flick tests (Berge et al., 1983). A tonic inhibitory influence mediated by descending 5-HT pathways has been suggested (Berge, 1982; Berge et al., 1983). Chemical lesioning of the spinal 5-HT neurones by intrathecal 5,6,-dihydroxytryptamine also increased sensitivity to noxious stimulation (Fasmer et al., 1983). Depletion of 5-HT by p-Chlorophenylalanine reduced stimulation produced analgesia and administration of the precursor of 5-HT, 5hydroxytryptophan restored the effect (Akil and Mayer, 1972; Akil and Liebeskind, 1975). Thus, descending 5-HT neurones may be involved in the tonic regulation of nociception (Berge and Ogren, 1984).

The site of action is unclear; 5-HT containing terminals appear to synapse largely with dorsal horn neurones forming few, if any, direct contacts with sensory terminals (Ruda and Gobel, 1980). Thus the evidence is strong that descending serotonergic neurones modulate pain sensitivity, despite the fact that some authors have found inconsistent results. This may be due to different methodologies used (Fasmer *et al.*, 1983; 1984).

Evidence is increasing that descending noradrenergic pathways also participate in spinal modulation of nociceptive information. Stimulation of brain stem nuclei from which noradrenergic neurones originate have analgesic effect (Segal and Sandberg, 1977). Noradrenaline (NA) applied iontophoretically inhibits the activity of nociceptive neurones in the dorsal horn (Belcher *et al.*, 1978; Headley *et al.*, 1978; North and Yoshimura, 1984). Behavioral studies using intrathecal administration of NA also show a spinal depression of nociceptive messages (Kuraishi *et al.*, 1979; Kuraishi *et al.*, 1985).

The analgesic effects induced by intrathecal administration of NA are mediated by activation of  $\alpha$ -adrenoceptors (Howe *et al.*, 1983). Belcher *et al.*, (1978), found that the inhibitory effects of NA in the dorsal horn are more marked and more selective than those of 5-HT. The inhibitory effects have been demonstrated on neurones located both superficially and in deeper laminae of the dorsal horn (Belcher *et al.*, 1978; North and Yoshimura, 1984).

These descending noradrenergic fibers arise mostly from the locus coeruleus, the subcoeruleus, and from area 5 of the cerebral cortex (Westlund and Coulter, 1980; Bryum *et al.*, 1984). These descending projections terminate in the marginal layer, LII, IV, VI, and the ventral horn (Westlund *et al.*, 1983). Their effect on spinal nociceptive transmission could involve both pre- and postsynaptic

35

UNIVERSITY OF NAIROB

mechanisms (Belcher *et al.*, 1978; Wilcockson *et al.*, 1984), although the details are still not clear.

In a recent study, lesions of descending catecholaminergic pathways were found to alter responses to noxious stimuli in the hotplate and formalin tests (Fasmer *et al.*, 1986). These pathways tonically inhibit nociceptive sensitivity recorded with the hot-plate test, but tonically enhanced the behavioral responses to pain induced by formalin (Fasmer *et al.*, 1986). This showed that mechanisms involved in the spinal modulation of nociception (by catecholaminergic systems) may be different for different types of pain. There is also evidence for tonic regulation of nociceptive sensitivity by spinal catecholaminergic pathways (Howe *et al.*, 1983).

There is strong evidence supporting the role of endogenous opioids in pain modulation. From the original *in vitro* observations a model was proposed whereby enkephalinergic interneurones found locally in regions of primary afferent synapses provided axo-axonic terminals on SP-containing primary afferents and hence provided an inhibitory system for selective blockade of nociceptive information by opioids (Jessell and Iversen, 1977). Since axo-axonic connections as required have not been found (LaMotte and DeLanerolle, 1981) a modification Proposed by Henry (1982) suggests the importance of circulating opioids crossing into the spinal cord and selectively depressing SP release.

Enkephalin and  $\beta$ -endorphin are also present in supraspinal sites allied to pain pathways. Enkephalin has been demonstrated in the

periaqueductal gray matter (PAG) and nucleus raphe magnus (NRM) (Hokfelt *et al.*, 1977). In comparison,  $\beta$ -endorphin is linked with a major neuronal system in the brain originating in the arcuate nucleus of the hypothalamus with axonal projections to many areas including the PAG and nucleus locus coeruleus (Bloom *et al.*, 1979). Intracerebroventricular injection of  $\beta$ -endorphin leads to profound antinociception (Loh *et al.*, 1976) as does the enkephalin analogues (Beddell *et al.*, 1977). Regions around the PAG are among the most sensitive of all sites to elicit antinociceptive effects suggesting the participation of opioid peptides to the descending spinal inhibitory systems (Smith, 1984).

Recently, increasing interest has grown on the role of opioid peptides as neuromodulators, modulating the changes produced by other putative neurotransmitters, eg., 5-HT and NA. Thus, many neurochemical studies have implicated descending 5-HT and NA fibers in the analgesia induced by morphine, and most studies have shown generally a reduction in analgesia induced by morphine after lesioning of 5-HT and NA descending pathways (Deakin and Dostrovsky, 1978; Yaksh, 1979; Proudfit and Hammond, 1981; Berge *et al.*, 1983; Kuraishi *et al.*, 1983).

Thus, the implication of monoamines and endogenous opioids in the mechanism of control exerted by the brain stem is supported by many studies. However, many other substances are found at brain stem level. For example, analgesic effects have been described after the injection of neurotensin in the PAG (Behbehani and Pert, 1984) or acetyleholine in the parabrachial region (Katayama *et al.*, 1984). Acetylcholine iontophoresis has been shown to excite NRM (Wilcockson *et al.*, 1983). Furthermore the phenomenon of coexistence of neurotransmitters in the same neurones complicates their functions even further.

### **1.2.3.9** The role of the thalamus and cerebral cortex in nociception

Most earlier studies on the role of the thalamus and cerebral cortex in the modulation of pain were done on war patients with brain lesions (Sweet, 1971).

In man, when vascular lesions destroy the nucleus ventralis posterolateralis of the thalamus, severe sensory loss is found in the contralateral limbs and trunk (Sweet, 1971). Gardner and Cuneo (1945) were able only to follow a few degenerating spinothalamic fibers beyond the midbrain and into the thalamic nucleus ventralis posterolateralis (VPL) after thoracic cordotomy in man.

Using stains for axonal degeneration, Mehler (1957) found that true spinothalamic fibers to the nucleus VPL constitute 30% of the ascending fibers in the chimpanzee. He also saw terminations in other thalamic nuclei; parafascicularis, paracentralis, nucleus centralis lateralis. Using degeneration studies, Bowsher (1957), found degeneration in the ipsilateral nucleus VPL after spinothalamic tractotomy, as well as a little degeneration on the contralateral VPL nucleus. Bowsher (1957) also found terminations in the large nucleus centrum medianum of man, and a few in the rostral part of the thalamic reticular nucleus.

Gaze and Gordon (1955) were among the first to study electrophysiological properties of the thalamic nociceptive neurones. These authors recorded electrical activity of single units in the thalamus while stimulating the saphenous fibers. They found that about 9 out of the 63 units found, responded only to very strong stimuli like squeezing, pinching, tapping or pricking. These stimuli activated saphenous  $\delta$  fibers. Monkeys with chronic implanted electrodes (Sweet, 1971) also exhibited behaviour, suggesting pain, when the thalamic nucleus ventralis posterior was stimulated. Electrical lesions in the regions of the centrum medianum caused hypoalgesia to analgesia in man, over varying extents of the contralateral half of the head, limbs or body. There was either a reduction or elimination of complaints about pain on the contralateral side (Sweet, 1971). Units in the ventrocaudal region of the thalamus in the rat responded exclusively to noxious stimulation of the tail (Hellon and Mitchell, 1975). Foreman et al., (1976) antidromically activated spinothalamic cells by stimulation of the thalamus. They showed that spinothalamic tract nociceptors both in LI and V could be excited from either the posterior thalamic nuclei or ventrobasal complex.

Electrophysiological recordings from the medial thalamus of arthritic rats indicated existence of neurones responding to <sup>nocice</sup>ptive stimuli in mediodorsal, anteromedial, ventromedial and ventrolateral nuclei of the medial thalamus and the nearby submedian <sup>nucleus</sup> (Dostrovsky and Guilbaud, 1990). This suggests that all these regions may be involved in mediating various aspects of nociception (Dostrovsky and Guilbaud, 1990). The intralaminar nuclei, consisting of centromedial, centrolateral, paracentral, centre median and the parafascicular region, have been implicated in nociception (Perl and Whitlock, 1961; Price and Dubner, 1977; Peschanski *et al.*, 1981; Duncan *et al.*, 1988; Dostrovsky and Guilbaud, 1990). The pulvinar of the thalamus, the ventrocaudal nucleus and the dorsomedian nucleus have also been implicated in pain perception (Richardson, 1974; Fukushima *et al.*, 1976). Some of these nuclei, e.g., pulvinar and dorsomedian nucleus, have been used as targets for stereotaxic surgery for the relief of chronic pain (Richardson, 1974). The ventrobasal complex and intralaminar nuclei have also been shown to consist of neurones that respond exclusively to noxious stimuli in the cat and monkey (Mountcastle and Henneman, 1949; 1952). Thus, the thalamus plays a major role in pain mechanisms.

It is however, in the cortex where pain is perceived. Foerster (1927), one of the early workers who explored the responses in man on electrical stimulation of the cortex, observed that stimulation of the postcentral gyrus (consisting of sensory areas) or the superior parietal lobule elicited contralateral paraesthesias, occasionally so strong so as to be painful. Cardiac pain and severe abdominal pain have also been reported by Foerster (1936) when areas in the postcentral gyrus for the upper trunk and the lower trunk were stimulated.

Stimulation of areas in the postcentral gyrus, precentral gyrus (the <sup>motor</sup> zone) and a few points anterior or posterior to these two gyri

elicited behaviour suggestive of pain or at least activity in pain pathways (Penfield and Boldrey, 1937).

Erickson *et al.*, (1952) recorded similar results in patients afflicted with either a painful phantom limb (an illusion of persistent presence of a limb after it's amputation, and in this case, a painful illusion) or with the syndrome of thalamic pain. These patients' spontaneous pain in each phantom limb was stopped dramatically on injection of the appropriate areas of the postcentral gyrus with procaine. Lewin and Phillips (1952) reproduced preoperative pain upon stimulation of the postcentral gyrus and obtained relief by removal of this area of the cortex.

War patients with cortical wounds and showing disturbances in pain and thermal senses (Sweet, 1971), had lesions in areas 3a and 3b of the cortex. Eleven patients with isolated cortical lesions were also reported to have impairment of pain perception (Marshall, 1951). Biemond (1956) studied patients with cerebrovascular lesions, neoplasms confined to the cerebral cortex and some with cerebral infarctions. He found all lesions located in the second somatosensory cortex and postulated that this area participates in pain perception as the patients had various degrees of hypoanalgesia to spontaneous pain. Davis and Stokes (1966) reported two case reports of relief of pain for 18 months after excision of the postcentral gyrus.

In experiments with lower primates, application of strychnine locally to a small area of the cortex set up irritation in the corresponding skin area represented. The scratching was more

vigorous contralaterally than ipsilateral to the side of the application of the drug (Dusser and Sager, 1937). This study also points to the ipsilateral cerebral representation of the body.

Degeneration studies using the marchi stain, have shown that thalamic nuclei (posterolateralis and ventralis posteromedialis (VPM) project to the postcentral gyrus of the same cerebral hemisphere (Walker, 1942). The nucleus VPM sends fibers to the lowest or facial sector of the postcentral gyrus, and the most lateral parts of the nucleus ventralis posterior project to the superior part of the gyrus. Stimulation of the thalamocortical projections deep to the second somatosensory cortex reproduced chronic pain in patients. Lesions of the thalamocortical radiations have been used to relieve pain in patients (Tasker *et al.*, 1982). This shows that the thalamus receives nociceptive information and sends it to the cortex.

In the cerebral cortex, nociceptive stimuli appears to project to the somatosensory areas 1 and 2 in cats and dogs (Amassian, 1951) and monkey (Ruch *et al.*, 1952) and in man, mainly area 2 (Penfield and Rasmussen, 1950).

### 1.3 Tests used in nociception for the evaluation of analgesics and study of nociceptive mechanisms

Nociceptive tests using animal models are used to study pain <sup>mechanisms</sup> and for testing the efficacy of drugs developed for the <sup>management</sup> of clinical pain in both humans and animals (Pong *et al.*,

1985). Several tests of nociception have been developed over the years and will be reviewed.

### 1.3.1 Chemically induced writhing

This test was first introduced by Siegmund *et al.*, (1957). The procedure involves an intraperitoneal injection of phenylquinone which induces "writhing" where the animal has contractions of the abdomen, twisting and turning of the trunk, and extension of the hind limbs. Acetic acid (Koster *et al.*, 1959), bradykinin (Emele and Shanaman, 1963) and acetylcholine (Collier *et al.*, 1968) have also been used to induce writhing. This test is commonly employed as a screening method because of it's simplicity and sensitivity (Taber, 1974). This test, however, lacks specificity as many drugs without analgesic effects in man can effectively inhibit the writhing response in laboratory animals (Chernov *et al.*, 1967). The mechanism of the syndrome is not known, but many mediators have been proposed, including prostaglandins (Deraedt *et al.*, 1980).

## 1.3.2 Yeast or carageenin induced hyperalgesia

In this test, inflammation and hyperalgesia are induced in the rat hind paw by injection of yeast (Randall and Selitto, 1957) or carageenin (Vinegar *et al.*, 1976). Nociception is then quantified by <sup>applying</sup> pressure on the inflammed paw by means of a metal cylinder <sup>and</sup> the pressure (mmHg) at which the animal begins to vocalize or struggle is recorded. The contralateral non-injected paw is used as a control. Several modifications of the test have been described. Drugs can be administered before, at the time of, or after the injection of the inducing agent (Hunskaar, 1987a). This test has been used to distinguish between drugs acting in the CNS and locally at the site of inflammation (Randall and Selitto, 1957; Vinegar *et al.*, 1976). This test is simple to perform and is sensitive to non-narcotic analgesics (Randall and Selitto, 1957; Vinegar *et al.*, 1976).

### 1.3.3 Adjuvant induced arthritis

This is a purely chronic model of pain where the stimulus is tonic (Pircio *et al.*, 1975). Polyarthritis is induced in the rat by an intradermal injection of *Mycobacterium butyricum* with Freund's adjuvant into the tails of rats (Pircio *et al.*, 1975). The polyarthritis produced is similar to various human conditions and results from the tests are predictive of the effect of such agents in man (Pircio *et al.*, 1975). The disadvantage is that these animals suffer from an immunological disease (induced by *Mycobacterium butyricum*) which does not necessarily reflect all chronic conditions (Hunskaar, 1987a). **Drug effects are usually measured as a reduction in the amount of foot swelling and this may not be indicative of nociception (Hunskaar, 1987a). Vocalization on manipulation of the tibio-tarsal joint has been <b>used to indicate nociceptive threshold (Pircio** *et al.***, 1975). This <b>itechnique** does not induce pain in normal (control) rats (Hunskaar, 1987a). Several modifications of this test have been developed. In one

modification, simultaneous measurement of oedema (paw volume) and recording of vocalization have been claimed to separate antiinflammatory from antinociceptive activity of NSAIDs and other drugs (Capetola *et al.*, 1980).

### 1.3.4 The tail-flick test

This test was first introduced by D'Amour and Smith (1941) and it uses radiant heat focused on the tip of the tail and measures the latency before the rat "flicks" it's tail out of the beam as a sign of nociception. The tail-flick reflex is a spinally integrated reflex (Irwin *et al.*, 1951) not disrupted by spinalization. This test is commonly used in pain research not only for screening drugs but also for study of spinal mechanisms of nociception (Berge *et al.*, 1980; Berge, 1982). These authors noted that the test allowed repeated testing with no conditioning effect, little individual variation, and that it's potency ranking of opiate analgesics correlated well with accepted clinical ratings.

### 1.3.5 The hot-plate test

The hot-plate test described by Woolfe and MacDonald (1944) is one of the most commonly used tests of nociception in rodents. Originally, the test measured nociceptive responses (kicking and dancing, licking the fore paw, the hind paw or both) of mice placed on the hot-plate at temperatures varying from 55 to 70<sup>o</sup>C. This test was later modified (Eddy *et al.*, 1950: Eddy and Leimbach, 1953) where a constant hot-plate temperature of about  $55^{\circ}$ C was used. The nociceptive responses measured were; shaking of the foot, holding the foot tightly against the body, and licking the fore paw, hind paw or both. Recently, a modified hot-plate test for use in mice and rats has been developed (Hunskaar *et al.*, 1986). The temperature is slowly increased from non-noxious levels upto the end point which is the temperature when the first hind paw lick occurs. If no hind paw lick is observed, the test is terminated at  $52^{\circ}$ C (cut off value). This modified increasing temperature hot-plate test is more sensitive and gives more consistent, valid and reliable results (Hunskaar *et al.*, 1986). Many different behavioral criteria have been used as the end point in the hot plate-test, but licking of a fore paw or hind paw is commonly used (Ankier, 1974; Hunskaar *et al.*, 1986).

### 1.3.6 The formalin test

The formalin test was first described for rats and cats by Dubuisson and Dennis (1977). Subcutaneous administration of 0.05 ml and 0.1 ml of 5% formalin respectively induced pain in the fore paw of these animals. A biphasic pain response was produced. Pain intensity was rated according to a visual analog scale and was given a numerical value from "0" to "3". "0" indicated that the injected paw bore the animal's weight and that there was no discernable difference in how the two fore paws were used during sitting or locomotion. "1" <sup>indicated</sup> that the fore paw rests lightly on the floor and during

locomotion. The animal had a definite limp. "2" indicated that the injected paw was elevated off the ground, and "3" indicated that the animal licked, bite or shook the affected paw. The formalin test has been modified during subsequent studies (Takahashi *et al.*, 1984; Hunskaar *et al.*, 1985a; Shibata *et al.*, 1989). Only one behavioral response (licking the hind paw) has since then been monitored because it is easy to observe and to quantify and is very consistent (Hunskaar *et al.*, 1985a). Also, scoring the hind paw lick gave more consistent and reliable results because of less interference with rearing and grooming behaviour (Berge *et al.*, 1983).

The formalin test has several advantages over the other tests (Dubuisson and Dennis, 1977). There is no restraint during the observation period. The animals are not stressed as stress can alter pain sensitivity of the animal. The pain stimulus bears a resemblance to most clinical pain. The stimulus elicits a continuous response that enables a temporal nociceptive profile to be measured.

Formalin was found to be a useful tool for obtaining neurogenic inflammation (Brown *et al.*, 1968). Subcutaneous injection of formalin in the animals produces a biphasic response with an early and late phase of high licking activity. The two phases observed in the test represent different types of pain. It is thought that the early phase is evoked by the direct stimulation of nociceptors by formalin and central release of substance P, whereas the late phase is caused by inflammation (Dubuisson and Dennis, 1977; Alreja *et al.*, 1984; Hunskaar *et al.*, 1985a, 1986; Hunskaar and Hole 1987; Shibata *et al.*, 1989). The late phase is mediated by mediators of inflammation e.g., bradykinin, prostaglandins, histamine and serotonin (Shibata *et al.*, 1989).

The details of the mechanism of action of formalin are still obscure. In a recent study, it was observed that subcutaneous injection of formalin in the hind paw induced a transient activation of enkephalinergic neurones segmentally in the spinal cord of the rat (Bourgoin et al., 1990). The release of met-enkephalin-like material (MELM) in the cerebrospinal fluid perfusates from the lumbar level took place 5-10 minutes after the formalin injection and was of short duration (5-10 minutes). The transient decrease in nociception in the formalin test, 5-15 minutes after formalin injection in mice (Hunskaar et al., 1985a), is concomitant with the enhancement of spinal MELM release (Bourgoin et al., 1990) and may explain the reduction in nociception during that period of time. Electrophysiological studies have demonstrated a biphasic increase in the excitability of dorsal horn cells following formalin injection into their receptive fields (Dickenson and Sullivan, 1987). It has been demonstrated that the central changes induced in the early phase of the formalin test may contribute to the development of the late phase, suggesting that mechanisms other than inflammation may also be involved (Dickenson and Sullivan, 1987).

Formalin injection into the hind paw produces an increase in the amount of immunoreactive SP in the dorsal horn after 1 hour Kantner *et al.*, 1985; McCarson and Goldstein, 1989). The increases In dorsal horn SP-like-immunoreactivity may be due to decreased SP release from primary afferent neurones (Henry, 1976; Jancso and Kiraly, 1980). Formalin injection may cause a decrease of SP release.

Lesioning the descending serotonergic pathways using the neurotoxin 5,6-dihydroxytryptamine indicates that the early and the late response in the formalin test may be modulated differently in the central nervous system (Fasmer *et al.*, 1984).

Whatever the mechanism of action, the formalin test is very useful in studies of pain mechanisms, and for evaluation of analgesic drugs, for use in the treatment of either acute or chronic pain (Shibata *et al.*, 1989). Intraperitoneal injections of morphine (0.8 mg/Kg) induces analgesia, in both the early and late phase, in about 10-15 minutes with no return of pain in cats (Dubuisson and Dennis, 1977). Pethidine (8 mg/kg), given intraperitoneally, produced analgesia in the early and late phase but showed greater individual variability than was observed with morphine. In rats, when 0.05 ml of 5% formalin was used, morphine (2 mg/kg) produced only slight analgesia in both phases. Morphine (6 mg/kg) produced clear analgesia and also an increase in the animals' general activities. Pethidine (25 mg/kg) produced analgesia in the early and late phase, although of a shorter duration than with morphine. The rats fell into a stupor 10-20 minutes after drug administration (Dubuisson and Dennis, 1977).

In studies using the modified formalin test in mice, 20  $\mu$ l of 1 or 5% formalin was used (Hunskaar *et al.*, 1985a; Hunskaar *et al.*, 1986; Hunskaar, 1987b). Nociceptive behaviour in the early phase (0-5 minutes after formalin injection) and the late phase (20-30 minutes after formalin injection) was scored as the amount of time spent licking the injected hind paw. Morphine (2.5-10 mg/kg) inhibited the formalin induced biphasic pain response dose-dependently.

Aspirin, 200-400 mg/kg, inhibited the early response whereas 300-400 mg/kg inhibited the late response (Hunskaar *et al.*, 1985a; Hunskaar *et al.*, 1986; Hunskaar, 1987b). In a later study, aspirin (200-400 mg/kg) inhibited the biphasic response in a dose dependent manner (Hunskaar and Hole, 1987). Naproxen (50, 100 mg/Kg) induced a dose-dependent antinociception in the late phase only. Hydrocortisone (75, 150 mg/kg) and dexamethasone (5, 10 mg/kg) suppressed licking activity in the late phase only (Hunskaar and Hole, 1987).

In a recent study using 20  $\mu$ l of 0.5% formalin in mice (Shibata *et al.*, 1989), morphine (1, 3, 6 mg/kg), dexamethasone (0.25, 0.5, 1 mg/kg) and hydrocortisone (3, 6.5, 12.5 mg/kg) administration gave similar results to those obtained in earlier experiments. In this study, however, aspirin (100, 200, 300 mg/kg) inhibited only the late response dose-dependently (Shibata *et al.*, 1989).

Recently, the effect of different formalin concentrations on the nociceptive response in the formalin test was studied in mice (Rosland *et al.*, 1990). Using formalin concentrations of 0.02-0.2% only the early phase was observed while a concentration of 1% or more induced both the early and the late phase. When low formalin concentrations (0.2%) were used, repeated testing using the same Paw could be performed at intervals of 1 week without any significant change in the response and tissue damage. It was concluded that the formalin concentration should be as low as possible to minimize suffering of the animal. Formalin concentrations of 0.05-0.2% are recommended for studying the early phase, whereas 1% or higher are

recommended for inducing the late phase (Rosland et al., 1990).

Ambient temperature has been shown to influence the licking response in the late phase of the formalin test (Rosland, 1991). An increase in ambient temperature caused an increase in the intensity and duration of licking in the late phase. It is recommended that the ambient temperature in the testing chamber should be carefully controlled to obtain reliable results especially in the late phase of the formalin test (Rosland, 1991).

# 1.4 Modes of action of narcotic analgesics and antiinflammatory drugs

### **1.4.1** Narcotic analgesics

Based on different pharmacological characteristics observed in *in vitro* and *in vivo* studies, at least five major opioid receptor subtypes have been postulated;  $\mu$ ,  $\kappa$ ,  $\sigma$  (Martin *et al.*, 1976),  $\delta$  (Lord *et al.*, 1977) and  $\varepsilon$  (Wuster *et al.*, 1980;1981). Furthermore, subclasses of some of these receptor types have also been identified (Pasternak and Wood, 1986; Zukin *et al.*, 1988). The  $\mu_1$  and the  $\mu_2$  subclasses of receptors have been postulated, based on the ability of certain irreversible opioid ligands (naloxazone and naloxonazine) to alter high affinity opioid binding (Ling *et al.*, 1986; Pasternak and Wood, 1986). The  $\kappa$ -opioid binding site has been subdivided into three components,  $\kappa_1$ ,  $\kappa_2$  (Zukin *et al.*, 1988) and  $\kappa_3$  (Clark *et al.*, 1989). These receptors are thought to mediate the actions of opiates as will

be reviewed later.

Autoradiographic binding studies have demonstrated opioid binding sites in many brain areas (Yaksh 1984a) and throughout the spinal gray with the highest density in the substantia gelatinosa (Fields *et al.*, 1980; Czlonkowski *et al.*, 1983; Yaksh 1984b). A significant reduction in opioid binding is observed following rhizotomy or ganglionectomy (LaMotte *et al.*, 1976), and after chemical destruction of small primary afferents with the neurotoxin capsaicin (Gamse *et al.*, 1979). These results suggest the existence of opioid binding sites pre- and postsynaptic to small afferent terminals.

Electrophysiological studies using microiontophoretic application of opioids in the dorsal horn or systemic administration in spinally transected animals have shown a depression in activity evoked by stimulation of high-threshold, slowly conducting afferents (Duggan and North, 1984; Martin, 1984; Yaksh and Noueihed, 1985).

By use of several modalities of nociceptive stimulation (thermal, chemical, mechanical), studies of the effects of spinally administered agents in animals, have provided firm evidence that the spinal opioids induce a significant reduction in pain behaviour (Yaksh and Rudy, 1976, 1977).

The mechanism at the biochemical level through which morphine and related compounds mediate analgesia is not very clear. Morphine and related compounds inhibit the release of substance P from terminals of afferent neuronal pathways (Jessell and Iversen, 1977). This is thought to occur through inhibition of prostaglandin-induced production of cyclic adenosine monophosphate (c'AMP) (Stone and Perkins, 1979). Opiate receptor stimulation has been linked with a reduction in adenylate cyclase activity and a concomitant reduction in cyclic AMP concentration (Collier and Roy, 1974). This was demonstrated in the rat brain homogenate. Opiates specifically inhibit the stimulation by PGE of c'AMP formation.

Evidence from electrophysiological studies strongly support the idea that the action of opioids is mediated via alterations of ionic fluxes. Chapman and Way (1980) postulated that narcotic drugs exert their effects by producing a decrease in  $Ca^{2+}$  flux or binding at the synapse. This results in reduced neurotransmitter release and also a selective decrease in calcium levels. A homeostatic mechanism then comes into effect which tends to reverse the effects of the drug, resulting in an increased calcium content in synaptic vesicles. Therefore, more opiate is needed to produce a response and hence this adaptation results in development of tolerance. Opioids inhibit the calcium-dependent release process and decrease the duration of the calcium ion action potential recorded from the cell body. Changes in voltage-dependent  $Ca^{2+}$  influx may be either direct or secondary to  $K^+$  conductance changes (North and Williams, 1983).

A presynaptic site of action of opiates has been suggested from studies using cultured spinal neurones (MacDonald and Nelson, 1978). It was postulated that enkephalins inhibit the release of substance P from these primary afferent neurones (Jessell and Iversen, 1977). These authors also demonstrated that K<sup>+</sup>-evoked release of SP from slices of rat trigeminal nucleus was inhibited by

opiates and opioid peptides in a naloxone-sensitive manner. Yaksh *et al* ., (1980) also reported a decrease in SP release evoked by fine fiber stimulation after administration of morphine.

In electrophysiological studies a local hyperpolarization after opioid administration in dorsal root ganglion cells has been recorded supporting the presence of presynaptic opioid receptors (Duggan and North, 1984). These observations suggest a clear presynaptic effect of these agents on primary afferent terminal excitability.

The presynaptic action of these opioids could be due to a depolarization or hyperpolarization of the presynaptic membrane in the afferent neuron. The depolarization could result in decreased calcium ion flux thus resulting in reduced neurotransmitter release (Chapman and Way, 1980). The hyperpolarization could be due to an opening of K<sup>+</sup> channels associated with a reduction in calcium entry and a release of less neurotransmitter (Werz and McDonald, 1983).

Post-synaptic action of opioids have also been demonstrated. Postsynaptic hyperpolarization has been described in the locus coeruleus (Pepper and Henderson, 1980) and in the dorsal horn (Barker *et al.*, 1978). Enkephalin caused a hyperpolarization of dorsal horn neurones via an increase in potassium conductance (Yoshimura and North, 1983).

Recently, it has been hypothesized that the spinal analgesic action of morphine is due in part to the release from primary afferent neurone terminals and activation of  $A_1$  and  $A_2$  adenosine receptors (Sweeney *et al.*, 1987a; Sosnowski *et al.*, 1989). Occupation of
adenosine receptors have been shown to produce mild analgesia (Sweeney et al., 1987b; Sosnowski et al., 1989).

Studies based on the selective  $\mu$ ,  $\delta$  and  $\kappa$  agonists (Yaksh, 1987), the distinguishable affinity of naloxone for the sites acted upon by the spinal agents (Yaksh, 1987), and the ability to differentially antagonize the effects with agents selective for the receptors (Cotton *et al.*, 1984; Portoghese and Takemori, 1985) showed that the  $\mu$ ,  $\delta$ , and  $\kappa$ opiate receptors modulate nociceptive processing.

Current evidence has suggested that the opioid receptor is coupled to it's membrane function by a second messenger protein of the guanine nucleotide type (G-protein) (North *et al.*, 1987). This protein has three subunits ( $\alpha$ ,  $\beta$ ,  $\gamma$ ). The  $\alpha$ -subunit contains the guanine nucleotide binding site and has receptor specificity (Simonds, 1988; Weiss *et al.*, 1988). The G-protein  $\alpha$ -subunit in the active state binds 5'-triphosphate, dissociates from the  $\beta$  and  $\gamma$  subunits and directly modulates a number of cellular functions (Allende, 1988) such as adenylate cyclase, phospholipase C and ion channels (Simonds, 1988).

At the membrane level,  $\mu$ - and  $\delta$ -opioid agonists have been shown to inhibit neuronal activity by hyperpolarizing the membrane through an increase in potassium conductance. This hyperpolarization leads indirectly to an inhibition of calcium entry during an action potential [North *et al.*, 1987]. These effects are mediated through the Gprotein which couples the opioid receptor directly to the potassium channel. The  $\kappa$ -agonists inhibit directly the entry of calcium through

voltage dependent calcium channels, involving another G-protein (McFadzean, 1988; Rosenthal *et al.*, 1988).

In addition to their action on terminal receptors, high concentration of opiates produce a weak local anaesthetic effect on isolated nerves (Shefner *et al.*, 1981), and inhibit neuronal firing (Karras and North, 1979).

# 1.4.2 Steroidal antiinflammatory drugs

Corticosteroids suppress the classic signs of inflammatory reactions (heat, pain and swelling) (Booth, 1988). They inhibit the enzyme phospholipase  $A_2$  activity (Nijkamp *et al.*, 1976; Blackwell *et al.*, 1978), which is necessary for the release of arachidonic acid. Thus, cortiscoteroids ultimately inhibit the formation of some important mediators of inflammation, i.e. prostaglandins, thromboxanes, and the leukotrienes (see Fig. 1) (Vane and Botting, 1987).



Fig. 1. Catabolic pathways of arachidonic acid (Vane and Botting, 1987).

Antiinflammatory steroids, inhibit phospholipase  $\Lambda_2$  indirectly by the release of an inhibitory protein. Glucocorticoids interact with specific membrane receptors (Di Rosa and Persico, 1979; Flower and Blackwell, 1979; Russo-Marie *et al.*, 1979) and after transcriptional events (Danon and Assouline, 1978) lead to the formation of the inhibitory protein (Blackwell *et al.*, 1980). This protein has been variously termed macrocortin (Blackwell *et al.*, 1980), lipomodulin (Hirata *et al.*, 1980) or renocortin (Cloix *et al.*, 1983). The name lipocortin has been agreed upon (Flower, 1985).

It is now thought that the action of lipocortin is indirect by binding onto calcium and phospholipid rather than the direct inhibition of phospholipase  $A_2$  (Flower, 1985).

#### 1.4.3 Non-steroidal antiinflammatory drugs (NSAID)

Lim and colleagues (1964) used the crossed-perfused dog spleen preparation to demonstrate that NSAIDs produce analgesia peripherally (Lim *et al.*, 1964). However, it was in 1971 that Vane demonstrated that aspirin inhibits the synthesis of prostaglandins by inhibiting the enzyme cyclooxygenase which catalyzes the conversion of arachidonic acid to endoperoxides (Vane, 1971) (Fig. 1). Studies using local injection of small amount of NSAIDs into inflammatory lesions confirmed that there was a peripheral site of action (Ferreira *et al.*, 1978; Flower *et al.*, 1980). Inhibition of PG synthesis by NSAIDs has been demonstrated both *in vitro* (Vane, 1971) and *in vivo* (Willis *et al.*, 1972). However, the correlation between analgesia and the inhibition of PGs is not clear. Prostaglandins are able to sensitize nociceptors to mechanical or chemical stimulation in concentrations found in inflammatory exudates (Flower *et al.*, 1980).

Since primary prostaglandins are probably the most important hyperalgesic mediators present at the site of the inflammatory reactions (Ferreira, 1983), the NSAIDs should be more appropriately referred to as antalgics because they prevent the induction of hyperalgesia (Ferreira, 1983). Some authors claim that only inflammatory pain can be reduced by these drugs or they are only effective in conditions where prostaglandins are synthesized locally (Ferreira, 1972; Ferreira *et al.*, 1973; Moncada *et al.*, 1975).

Acetylsalicylic acid (ASA) and paracetamol may have analgesic properties independent of inhibition of PG synthesis (Hunskaar *et al.*, 1986). In arthritic rats, ASA has been shown to depress the responsiveness of joint capsule sensory receptors that have an enhanced sensitivity, in comparison to normal rats (Guilbaud and Iggo, 1984).

There is growing interest on the central effects of NSAIDs. A number of studies have provided evidence in support of the central effects of the prototype, ASA. Yaksh and Hammond (1982), demonstrated attenuation of the nociceptive response in the writhing test in rats after intrathecal ASA. Central effects of ASA have been demonstrated in the formalin test (Hunskaar, 1987b) and using capsaicin (Hunskaar, 1985b). In another study, the central effect of ASA, paracetamol, phenacetin and indomethacin were clearly shown on hyperalgesia induced by carageenin (Ferreira *et al.*, 1978). Sodium salicylate increased the nociceptive threshold in rats on stimulation of the lateral hypothalamus (Dubas and Parker, 1971). Activity in single neurones in the rat thalamus elicited by electrical stimulation of afferent C fibers in the sural nerve is depressed by paracetamol, and ASA (Carlsson and Jurna, 1987).

Indomethacin and diclofenae administered intracerebroven-

tricularly inhibited nociceptive responses in arthritic rats (Okuyama and Aihara, 1984). In a more recent study indomethacin and diclofenac, dose-dependently depressed activity evoked by electrical stimulation of afferent C fibers in the ipsilateral or contralateral sural nerve, in single neurones of the rat thalamus (Jurna and Brune, 1990).

The mechanism of action of these NSAIDs at the central level is not clear. Ferreira et al., (1978), suggested that the effect involved inhibition of central release of prostaglandins which lower the threshold of the central pain circuits. Since the cyclooxygenase enzyme from different tissues show differential sensitivity to ASA-like drugs (Flower and Vane 1972), Ferreira et al., (1978) suggested that the antialgesic effect of these drugs was due to their selective action on nervous tissue cyclooxygenase. Subsequent reports, also indicate that prostaglandins may contribute to nociception by an action in the CNS. For example, noxious stimuli elicit the release of prostaglandins from the frog spinal cord (Ramwell et al., 1966) and from the cat ccrebral cortex (Ramwell and Shaw, 1966). Low doses of prostaglandins applied via a spinal intrathecal cannula lower nociceptive thresholds (Ferreira et al., 1978; Yaksh, 1982; Ferreira, 1983). Indomethacin (Raffel et al., 1976), aspirin and naproxen (Chiu and Richardson, 1985) decrease prostaglandin output from brain tissue.

The exact site of action at which prostaglandins exert their central effects on nociception is unknown. They are assumed to act centrally <sup>0</sup>n neurones that transmit the nociceptive message (Yaksh, 1982).

They could act at several spinal sites of nociceptive control, including neural circuitry mediating opioid-induced analgesia. Prostaglandins have been reported to block bulbospinal projection neurones that operate in pain control circuits (Yetunde and Levine, 1988). Prostaglandins may facilitate nociceptive signal transmission in the CNS, and non-opioid analgesics or NSAIDs abolish this facilitatory action (Ferreira *et al.*, 1982; Yaksh, 1982). This proposition was made since salicylic acid and some of it's derivatives are known to markedly change the electrophysiological properties of neuronal membranes (Barker and Levitan, 1971; Levitan and Barker, 1972) and block impulse conduction in nerve fibers (Riccippo Neto and Narahashi, 1976).

Shyu *et al.*, (1984) demonstrated that increased activity of central 5-HT pathways were associated with dental analgesia and enhanced aspirin-induced analgesia, whereas decreased activity of these pathways correlated with dental hyperalgesia and diminished aspirininduced analgesia. The preoptic anterior hypothalamic area seems to be the most sensitive site of the brain for this central aspirin mediated effect. Serotoninergic and catecholaminergic mechanisms could be involved (Shyu and Lin, 1985). Intravenous administration of acetylsalicylate of lysine, a soluble salt of aspirin, reduced the firing discharge of thalamic neurones evoked by noxious stimuli (Groppetti *et al.*, 1988). Microinjections of ASA into the preoptic region of the hypothalamus depressed nociceptive responses in monkeys in a way that depended on intact functioning of monoaminergic pathways [Tagliamonte *et al.*, 1971).

# 1.5 The effect of opiates on behaviour

Morphine along with other opiate drugs produces excitatory effects that include hyperkinesis (Vasko and Domino, 1978). The excitatory effects of morphine are more prominent when low doses are used (Clark, 1979). With higher doses, a characteristic biphasic response is observed; the drug produces depressant and then excitatory effects (Mucha *et al.*, 1981; Numan and Lal, 1981). Martin *et al.*, (1963) showed that a 60 mg/kg dose of morphine produced depressant effects including hypokinesis, whereas a 5 mg/kg dose produced excitatory effects including hyperkinesis. Bartoletti *et al.*, (1983) also reported that morphine's kinetic effect differs markedly with dose, excitatory kinetic action being prominent at low doses, whereas sedation increases at higher doses. The fact that larger doses of a drug can produce less effect than some optimal dose was interpreted in terms of differences in the population and distribution of receptors occupied by the drug at different doses (Messing *et al.*, 1979).

It has been reported that organisms appear to develop tolerance to the depressant actions of morphine (Hinson and Siegel, 1983) whereas the excitatory actions rarely diminish and often increase in intensity after repeated administration (Eposito *et al.*, 1979; Bartoletti *et al.*, 1983), which could be due to sensitization. Some <sup>authors</sup> have suggested that the excitatory effects such as <sup>hyperkinesis</sup> and hyperthermia could reflect direct actions of opiates [Mucha *et al.*, 1981] whereas others have suggested that the

excitatory effects are secondary conditioned responses for the initial unconditioned depressant effects of opiates (Hinson and Siegel, 1983).

The behavioral effect of morphine may depend on the emotional state of the individual (D'Amato and Castellano, 1989). Morphine has been shown to have anti-emotional properties. Opiates influence behaviour through a decrease of emotional levels (File and Rodgers, 1979; Castellano *et al.*, 1984), particularly in stressful conditions (File and Rodgers, 1979). For example, a decrease in emotionality can account for morphine-induced memory impairment in rodents (Gaungher and Kapp, 1978; Castellano *et al.*, 1984).

Apart from hyperkinesis (Vasko and Domino, 1978), the other excitatory effects of morphine and other opiate drugs include hyperthermia (Cox *et al.*, 1979) and hypermetabolism (Martin *et al.*, 1963; Lin, 1982).

There also appears to be a species difference in the prominent response observed on injection of opiate drugs (Simon and Hiller, 1978). Central nervous system (CNS) depression is seen in the dog, monkey and man while stimulatory behaviour is elicited in the cat, horse, goat, sheep, pig and cow following systemic administration of morphine (Simon and Hiller, 1978). The distribution pattern of the opiate binding sites differed in the amygdala and the frontal cortex. These regions are at least two times higher in receptor level for the species that show CNS depression than for the species that show CNS excitation to opiates (Simon, 1977). Administration of 5, 10 and

20 mg/kg of morphine hydrochloride in cats, i.p., produced hyperexcitement and aggressive behaviour (Booth, 1988). Convulsive seizures have been induced in the dog and rabbit with large doses of morphine (Booth, 1988). The ability of opiates to induce generalized convulsive seizures has been considered to be an undesirable effect (Martin, 1984).

The mechanism of induction of excitatory/depressant effects on injection of opiates is not as yet clear. Geller *et al.*, (1983) hypothesized that the stimulatory/inhibitory effects of morphine reflect distinct agonistic actions of opiates on opiate receptors. Jorenby *et al.*, (1988) proposed that the stimulatory behaviour could be due to activation of an excitatory opioid receptor subtype.

Opiate receptors are widely distributed in the brain (Kuhar *et al.*, 1973: Kuhar and Atwch, 1977) but are very highly concentrated in the limbic system (Simon and Hiller, 1978), which is strongly implicated in the control of emotional behaviour.

Frenk *et al.*, (1978) demonstrated specific opiate receptor types involved in the different effects observed on administration of opiate drugs. They showed that the same dose of enkephalin (120µg) caused analgesia without seizures when injected near the periaqueductal grey (PAG), and induced seizures without analgesia when administered near the dorsomedial nucleus of the thalamus. Seizures were accompanied by myoclonic twitches, catalepsy, muscular <sup>figidity</sup> and "wet-dog" shakes which were naloxone reversible (Frenk et al. 1978). These effects suggest that the enkephalin-induced

analgesia and seizures are mediated by opiate receptors located in different regions of the brain that are pharmacologically different. They concluded that enkephalin-induced seizures could have been mediated by  $\delta$ -receptors in the dorsomedial thalamus, and analgesia, by  $\mu$ -receptors in the PAG. The  $\sigma$ -opiate receptors mediate mania (Snyder, 1984) and are concentrated in the hippocampus. The  $\kappa$ opiate receptors are localized in the deep layers of the cerebral cortex and their stimulation causes muscular contractions (Chavkin *et al.*, 1982).

It is also possible that stimulatory effects of morphine and related compounds are due to indirect action of these drugs on other brain systems. Biphasic effects of 10 mg/kg morphine on brain acetylcholine utilization in rats were observed in the hippocampus, thalamus and hypothalamus (Vasko and Domino, 1978). Basbaum *et al.*, (1973) abolished the locomotor depressant effects of morphine by depleting brain serotonin levels using *p*-Chlorophenylalanine and the stimulant actions by depleting catecholamines with  $\alpha$ -methyltyrosine. Morphine's hyperkinetic effect has also been reported to reflect agonistic action of opiates on mesolimbic dopaminergic **neurones** (Stewart and Vezina, 1987), and on cerebral noradrenergic functions (Booth, 1988). Thus, the actions of opiates are complex and **may** be mediated by multiple neurotransmitters and different **pathways**.

## 1.6 Objectives

The objectives of this study were:-

1. To investigate whether formalin induces both acute and chronic pain in the naked mole-rat, as has been observed in other rodents, the rat and mouse.

2. To investigate the analgesic effects of commonly used analgesics and antiinflammatory drugs in the formalin test.

3. To provide information on the nervous system and particularly the nociceptive system of the naked mole-rat.

It is hoped that the information provided may be useful to zoo workers taking care of such animals.

#### **CHAPTER 2**

# 2.0 MATERIALS AND METHODS

#### 2.1 Experimental animals

Naked mole-rats were obtained from Kathekani in the Machakos district of Kenya (240 km South East of Nairobi), an arid region characterized by an ambient temperature of 27-34<sup>o</sup>C and an annual rainfall of less than 700 mm. They were caught by opening foraging burrows which were recognized by the presence of fresh soil covering the burrow inlets. The entrances of the burrows were cleared of soil and pieces of food (sweet potatoes) were placed there to attract them. Immediately a naked mole-rat appeared at the entrance while coming to investigate the damaged burrow or to fetch the food, the tunnel was quickly blocked using a hoe and the mole caught. The animals were then placed in large tins with food and soil as bedding and transported by railway to the laboratory in Nairobi.

They were kept in opaque metal cages of size 1m x 0.5m x 0.5m, with a fitting lid which had a few holes made into it to allow circulation of air. The aim of using the opaque cages was to subject them to total darkness (24 hours per day), to simulate their natural environment (the dark burrows). Since these naked mole-rats are colony rodents, they were kept in colonies of 20-50 animals per cage. After 2 weeks, when it was observed that they had started breaking through the joints of their metal cages with their sharp teeth and escaping through the holes they created, they were transferred to

smooth round opaque plastic cages (50cm diameter x 20cm perpendicular height).

Tissue paper was used as bedding instead of soil. This helped keep the animals warm and it also absorbed their urine. The bedding was changed every day. The ambient temperature was kept at 29-30°C by using two 250 W infrared lamps that were centrally placed above the cages. The height of the infrared lamps above the cages was adjusted to maintain the temperature at the required level.

The animals were fed with sweet potatoes and carrots *adlibitum* and were allowed to adapt to the laboratory environment for at least a month before the start of the experiments. During the acclimatization period, the animals were handled twice daily. Animals weighing 35-40g were used in the experiments. All experiments were done in light (8.00-13.00 hrs and 14.00-16.00 hrs). No attempt was made to determine the sex of the animals since this can only be done after laparotomy. A total of 265 animals were used.

# 2.2 Experimental procedure

# 2.2.1 Drugs and dosages

The analgesic and anti-inflammatory drugs used during the <sup>experiments</sup> were as follows:-

Acetylsalicylic acid (Svaneapoteket, Bergen, Norway; 200, 400, 600 mg/kg) was dissolved in 0.1M Tris buffer, pH = 7.4. Codeine phosphate (Norsk medisinaldepot, Bergen; 10, 25, 50 mg/kg), Pethidine hydrochloride (Roche, England; 10, 20, 30 mg/kg), <sup>dexamethasone</sup> phosphate (Merck, Sharp and Dohme, U.S.A.; 10, 20, 30 mg/kg), hydrocortisone sodium succinate (Lyka labs, Bombay, India; 40, 75, 150 mg/kg), naproxen (Astra, Sweden; 50,100, 200 mg/kg) and naloxone hydrochloride (Endo laboratories, U.S.A.; 2mg/kg) were all dissolved in 0.9% NaCl.

#### 2.2.2 Experimental design

A complete randomized design was used in the experiments (Steel and Torrie, 1981). The animals were chosen at random and were used only once. The drugs or vehicle were injected blindly (the experimenter was not aware of the drugs or vehicle used until after data analysis).

#### 2.2.3 Drug administration

The naked mole-rats were handled as follows for drug administration:-

The animal was carefully picked out of the cage by holding the loose skin on the dorsal side of the neck using the right hand, and placing it on the palm of the left hand. The tail was held with the little finger of the same (left) hand. The ventral surface of the animal was then exposed. Using a micro-litre syringe (100µl) or a plasticsyringe (1ml), the drug or vehicle was injected intraperitoneally (i.p.) [1em to the left of the midline and on the lower abdomen). A 26gauge needle was used. Aspiration was performed to ensure that the drug or vehicle was injected i.p. but not into the intestines. All injections were performed i.p. 30 minutes before injection of the formalin solution. The injection of naloxone was repeated at 30 minute intervals for 4 hours, in the experiments done to study agonistic behaviour after pethidine hydrochloride or codeine phosphate administration. In the control experiments, an equal volume of vehicle was similarly injected.

#### 2.2.4 Formalin test

The modified formalin test (Kanui and Hole, unpublished) was used for nociceptive testing. The animals were adapted to the observation chamber (Perspex box,  $30 \text{cm} \times 30 \text{cm} \times 30 \text{cm}$ ) 20 minutes prior to the formalin injection. Using a micro-litre syringe, 20 µl of 10% formalin in 0.9% NaCl was injected subcutaneously into the dorsal right hind paw of each animal. A 26-gauge needle was used. The animal was returned to the observation chamber immediately after the formalin injection and the observation period started. Two parameters were recorded simultaneously as follows:-

a) The total number of licks were counted using a manual counter and recorded over a one hour observation period, in blocks of 5 minutes.

b) The amount of time (seconds) the animal spent licking the <sup>injected</sup> hind paw was recorded using a stop-watch over a one hour <sup>observation</sup> period, also in blocks of 5 minutes.

Pain behaviour was also studied over a 2 hour observation period.

#### 2.2.5 Agonistic behaviour

Based on preliminary experiments, agonistic behaviour was studied immediately after injection of pethidine hydrochloride (10, 20, 30 mg/kg), codeine phosphate (10, 25, 50, mg/kg) and/or after naloxone hydrochloride (2mg/kg). Naloxone hydrochloride was injected i.p. alone or in combination with the opiate drugs. Naloxone injections were repeated every 30 minutes for 4 hours. The animals were transferred to their home cages, 10 in each cage (colony cages). or to single cages (1 in each cage), after administration of the drugs. The animals were observed continuously for 60 minutes. The occurrence or not of aggressive (in single cages excitement) and hyperactive behaviour was scored. The number of animals participating in a fight were counted and recorded. 18 hours later, the number of dead mole-rats, the wounds and blood spots on the animals were counted and recorded. The effect of pethidine hydrochloride and codeine phosphate on motor impairment was also studied. The onset of the impairment after the i.p. injection of the drug or vehicle, the duration, and the frequency of reccurrence were recorded using a timer.

# 2.2.6 Statistical analysis

Data was analysed using analysis of variance (ANOVA). Student's t-test subsequent to ANOVA was performed where comparisons were restricted to two means. The level of significance was set at 5% (P<0.05). Results are presented as mean  $\pm$  standard error of mean (s.e.m.).

#### **CHAPTER 3**

#### **3.0 RESULTS**

#### 3.1 The formalin test

Injection of 20 µl of 10% formalin subcutaneously into the dorsal right hind paw produced distinct behavioural responses, licking and biting of the injected paw. Two distinct periods of high pain behaviour were identified; the carly phase lasting for the first 5 minutes and a second, the late phase, starting 20-30 min after injection of formalin (Fig. 2). The late phase could also be demonstrated 120 minutes after the injection of formalin (Fig. 3). The vehicle (0.9% NaCl) induced only minimal pain response (Fig. 2).

## 3.1.1 Pethidine hydrochloride

Intraperitoneal pethidine (20 or 30 mg/kg) significantly reduced licking activity during the early phase of the formalin test (20 and 30 mg/kg;  $F_{(1,18)} = 7.34$  and 6.85 respectively, P < 0.05) (Table 1 and Fig. 4). The mean number of licks were notably lower after pethidine 20 mg/kg (25.9 ± 10.35) and 30 mg/kg (31.5 ± 7.42) than in the vehicle-treated controls (78 ± 16.39). In the late phase, there was a highly significant reduction in the number of licks in pethidine-treated animals (20 or 30 mg/kg ;  $F_{(1,18)} =$  $^{22},12$  and 23.51 respectively, P < 0.001)(Fig.4)) when



Fig. 2.: Time-course of paw-licking after a subcutaneous injection of 20  $\mu$ l of 10% formalin into the dorsal right hind paw (mean ± s.e.m.; n = 10; \*P< 0.05,\*\*P <0.01,\*\*\*P < 0.001, Student's <u>t</u>-test subsequent to ANOVA). Each point represents the amount of time the animals spent licking the injected hind paw during a 5 minute observation period.



Fig. 3.: Time-course of paw-licking after a subcutaneous injection of 20  $\mu$ l of 10% formalin or vehicle into the dorsal right hind paw lmean ± s.e.m.; n = 5; \*P< 0.05,\*\*P <0.01,\*\*\*P < 0.001, Student's t-test subsequent to ANOVA). Each point represents the amount of time the animals spent licking the injected hind paw during a 5 minute observation period.

Table 1: Number of licks and time spent licking the injected hind paw (mean  $\pm$  s.e.m.) after administration of vehicle or pethidine (10, 20, 30 mg/kg) in the early and late phase of the formalin test. In this and subsequent tables, 10 naked mole-rats were used in each group.

Drug/ Dose	Number of licks	Time spent licking the
		hind paw (sec)
Early phase		
Vehicle	78 ± 16.39	36.94 ± 6.51
Pethidine 10 mg/kg	109.6 ± 16.4n.s.	47.34 ± 9.39n.s.
20 mg/kg	25.9 ± 10.35*	15.23 ± 5.71*
30 mg/kg	31.5 ± 7.42*	15.6 ± 3.77*
Late phase		
Vehicle	79.94 ± 14.64	35.26 ± 6.63
Pethidine 10 mg/kg	70.16 ±16.62n.s.	32.2 ± 9.38n.s.
20 mg/kg	7.73 ± 4.64***	14.25 ± 6.85*
30 mg/kg	$5.89 \pm 4.36^{***}$	2.57 ±1.9***

• - Significant difference at P < 0.05.

•••• - Significant difference at P < 0.001.

n.s. - Not statistically significant. Sludent's <u>t</u>-test subsequent to ANOVA.

compared to the controls. Pethidine 20 or 30 mg/kgtreated animals licked less (7.73  $\pm$  4.64 and 5.89  $\pm$  4.36 respectively) than the controls (79.94  $\pm$  14.64).

Pethidine (20 or 30 mg/kg) significantly reduced the time spent licking the injected hind paw in the early phase of the formalin test (20 or 30 mg/kg:  $F_{(1,18)} = 6.29$  and 8.06 respectively, P < 0.05) (Table 1 and Fig. 5). The 20 and 30 mg/kg-treated groups spent  $15.23 \pm 5.71$  and  $15.6 \pm 3.77$ secs licking the injected hind paw respectively. The controls spent over twice the amount of time  $(36.94 \pm 6.51)$ sec) licking the injected paw. In the late phase, pethidine (20 mg/kg) significantly reduced the time spent licking the injected hind paw ( $F_{(1,18)} = 2.53$ , P < 0.05) (Fig. 5). The control animals spent  $35.26 \pm 6.63$  sec licking while the pethidine (20 mg/kg)-treated animals spent  $14.25 \pm 6.85$ sec licking the injected paw. Administration of pethidine (30 mg/kg) caused a more marked reduction in the time spent licking the injected hind paw during the late phase. The animals spent  $2.57 \pm 1.9$  sec licking the paw. The reduction was statistically significant ( $F_{(1,18)} = 22.48$ , P < 0.001) (Fig. 5).

Administration of pethidine (10 mg/kg) failed to cause any significant reduction in licking activity in the early phase ( $F_{(1,18)} = 1.79$ , P = 0.2) and the late phase ( $F_{(1,18)} =$ 0.2, P = 0.66) of the formalin test (Fig. 4). Similarly, there was no significant reduction in time spent licking the injected paw in the early phase ( $F_{(1,18)} = 0.83$ , P = 0.37) and



Fig. 4: Antinociceptive effect of intraperitoneally administered pethidine (10, 20, 30 mg/kg) or vehicle on licking activity, after a subcutaneous injection of formalin in the hind paw, in the early and late phase of the formalin test (mean  $\pm$  s.e.m.; n = 10; F<sub>(1,18)</sub> = 1.79, 7.34, 6.85 and 0.2, 22.12, 23.51 for the early and late phase respectively: \*P< 0.05, \*\*\*P < 0.001, Student's t-test subsequent to ANOVA).



Fig. 5.: Effect of intraperitoneally administered pethidine (10, 20, Mg/kg) or vehicle on time spent licking the injected hind paw in the early and late phase of the formalin test (mean ± s.e.m.; n = 10;  $F_{(1,18)} = 0.83$ , 6.29, 8.06 and 0.07, 2.53, 22.48 for the early and late phase respectively; \*P< 0.05, \*\*\*P < 0.001, Student's test subsequent to ANOVA).

the late phase ( $F_{(1,18)} = 0.07$ , P = 0.79) of the formalin test (Fig 5). This data is summarized in Table 1.

#### 3.1.2 Codeine phosphate

Codeine (10 or 25 mg/kg) significantly reduced licking activity during the early phase (10 or 25 mg/kg:  $F_{(1,18)} =$ 4.58 and 7.99 respectively, P < 0.05). The reduction in the late phase was more significant (10 or 25 mg/kg:  $F_{(1,18)} =$ 10.35 and 9.51 respectively, P < 0.01) than that in the early phase (Table 2 and Fig. 6). In the early phase, 10 and 25 mg/kg-treated groups licked  $86.3 \pm 13.15$  and  $76.7 \pm 9.47$ respectively, whereas the controls had  $133.7 \pm 17.81$  licks. In the late phase, the mean number of licks were much lower in both 10 and 25 mg/kg-treated groups (57.3  $\pm$ 10.21 and  $64.86 \pm 6.73$  respectively) than the controls  $(118.03 \pm 15.88 \text{ licks})$ . Codeine (50 mg/kg) caused an even more significant reduction in the licking activity in the early phase (50 mg/kg:  $F_{(1,18)} = 36.13$ , P < 0.001)(Fig. 6) where the mean number of licks were much lower (20  $\pm$ 6.38) than in controls  $(133.7 \pm 17.81)$ . In the late phase, codeine (50 mg/kg) completely abolished the licking activity (50 mg/kg:  $F_{(1,18)} = 55.28$ , P < 0.001)(Fig.6).

The total time spent licking the injected right hind paw was less significant after codeine 10 mg/kg in both the early (41.3 ± 5.58 sec) and the late phase (32.41 ± 5.67 sec) [10 mg/kg:  $F_{(1,18)} = 4.58$ , P < 0.05 and 10.35, P < 0.01

Table 2: Number of licks and time spent licking the injected hind paw (mean  $\pm$  s.e.m.) after administration of vehicle or codeine (10, 25, 50 mg/kg) in the early and late phase of the formalin test.

Drug/Dose	Number of licks	Time spent licking the hind paw (sec)
Early phase		
Vehicle	133.7 ± 17.81	62. 64 ± 8
Codeine 10 mg/kg	86.3 ± 13.15*	41.3 ± 5.58*
25 mg/kg	76.7 ± 9.47*	39.66 ± 5.81*
50 mg/kg	20 ± 6.38***	10.77 ± 3.53***
Late phase		
Vehicle	118.03 ± 15.88	$61.28 \pm 7.76$
Codeine 10 mg/kg	57.3 ± 10.21**	32.41 ± 5.67**
25 mg/kg	64.86 ± 6.73**	33.61 ± 3.69**
50 mg/kg	0 ± 0***	0 ± 0***

Significant difference at P < 0.05.</li>
Significant difference at P < 0.01.</li>
Significant differrence at P < 0.001.</li>
Not statistically significant.

Student's 1-test subsequent to ANOVA.



Fig. 6.: Effect of intraperitoneally administered codeine (10, 25, 50 mg/kg) or vehicle on licking activity in the early and late phase of formalin test (mean  $\pm$  s.e.m.; n = 10; F<sub>(1,18)</sub> = 4.58, 7.99, 36.13 and 10.35, 9.51, 55.28 for the early and late phase respectively; P< 0.05,\*\*P <0.01,\*\*\*P < 0.001, Student's <u>t</u>-test subsequent to ANOVA).



If 7.: Effect of intraperitoneally administered codeine (10, 25, 50 mg/kg) or vehicle on time spent licking the injected hind paw in the early and late phase of the formalin test (mean  $\pm$  s.e.m.; n = 10;  $F_{(1,18)} = 4.58$ , 7.99, 36.13 and 10.35, 9.51, 55.28 for the early and phase respectively; \*P< 0.05,\*\*P <0.01,\*\*\*P < 0.001, Student's t-test subsequent to ANOVA).

respectively). Codeine (25 mg/kg) caused a reduction of the time spent licking the hind paw in both phases. The time spent licking in both phases was 39.66 ± 5.81 and 33.61 ± 3.69 sec respectively. The reduction was even more significant (25 mg/kg:  $F_{(1,18)} = 7.99$ , P < 0.05 and 9.51, P < 0.01 respectively) (Table 2 and Fig. 7). The controls spent 62.64 ± 8.0 sec licking in the early phase and 61.28 ± 7.76 sec in the late phase. Codeine (50 mg/kg) was even more effective (50 mg/kg:  $F_{(1,18)} = 36.13$ , P < 0.001) in reducing the time spent licking the injected hind paw in the early phase (10.77 ± 3.53 seconds). Codeine (50 mg/kg) completely abolished pain behaviour in the late phase (50 mg/kg:  $F_{(1,18)} = 55.28$ , P < 0.001) (Table 2 and Fig. 7).

# 3.1.3 Acetylsalicylic acid (ASA)

ASA (200, 400 or 600 mg/kg) did not cause any significant reduction in the number of licks and the time spent licking the injected hind paw in the early phase of the formalin test (Table 3 and Figs. 8 and 9).

ASA reduced the licking activity and the amount of <sup>time</sup> spent licking the injected hind paw in the late phase <sup>only</sup>. The mean number of licks in the 400 mg/kg injected <sup>group</sup> (78.59 ± 8.5) were significantly lower ( $F_{(1,18)} = 4.90$ , P <sup>< 0.05</sup>) than those of the controls (118.5 ± 15.9) (Table 3 <sup>and</sup> Fig. 8). Similarly, the amount of time spent licking the <sup>Injected</sup> hind paw was significantly less in the 400 mg/kg-

Table 3: Number of licks and time spent licking the injected hind paw (mean  $\pm$  s.e.m.) after administration of vehicle or ASA (200, 400, 600 mg/kg) in the early and late phase of the formalin test.

Drug/dose	Number of licks	Time spent licking the injected hind paw (sec)
Early phase		
Vehicle	150 ± 17.52	65.13 ± 8.52
ASA 200 mg/kg	122.7 ±13.78n.s.	60.37 ± 6.81n.s.
400 mg/kg	114.3 ±14.39n.s.	58.744 ± 8.17n.s.
600 mg/kg	110.8 ±15.13n.s.	56.92 ± 8.45n.s.
Late phase		
Vehicle	118.5 ±15.9	$82.47 \pm 14$
ASA 200 mg/kg	80.74 ±13.32n.s.	53.254 ± 8.19n.s.
400 mg/kg	78.59 ± 8.5*	51.82 ± 3.37*
600 mg/kg	34.99 ± 5.7***	$23.67 \pm 4.49^{***}$

Significant difference at P < 0.05.</li>
Significant differrence at P < 0.001.</li>
n.s. - Not statistically significant.
Student's <u>1</u>-test subsequent to ANOVA.



Fig. 8.: Effect of intraperitoneally administered ASA (200, 400, 600 mg/kg) or vehicle on licking activity in the early and late phase of the formalin test (mean  $\pm$  s.e.m.; n = 10; F<sub>(1,18)</sub> =0.23, 2.49, 2.88 and 3.316, 4.91, 24.46 for the early and late phase respectively; P< 0.05,\*\*\*P < 0.001, Student's t-test subsequent to ANOVA).



Fig. 9.: Effect of intraperitoneally administered ASA (200, 400, 600 mg/kg) or vehicle on time spent licking the injected hind paw in the early and late phase of the formalin test (mean  $\pm$  s.e.m.; n = 10; (1,18) = 0.19, 0.29, 0.47 and 3.25, 4.53, 15.99 for the early and late phase respectively; \*P< 0.05,\*\*\*P < 0.001, Student's <u>t</u>-test subsequent to ANOVA).

treated group (51.82 ± 3.37 seconds) than that by the controls (82.47 ± 14.00 seconds)(400 mg/kg:  $F_{(1,18)} = 4.53$ , P < 0.05)(Fig. 9). ASA (600 mg/kg) caused a more significant reduction in the licking activity and the time spent in the pain behaviour ( $F_{(1,18)} = 24.46$ , P < 0.001 and  $F_{(1,18)} = 15.99$ , P < 0.001 respectively)(Table 3, Figs. 8 and 9). The mean number of licks in the 600mg/kg treated-group (34.99 ± 5.70) were much fewer than those of the controls (118.5 ± 15.9). Similarly, they spent only 51.82 ± 3.37 seconds licking the injected hind paw whereas the controls spent 82.47 ± 14.00 seconds. The effect of ASA (200 mg/kg) failed to reach statistical significance (Table 3 and Figs. 8 and 9).

#### 3.1.4 Naproxen

Administration of naproxen (50, 100 or 200 mg/kg) failed to reduce licking activity and the time spent licking the injected hind paw to a significant level, in the early phase of the formalin test (Table 4, Figs. 10 and 11).

Naproxen 200 mg/kg reduced the licking activity  $(43.23 \pm 11.63)$  and the time spent licking the injected hind paw (28.23 \pm 8.09 seconds) to a significant level (200 mg/kg:  $F_{(1,18)} = 11.58$ , P < 0.05 and  $F_{(1,18)} = 4.88$ , P < 0.01 respectively). Naproxen (50 or 100 mg/kg) caused an insignificant reduction in the number of licks and the time

Table 4: Number of licks and time spent licking the injected hind paw (mean  $\pm$  s.e.m.) in vehicle- and naproxentreated animals in the early and late phase of the formalin test.

Drug/dose	Number of licks	Time spent licking the hind paw (sec)
Early phase		2.9 - 19.4 S.A.
Vehicle	$120.5 \pm 16.63$	59.33 ± 7.35
Naproxen 50 mg/kg	138 ± 18.55n.s	84.49 ± 11.95n.s.
100 mg/kg	136.7 ±18.83n.s	84.96 ± 12.35n.s.
200 mg/kg	109.8 ±17.58n.s.	72.98 ±14.37n.s.
Late phase		
vehicle	92.84 ± 8.79	48.48 ± 4.32
Naproxen 50 mg/kg	79.54 ± 9.94n.s.	48.42 ± 6.62n.s.
100 mg/kg	67.37 ± 11.63n.s.	46.84 ± 9.84n.s.
200 mg/kg	43.23 ±11.63 *	28.23 ± 8.09**

\*- Significant difference (P < 0.05).

" - Significant difference (P < 0.01).

n.s. - Not statistically significant. Student's  $\underline{t}$ -test subsequent to ANOVA.



Fig. 10.: Effect of intraperitoneally administered naproxen (50, 100, 200 mg/kg) or vehicle on licking activity in the early and late phase of the formalin test (mean  $\pm$  s.e.m.; n = 10; F<sub>(1,18)</sub> = 0.49, 0.42, 0.2 and 1.16, 2.36, 11.58 for the early and late phase respectively; \*\*P< 0.01, Student's <u>t</u>-test subsequent to ANOVA).



Fig. 11.: Effect of intraperitoneally administered naproxen (50, 100, 200 mg/kg) or vehicle on time spent licking the injected hind paw in the early and late phase of the formalin test (mean  $\pm$  s.e.m.; n = 10; F<sub>(1,18)</sub> = 3.22, 3.18, 0.72 and 5.2, 0.02, 4.88 for the early and late phase respectively; \*P< 0.05, Student's <u>t</u>-test subsequent to ANOVA).
spent licking the injected hind paw in the late phase of the formalin test (Table 4 and Figs. 10 and 11).

## 3.1.5 Hydrocortisone sodium succinate

Hydrocortisone (40, 75 or 150 mg/kg) failed to cause any reduction of pain behaviour in the naked mole-rats, in the early phase of the formalin test (Table 5, Figs. 12 and 13).

Hydrocortisone (75 or 150 mg/kg) significantly reduced the licking activity (75 or 150 mg/kg:  $F_{(1,18)} = 32.7$ , 41.55, P < 0.001) and the time spent in pain behaviour (75 and 150 mg/kg:  $F_{(1,18)} = 28.13$  or 33.84, P < 0.001), in the late phase of the formalin test (Table 5, Figs. 12 and 13). The controls had a mean of 102.4  $\pm$  10.88 licks. Hydrocortisone (75 or 150 mg/kg) reduced the number of licks to 33.03  $\pm$  5.37 and 18.59  $\pm$  7.13 respectively. Animals treated with hydrocortisone 75 or 150 mg/kg spent less time licking (19.2  $\pm$  3.27 or 11.45  $\pm$  4.60 sec respectively) than the controls (59.63  $\pm$  6.89 seconds.). Hydrocortisone (40 mg/kg) caused an insignificant reduction in licking in the late phase of the formalin test [Table 5, Figs. 12 and 13].

Table 5: Number of licks and time spent licking the injected hind paw (mean  $\pm$  s.e.m.) after injection of hydrocortisone (40, 75, 150 mg/kg) in the early and late phase of the formalin test.

Drug/dose	Number of licks	Time spent
Diug/dose	rumber of meas	lighter of the
		licking the
		hind paw (sec)
Early phase		
Vehicle	137.1 ± 18.97	74.51 ±11.047
Hydrocortisone 40 mg/kg	154.3 ±14.86n.s.	83.18 ± 9.6n.s.
75 mg/kg	122.2 ±15.68n.s.	66.66 ± 9.07n.s.
150 mg/kg	131.6 ±16.06n.s.	73.6 ± 8.97n.s.
Late phase		
Vehicle	$102.4 \pm 10.88$	59.63 ± 6.89
Hydrocortisone 40mg/kg	73.11 ±13.1n.s.	43.22 ± 7.79n.s.
75mg/kg	33.73 ± 5.37***	19.2 ± 3.27***
150 mg/kg	18.59 ± 7.12***	$11.45 \pm 4.6^{***}$

. . .

•••• - Significant differrence at P < 0.001. n.s. - Not statistically significant. Student's <u>t</u>-test subsequent to ANOVA.



Fig. 12.: Effect of intraperitoneally administered hydrocortisone (40, 75, 150 mg/kg) or vehicle on licking activity in the early and late phase of the formalin test (mean  $\pm$  s.e.m.; n = 10; F<sub>(1,18)</sub> = 0.51, 0.37, 0.05 and 2.96, 32.7, 41.55 for the early and late phase respectively; \*\*\*P< 0.001, Student's t-test subsequent to ANOVA).



Fig. 13.: Effect of intraperitoneally administered hydrocortisone (40, 75, 150 mg/kg) or vehicle on time spent licking the injected hind paw in the early and late phase of the formalin test (mean  $\pm$  s.e.m.; n = 10; F<sub>(1,18)</sub> = 0.35, 0.30, 0.00 and 2.49, 28.13, 33.84 for the early and late phase respectively; \*\*\*P< 0.001, Student's <u>t</u>-test subsequent to ANOVA).

### **3.1.6 Dexamethasone phosphate**

Dexamethasone (10, 20 or 30 mg/kg) had an insignificant effect on the licking activity and the time spent licking the hind paw in the early phase of the formalin test (Table 6, Figs. 14 and 15).

The higher dose of dexamethasone (30 mg/kg) caused a significant ( $F_{(1,18)} = 81.98$  and 36.39 respectively, P < 0.001) reduction of licking activity (15.93 ± 4.66) and the time spent licking the injected hind paw (7.19 ± 2.13 sec) in the late phase (Figs. 14 and 15). Dexamethasone (10 and 20 mg/kg) had an insignificant effect on the pain behaviour in the late phase (Table 6, Figs. 14 and 15).

The time-course of the effects of dexamethasone (20 and 30 mg/kg) were studied over a 2 hour observation period. The effects of these two doses on licking activity and the time spent in pain behaviour in this experiment are summarized in Figs. 16 and 17. There was a clear dosedependent reduction in the licking activity in the late phase. Administration of dexamethasone (20 mg/kg) tended to cause an elevation of licking activity and time spent in pain behaviour. Dexamethasone (30 mg/kg) caused a reduction in licking activity and time spent licking the injected hind paw during the first 90 mins after which there was an increase up to the end of the 120 min observation period. There was no overall significant difference between the dexamethasone-treated groups (20

Table 6: Number of licks and time spent licking the injected hind paw (mean  $\pm$  s.e.m.) after administration of dexamethasone (10, 20, 30 mg/kg) in the early and late phase of the formalin test.

Drug/dose	Number of licks	Time spent licking the injected hind paw (sec)
Early phase		
Vehicle	$112 \pm 9.97$	55.24 ± 8.47
Dexamethasone 10 mg/kg	105.9 ± 10.04n.s.	64.13 ± 9.714n.s.
20 mg/kg	135.9 ± 13.93n.s.	64.73 ± 8.26n.s.
30 mg/kg	103.9 ± 16.64n.s.	55.95 ± 9.56n.s.
Late phase		
Vehicle	$101.04 \pm 8.16$	$68.48 \pm 9.94$
Dexamethasone 10 mg/kg	132.77 ±15.9n.s.	59.25 ± 5.02n.s.
20 mg/kg	94 ± 20.78n.s.	52.87 ±12.60n.s.
30 mg/kg	15.93 ± 4.66***	7.19 ± 2.13***

••• - Significant differrence at P < 0.001.

n.s. - Not statistically significant. Student's <u>t</u>-test subsequent to ANOVA.



Fig. 14.: Effect of intraperitoneally administered dexamethasone [10, 20, 30 mg/kg] or vehicle on licking activity in the early and late phase of the formalin test (mean  $\pm$  s.e.m.; n = 10; F<sub>(1,18)</sub> = 0.82, 1.95, 0.17 and 2.59, 0.1, 81.98 for the early and late phase respectively; \*\*\*P< 0.001, Student's <u>t</u>-test subsequent to ANOVA).



Fig. 15.: Effect of intraperitoneally administered dexamethasone (10, 20, 30 mg/kg) or vehicle on time spent licking the injected hind paw in the early and late phase of the formalin test (mean  $\pm$  s.e.m.; n = 10;  $F_{(1,18)} = 1.1$ , 8.23, 35.22 and 0.69, 0.95, 36.39 for the early and late phase respectively; \*\*\*P< 0.001, Student's <u>t</u>-test subsequent to ANOVA).

Table 7: Number of licks and time spent licking the injected hind paw (mean  $\pm$  s.e.m.) after administration of dexamethasone (20, 30 mg/kg) in the early and late phase of the formalin test.

Drug/dose	Number of licks	Time spent licking the injected hind paw (sec)		
Early phase				
Vehicle	115.4 ± 19.81	63.76 ± 12.49		
Dexamethasone 20 mg/kg	123.4 ± 25.83n.s.	69.79 ± 13.9n.s.		
30 mg/kg	106 ± 30n.s.	56.95 ± 17.03n.s		
Late phase				
Vehicle	154.22 ± 13.7n.s.	154.22 ± 13.77n.s		
Dexamethasone 20 mg/kg	174.27 ± 22.5n.s.	174.27 ± 2.58n.s		
30 mg/kg	$121.2 \pm 22.82$ n.s.	121.18 ± 22.81n.s		

n.s. - Not statistically significant. Student's <u>t</u>-test subsequent to ANOVA.



Fig. 16.: Effect of intraperitoneally administered dexamethasone (20, 30 mg/kg) on licking activity in the formalin test (mean  $\pm$  s.e.m.; n = 5; \*P< 0.05,\*\*P <0.01; Student's <u>t</u>-test subsequent to ANOVA). Each point represents the total number of licks during a 5 minute observation period. The animals were observed for 2 h.



Fig. 17.: Time-course of paw-licking after a subcutaneous injection of 20  $\mu$ l of 10% formalin into the dorsal right hind paw (mean ± s.e.m.; n = 5; \*P< 0.05,\*\*P <0.01; Student's <u>t</u>-test subsequent to ANOVA). Each point represents the amount of time the animals spent licking the injected hind paw during a 5 minute observation period. The animals were observed for 2 h.



Fig. 18.: Effect of intraperitoneally administered dexamethasone (20, 30 mg/kg) or vehicle on licking activity in the early and late phase of the formalin test. In this and Fig. 19, the animals were observed for 2 h.



Fig. 19.: Effect of intraperitoneally administered dexamethasone (20, 30 mg/kg) or vehicle on time spent licking the injected hind paw in the early and late phase of the formalin test.

and 30 mg/kg) and the controls in both the early and the late phase over the 2 hour observation period (Table7, Figs. 18 and 19).

### 3.2 Agonistic and hyperactive behaviour

After intraperitoneal injection of the 2 opioids, pethidine hydrochloride and codeine phosphate, behavioural changes were observed. These behavioural changes were systematically studied. No behavioural changes were observed after administration of ASA, naproxen, hydrocortisone sodium succinate or dexamethasone phosphate.

## 3.2.1 Agonistic and hyperactive behaviour induced by pethidine hydrochloride

The behavioural changes observed after injection of pethidine are summarized in Table 8. In all naked mole-rats treated with 30 mg/kg pethidine, an initial depression, characterized by hypoactivity, was observed. It started 10 minutes after the intraperitoneal injection of pethidine and lasted for 15-30 minutes. The period of hypoactivity was followed by excitation that was observed up to the end of the 60 min observation period. Table 8: Effect of intraperitoneal pethidine alone or pethidine + naloxone on behaviour and mortality in the naked mole-rat.

Drug	No.	Cage	Fighting	Wounded	Dead	Behaviour
Vehicle	10	colony	0	0	0	normal
Pethidine						
10mg/kg	10	colony	0	0	0	excited
						hyperactive
						hypersensitive
10mg/kg	10	single	-	80	0	excited
						hyperactive
						hypersensitive
20mg/kg	10	colony	4	4	0	excited
						hyperactive
						hypersensitive
						aggressive
						motor
						impairment
20mg/kg	10	single	-	-	0	excited
						hyperactive
÷						hypersensitive
						motor
	10		1.0			impairment
30mg/kg	10	colony	10	10	1	excited
						hyperactive
						nypersensitive
						aggressive
						inotor
30mg/kg	10	cingle			0	impairment
Joonig/ kg	10	single	-	~	0	excited
						hyperactive
						mypersensitive
						impairment
Pethidine	10x3	colony	0	0	0	normal
(10.20/30)	1070	colony	Ŭ	V		invinai
mg/kg +						
naloxone						
(2mg/kg)						

In colony cages, the animals were hyperactive and this was characterized by increased mobility and vocalization. Hypersensitivity to any kind of mild stimulation was also observed and was characterized by jumping, running, vocalization and aggression. The animals were aggressive and most of the time, faced each other in a threatening position, and attacked each other with their teeth, causing small wounds. Table 9 and Fig. 20 show the number of skin lesions counted on the bodies of these naked mole-rats at the end of the 18 h observation period. Animals treated with pethidine (30 mg/kg) had more skin lesions (32.8 lesions) than those injected with 20 mg/kg pethidine (7.3 lesions). The animals injected with pethidine (20 or 30 mg/kg) + naloxone (2 mg/kg) had no lesions at all. All naked mole-rats treated with pethidine 30 mg/kg participated in vigorous fighting while only 4 in those injected with 20 mg/kg fought. 7 mole-rats in the colony cages receiving pethidine (30 mg/kg) were dead 18 h after the injection.

Naked mole-rats injected with pethidine (10, 20 or 30 mg/kg) and housed in single cages, showed hypersensitivity and motor hyperkinesis. None of these animals died during a further 14 day observation period.

Injection of 20 or 30 mg/kg of pethidine also induced extensor rigidity. The rigidity started 3-11 minutes after drug administration and lasted for 1/2-1 min. This extensor Table 9: Number of skin lesions counted from colony caged naked mole-rats, 18 h after injection of pethidine alone or pethidine + naloxone.

Mole-rat no.	Drug/dose	Alive/dead	No. of skin
	(mg/kg)		lesions
1	Pethidine 20	Alive	2
2	Pethidine 20	Alive	8
3	Pethidine 20	Alive	17
4	Pethidine 20	Alive	8
5	Pethidine 20	Alive	3
6	Pethidine 20	Alive	1
7	Pethidine 20	Alive	12
8	Pethidine 20	Alive	2
9	Pethidine 20	Alive	4
10	Pethidine 20	Alive	16
1.	Pethidine 30	Dead	46
2	Pethidine 30	Dead	42
3	Pethidine 30	Dead	30
4	Pethidine 30	Dead	35
5	Pethidine 30	Dead	41
6	Pethidine 30	Dead	53
7	Pethidine 30	Dead	45
8	Pethidine 30	Alive	14
9	Pethidine 30	Alive	13
10	Pethidine 30	Alive	9
1 - 10	Pethidine 20 or	Alive	0
	30 + naloxone 2		



Pethidine hydrochloride (20/30 mg/kg) + naloxone hydrochloride (2 mg/kg)

Fig. 20.: Number of skin lesions counted from colony caged naked mole-rats 18 h after injection of pethidine alone (20 or 30 mg/kg) or pethidine + naloxone. (mean  $\pm$  s.e.m.; n = 10; F<sub>(1,18)</sub> = 15.08 and 43.86 respectively; \*\*P <0.01, \*\*\*P < 0.001, Student's t-test subsequent to ANOVA).

rigidity was followed by a period of muscle flaccidity which lasted for 1/2-1 min and was characterized by immobility and sprawling of the animal on the floor of the cage. Thereafter, complete recovery was attained. During the period of extensor rigidity, the animals also had tremors particularly of the neck muscles, backward treading and finally, loss of balance. The frequency and duration of this motor impairment was dose-dependent. It was more frequent at a dosage of 30 mg/kg where it recurred 3-4 times at short intervals (about 5-7 minutes), whereas in animals that were injected with 20 mg/kg, it occured only 1-2 times. Rigidity was not observed after administration of the lower dose of pethidine (10 mg/kg).

Administration of naloxone (2 mg/kg) clearly reversed aggressive behaviour, hyperactivity, hypersensitivity and motor impairment observed after injection of 10, 20 and 30 mg/kg pethidine. The animals appeared more normal than those recieving pethidine alone.

# 3.2.2 Agonistic and hyperactive behaviour induced by <sup>codeine</sup> phosphate

The behavioural changes observed after administration of codeine are summarized in Table 10. These behavioural <sup>changes</sup> are similar to those observed after administration of pethidine (10, 20 or 30 mg/kg). In colony cages, after <sup>injection</sup> of codeine phosphate (25 or 50 mg/kg) the

Drug	No.	Cage	Fighting	Wounded	Dead	Behaviour
Vehicle	10	colony	0	0	0	Normal
Codeine						
10mg/kg	10	colony	0	0	0	excited hyperactive hypersensitive
10mg/kg	10	single			0	excited hyperactive hypersensitive
25mg/kg	10	colony	10	7	0	excited hyperactive hypersensitive aggressive motor impairment
25mg/kg	10	single			0	excited hyperactive hypersensitive
50mg/kg	10	colony	10	10	1	excited hyperactive hypersensitive aggressive motor impairment
50mg/kg	10	single		-	0	excited hyperactive hypersensitive motor impairment
codeine (10,20/30) mg/kg + naloxone (2mg/kg)	10x3	colony	0	0	0	normal

Table 10: Effect of codeine alone or codeine + naloxone onbehaviour and mortality in the naked mole-rat.

animals were hyperkinetic and hypersensitive and most of the time, faced each other in a threatening position. They also inflicted small wounds particularly on the muzzles of others with their teeth. Table 11 and Fig. 21 show the number of skin lesions counted on the bodies of naked mole-rats at the end of the 18 h observation period. The average count (9.4 lesions) was higher in the animals receiving codeine (50 mg/kg) than in those receiving codeine (25 mg/kg) (1.6 lesions). The animals injected with codeine (25 or 50 mg/kg) + naloxone (2 mg/kg) had no lesions at all. All naked mole-rats treated with codeine (25 or 50 mg/kg) in the colony cages participated in moderate fighting. 18 h after codeine administration, only 1 mole-rat in the colony cage receiving codeine (50 mg/kg) was dead. The animals injected with codeine (10 mg/kg) did not participate in fighting at all.

Naked mole-rats injected with codeine (10, 25 or 50 mg/kg) and housed in single cages, were hypersensitive and hyperactive. None of the animals died during a further 14-day observation period.

Injection of codeine (50 mg/kg) also induced extensor rigidity but in only 4 animals. The rigidity started 25-50 min after drug administration and lasted for 1/2-1 min. The <sup>rigidity</sup> was followed by a period of muscle flaccidity which lasted for 1/2-1 min and thereafter, complete recovery. During the period of extensor rigidity, the animal also had tremors particularly of the neck muscles, backward Table 11: Number of skin lesions counted from colony caged nakedmole-rats 18 h after injection of codeine alone or codeine + naloxone.

Mole-rat no.	Drug/dose Alive/dead		No. of skin
	(mg/kg)		lesions
1	Codeine 25	Alive	2
2	Codeine 25	Alive	0
3	Codeine 25	Alive	2
4	Codeine 25	Alive	1
5	Codeine 25	Alive	4
6	Codeine 25	Alive	1
7	Codeine 25	Alive	2
8	Codeine 25	Alive	0
9	Codeine 25	Alive	0
10	Codeine 25	Alive	4
1	Codeine 50	Alive	9
2	Codeine 50	Alive	1
3	Codeine 50	Alive	18
4	Codeine 50	Alive	7
5	Codeine 50	Alive	4
6	Codeine 50	Alive	6
7	Codeine 50	Alive	11
8	Codeine 50	Alive	12
9	Codeine 50	Dead	23
10	Codeine 50	Alive	3
1 - 10	Codeine 25 or	Alive	0
	50 + naloxone 2		



Fig. 21.: Number of skin lesions counted from colony caged naked mole-rats 18 h after injection of codeine alone (25 or 50 mg/kg) or codeine + naloxone (mean  $\pm$  s.e.m.; n = 10;  $F_{(1,18)} = 11.29$  and 18.65 respectively; \*\*P <0.01,\*\*\*P < 0.001, Student's t-test subsequent to ANOVA).

treading and finally, loss of balance. The rigidity occured only once in each of the affected animals and was not observed in animals receiving codeine (10 and 25 mg/kg).

Naloxone hydrochloride (2 mg/kg) reversed aggressive behaviour, hypersensitivity, hyperkinesis and motor impairment observed after codeine (10, 25 or 50 mg/kg). The animals appeared more normal than those receiving codeine phosphate alone.

### **CHAPTER 4**

## **4.0 Discussion**

#### 4.1 The formalin test

The present study demonstrates that the formalin test is a valid and reliable model of pain in the naked mole-rat. The test is easy to perform, though some precautions are necessary in order to obtain satisfactory results. Silence in the test room is necessary to prevent stress-induced analgesia (an increase in pain threshold following exposure to stressful events). Since these animals are almost blind, their other senses may be very well developed and so, even minimal disturbances could cause stress-induced analgesia. Stress-induced analgesia has been reported to occur in rats under many stressful conditions like exposure to non-noxious stimuli (cold water) (Bodner et al., 1978), food deprivation (Spiaggia et al., 1977) and noxious stimuli like electric foot shocks (Madden et al., 1977), and i.p. injection of hypertonic saline (Hayes et al., 1978). Stress-induced analgesia is thought to occur due to activation of endogenous pain-control mechanisms (Bodner et al., 1978; Madden et al., 1977). It is therefore important to minimize stress in the naked mole-rats as this may interfere with the experimental results and increase the intra- and inter-Individual variability.

Minimal restraint was used during drug injections. The animals moved freely during the observation period. Perhaps, increasing the frequency of handling of these animals during the acclimatization period, and increasing the duration of adaptation to the observation chamber for about an hour would also minimize variability of the results.

Only one response was monitored in the formalin test; licking of the injected right hind paw. During preliminary studies, hind paw licking gave more consistent results than licking of the fore paw, because of less interference by the normal grooming behaviour. Scoring fore paw licking (Dubuisson and Dennis, 1977) is less reliable than hind paw licking (Hunskaar *et al.*, 1985a; 1986; Hunskaar and Hole, 1987; Hunskaar, 1987b; Shibata *et al.*, 1989). Hind paw licking was chosen for use in the naked mole-rat during these experiments.

In preliminary experiments, concentrations less than 10% were found to induce the early phase only. In the present study, a formalin concentration of 10% in 0.9% NaCl was used. This was the lowest concentration that induced both the early and the late phase. No adverse effects were observed on the animals when 10% formalin was used. In other rodents, substantially lower concentrations of formalin have been used to induce both the early and the late phase; in mice, 1% and 0.5% (Hunskaar *et al.*, 1986; Hunskaar and Hole, 1987; Shibata *et al.*, 1989) in rats, 5% [Dubuisson and Dennis, 1977].

Recently, Rosland *et al.*, (1990) examined the effect of different formalin concentrations on the pain response in mice and recommended concentrations of 0.05-0.2% for inducing the early phase and concentrations of 1% or higher for inducing the late phase. In this study, a 10% concentration induced both the early and late phase with negligible suffering. The naked mole-rat may have a much higher pain threshold than the other rodents, since a much stronger noxious chemical stimulus was needed to induce the licking response. Perhaps the receptors are more inaccessible.

Subcutaneous injection of 20  $\mu$ l of formalin into the dorsal right hind paw produced two periods of high pain behaviour, the early and the late phase. This is in agreement with that reported in earlier studies, but using different concentrations and volumes of formalin, in rats and cats (Dubuisson and Dennis, 1977), mice (Hunskaar *et al.*, 1985a; Hunskaar *et al.*, 1986; Hunskaar and Hole, 1987; Hunskaar, 1987b; Shibata *et al.*, 1989) and in monkeys (Alreja *et al.*, 1984).

The early phase lasted from 0-5 min in the naked mole-rats and this is similar to that reported in other species (Dubuisson and Dennis, 1977; Alreja et al., 1984; Hunskaar et al., 1985a; Hunskaar et al., 1986; Hunskaar and Hole, 1987; Hunskaar, 1987b; Shibata et al., 1989). The onset of the late phase was delayed and the duration longer than that described in the rat and cat (Dubuisson and Dennis, 1977), mouse (Hunskaar et al., 1985a; Hunskaar et al., 1986; Hunskaar and Hole, 1987; Hunskaar, 1987b; Shibata et al., 1989) and in the monkey (Alreja et al., 1984). The late phase in the naked mole-rat started 25 min after the injection of formalin whereas in the other species it started after 15-20 min, Furthermore, the late phase in the naked mole-rat could be demonstrated upto 120 min whereas in the other species it lasted <sup>60</sup> min. This suggests that in the naked mole-rat, the Inflammatory process (acute inflammation) is slightly delayed and is of a longer duration.

The early phase may be due to a direct excitation of nociceptors (Dubuisson and Dennis, 1977) while the late phase may be due to inflammation (Dubuisson and Dennis, 1977; Hunskaar *et al.*, 1985a; Hunskaar *et al.*, 1986; Hunskaar and Hole, 1987; Hunskaar, 1987b; Shibata *et al.*, 1989). Substance P and bradykinin may participate in the initiation of the early phase response while the inflammatory mediators such as histamine, serotonin, prostaglandine and bradykinin may be involved in the late phase (Shibata *et al.*, 1989). However, the mechanisms are still not clear.

The delay in inflammation may be due to slow inflammatory processes in these naked mole-rats. Since inflammatory pain is thought to be due to stimulation of chemoreceptors by inflammatory mediators such as PGs (Ferreira, 1982), the delay may be due to a slow release of PGs and other mediators, e.g., bradykinin and histamine. The effects of PGE<sub>1</sub> and PGE<sub>2</sub> are cumulative and sustained (Ferreira, 1982). Thus, continuous generation of minute amounts of PGs at the site of injury will sensitize the nerves so that mechanical stimulation and mediators of inflammation such as bradykinin and histamine cause pruritus or Pain (Ferreira, 1982). The mechanisms of inflammation in the naked mole-rat need to be further investigated, particularly using microscopy to understand the cellular changes that take place during the inflammatory process.

An increase in ambient temperature has been demonstrated to <sup>influence</sup> the late phase of the formalin test. The intensity and <sup>duration</sup> of pain behaviour increased as ambient temperature rose <sup>irom</sup> 20 to 28°C (Rosland, 1991). It is not known to what extent

changes in ambient temperature influence pain behaviour in the naked mole-rat. This needs to be investigated.

## 4.2 Effects of narcotic analgesics and antiinflammatory drugs in the formalin test

In the present study, pethidine and codeine induced significant analgesia during both the early and the late phase. These results are in agreement to those published earlier (Dubuisson and Dennis, 1977; Hunskaar *et al.*, 1985a; Hunskaar *et al.*, 1986; Hunskaar and Hole, 1987; Hunskaar, 1987b; Shibata *et al.*, 1989). The doses required for effect in the naked mole-rat were much higher than those used in the other species. A faster biotransformation and excretion rate of these drugs may explain the higher doses required in the naked mole-rat. The pharmacodynamic and pharmacokinetic properties of drugs in the naked mole-rat need to be further investigated.

In an earlier study using the hot-plate test in the naked molerat, analgesia by morphine could not be demonstrated (Kanui and Hole, 1990). It was suggested that the opioid system of these animals was not involved in the regulation of nociception. However, during this study, very significant analgesia was demonstrated using the formalin test. This suggests that the opioid system of the naked mole-rat is indeed involved in the <sup>regulation</sup> of both acute and chronic pain. These results also further suggest that the formalin test is more sensitive and <sup>superior</sup> to the hot-plate test as a test of nociception. The analgesic effects could be mediated by central opiate receptors,

probably the  $\mu$  and  $\delta$  (Yaksh, 1987; Cotton *et al.*, 1984; Portoghese and Takemori, 1985). It is not as yet clear why anti-nociception by morphine could not be observed in the earlier study (Kanui and Hole, 1990).

The two non-steroidal antiinflammatory drugs, ASA and naproxen, significantly reduced pain behaviour in the late phase only, in the naked mole-rat. These results are as expected since these drugs inhibit inflammation by inhibiting the synthesis of prostaglandins (Vane, 1971), an important mediator of inflammation. Thus, in the naked-mole rat, ASA only seems to have an antiinflammatory effect. In other rodents, however, the effect of ASA in the early phase of the formalin test are contradictory. Shibata et al., (1989) reported no effect of ASA in the early phase in mice while Hunskaar et al., (1985a; 1986; 1987b) described inhibitory effects in the early phase in mice, suggesting a central site of action of ASA. A central site of action by ASA has indeed been shown in several studies (Ferreira et al., 1978; Yaksh and Hammond, 1982; Ferreira, 1983; Shyu et al., 1984; Chiu and Richardson, 1985). Like pethidine and codeine the doses used were much higher than those used in other rodent species. This could be explained also by an increase in biotransformation and excretion of these drugs, in the naked mole-rat. This also needs further investigation.

The two steroidal antiinflammatory drugs, hydrocortisone and dexamethasone significantly inhibited the late phase only. This is again as was expected since these drugs inhibit the enzyme phopholipase  $A_2$  and thus inhibit synthesis of multiple inflammatory mediators (Nijkamp *et al.*, 1976; Blackwell *et al.*,

120

UNIVERSITY OF NAIROB

1978). The results described are in agreement with earlier results published for other rodent species. The effect of dexamethasone on pain-induced behaviour in the late phase persisted upto 90 min. This was however not statistically significant. The doses used in this study are much higher than in other species. Biotransformation and excretion is probably much faster in the naked mole-rat. When the two steroidal antiinflammatory drugs were compared, the analgesic effect of hydrocortisone was more potent than that of dexamethasone in the naked mole-rat contrary to what has been reported in the literature for other species (Goth, 1974). Perhaps this can be explained by differences in biotransformation in the different animals for these steroids.

### 4.3 Agonistic and hyperactive behaviour

Administration of ASA, naproxen, hydrocortisone and dexamethasone did not induce agonistic or hyperactive behaviour nor did they induce motor impairment in the naked mole-rat. Pethidine and codeine, however, induced agonistic behaviour, hypersensitivity, hyperactivity and motor impairment. This is in agreement with an earlier study in which morphine was administered (Kanui and Hole, 1990).

The higher doses of pethidine (20 and 30 mg/kg) and codeine (50 mg/kg) initially induced depression characterized by hypoactivity, which disappeared with time and was followed by hyperactive behaviour. The low doses of these drugs produced motor hyperkinesis and hypersensitivity to mild stimulation. These biphasic responses are comparable to those reported in other

animal species (Martin *et al.*, 1963; Vasko and Domino, 1978; Mucha *et al.*, 1981; Numan and Lal, 1981; Bartoletti *et al.*, 1983; Jorenby *et al.*, 1988).

The basis of the initial depression observed is not clear. Hyperactivity, hyperkinesis and hypersensitivity may be due to activation of an excitatory opiate receptor subtype (Geller *et al.*, 1983; Jorenby *et al.*, 1988).

Perhaps, the agonistic behaviour observed, characterized by fighting of colony caged mole-rats, after pethidine and codeine administration was due to a memory impairment caused by these opiates (Gaungher and Kapp, 1978; Castellano *et al.*, 1984). The animals probably failed to recognize one another and appeared strangers, hence the fights. A decrease in emotionality has been thought to account for morphine-induced memory impairment in rodents (Gaungher and Kapp, 1978; Castellano *et al.*, 1984).

It is difficult to pin-point, at this juncture, the specific opiate receptor that is involved in the behavioral effects observed. Probably, the  $\mu$  and  $\delta$  receptors could be involved (Lord *et al.*, 1977; Frenk *et al.*, 1978), since the behaviour was naloxone reversible. However, the  $\mu$  opiate receptor subtype is the most likely to be the receptor involved since low doses of naloxone were used, and  $\delta$  receptors are more difficult to antagonize with naloxone (Frenk *et al.*, 1978). Extensor rigidity only occured after high doses of pethidine and codeine. These seizures could also be mediated through the  $\mu$  opioid receptor since they were easily reversed by naloxone (Frenk *et al.*, 1978). Thus, the behavioral effects observed could be mediated by the  $\mu$  opiate receptor

subtype, probably the  $\mu_2$ . Studies using more specific receptor antagonists are needed to reveal the specific receptor subtype involved.

The sites of action of pethidine and codeine in the naked molerat are not known. More studies are required to determine the exact sites of action of these drugs. Opiate receptors are widely distributed in the brain (Kuhar et al., 1973; Kuhar and Atweh, 1977) but are very highly concentrated in the limbic system (Simon and Hiller, 1978). The limbic system has been strongly implicated in the control of emotional behaviour. A direct excitatory action of pethidine and codeine on opiate receptors, located in the limbic system of these animals may induce agonistic behaviour. It is also likely that other brain areas may be involved in mediating the behavioral effects observed. The effect of the opiates could have been mediated via other neurotransmitters (Deakin and Dostrovsky, 1978; Yaksh, 1979; Proudfit and Hammond, 1981; Berge et al., 1983; Kuraishi et al., 1983). Specifically, acetylcholine (Vasko and Domino, 1978), serotonin (Basbaum et al., 1973), dopamine (Stewart and Vezina, 1987) or noradrenaline (Booth, 1988) neurotransmission could have been affected by the opioids.

The deaths observed in the colony cages could not have been due to toxicity of the drugs used, since quite low doses as compared to those that are known to cause toxicity in mice (221-311 mg/kg) (Booth, 1988) were used. Furthermore, all animals in single cages survived. Deaths were probably due to haemorrhage, asphyxia, and fatigue following the fights.

## 4.4 Conclusions

This study investigated in the naked mole-rat, the effects of pethidine hydrochloride, codeine phosphate, acetylsalicylic acid, naproxen, hydrocortisone sodium succinate and dexamethasone phosphate, using the formalin test. The results have led to the following conclusions:

1. Subcutaneous injection of 20  $\mu$ l of 10% formalin into the dorsal right hind paw induced two phases of high pain behaviour (licking and biting), the early and late phase. The early phase lasted 0-5 min whereas the late phase started 25-30 min after formalin injection and was demonstrated upto 120 min.

2. The onset of the late phase was slightly delayed (25-30 min after formalin injection) and the duration was long (upto 120 min). The delay in onset may have been due to a slow inflammatory process in the naked mole-rat. More investigations are needed to elucidate further the inflammatory process in the naked mole-rat.

3. The centrally acting narcotic analgesics, pethidine and codeine, induced strong, dose-dependent analgesia in both the early and late phase of the formalin test.

4. In the naked mole-rat, pethidine and codeine administration induced hyperkinesis, hypersensitivity, motor impairment and agonistic behaviour, perhaps via the activation of excitatory opioid receptor subtypes.

5. The non-steroidal antiinflammatory drugs (ASA and <sup>n</sup>aproxen) and the steroidal antiinflammatory drugs

(hydrocortisone and dexamethasone) supressed licking activity in only the late phase of the formalin test. These drugs are effective against inflammatory pain in the naked mole-rat.

6. The naked mole-rat has anti-nociceptive systems that can be stimulated by the analgesic and antiinflammatory drugs used in this study.

#### REFERENCES

- Adriaensen, H.J., Gybels, J., Handwerker, H.O. and Van Hees, J. (1983). Response properties of thin myelinated (A-δ) fibers in human skin nerves. J. Neurophysiol., 49: 111-122.
- Adrian, E. and Zotterman, Y. (1926). The impulses produced by sensory nerve endings. Part III. Impulses set up by touch and pressure. J. Physiol., 61: 465-483.
- Akil, H. and Liebeskind, J.C. (1975). Monoaminergic mechanisms of stimulation-produced analgesia. *Brain Res.*, 94: 279-296.
- Akil, H. and Mayer, D.J. (1972). Antagonism of stimulationproduced analgesia by PCPA, a serotonin synthesis inhibitor. Brain Res., 44, 692-697.
- Albe-Fessard, D., Levante, A. and L'Amour, Y. (1974). Origin of spino-thalamic tract in monkeys. *Brain Res.*, 65: 503-509.
- Allende, J.E. (1988). GTP-mediated macromolecular interactions: the common features of different systems. *FASNEB J.*, 2: 2356-2367.
- Alreja, M., Pradeep, M., Nayar, U. and Manchanda, S.K. (1984). The formalin test: a tonic pain model in the primate. *Pain*, 20: 97-105.
- Amassian, V.E. (1951). Fiber groups and spinal pathways of cortically represented visceral afferents. J. Neurophysiol., 14: 445-460.
- Anden, N.E., Carlsson, A., Hillarp, N.A., and Magnusson, T. (1964). 5-HT release by nerve stimulation of spinal cord. *Life Sci.*, 3: 473-478.
- Andersen, P., Eccles, J.C. and Sears, T.A. (1964e). Cortically evoked depolarization of primary afferent fibers in the spinal cord. J. Neurophysiol., 27: 63-77.
- Anderson, F.D. and Berry, C.M. (1959). Degeneration studies of long ascending fiber systems in the cat brain stem. J. Comp. Neurol., 111: 195-229.
- Angaut-Petit, D. (1975a). The dorsal column system. I. Existence of long ascending postsynaptic fibers in the cat's fasciculus gracilis. *Exp. Brain Res.*, 22: 457-470.
- Angaut-Petit, D. (1975b). The dorsal column system. II. Functional properties and bulbar relay of the postsynaptic fibers of the cat's fasciculus gracilis. *Exp. Brain Res.*, 22: 471-493.
- Ankier, S.I. (1974). New hot-plate tests to quantify anti-nociceptive
and narcotic antagonist activities. *Eur. J. Pharmacol.*, 27: 1-4.

- Applebaum, A.E., Beall, J.E., Foreman, R.D. and Willis, W.D. (1975). Organization and receptive fields of primate spinothalamic tract neurones. J. Neurophysiol., 38: 572-586.
- Barker, D.G., Coleridge, H.M., Coleridge, J.C.G. and Nerdrum, T. (1980). A search for a cardiac nociceptor: stimulation by bradykinin of sympathetic afferent nerve endings in the heart of the cat. J. Physiol., 306: 519-536.
- Barker, J.L., and Levitan, H. (1971). Salicylate: effect on membrane permeability of molluscan neurones. *Science*, 172: 1245-1247.
- Barker, J.L., Neale, J.H., Smith, T.J., Jr. and Macdonald, R.L. (1978). Opiate peptide modulation of amino acid responses suggests novel form of neuronal communication. *Science*, 199: 1451-1453.
- Bartoletti, M., Gaiardi, M., Gubellini, G., Bacchi, A. and Babbini, M. (1983). Long term sensitization to the excitatory effects of morphine: a motility study in postdependent rats. *Neuropharmacol.*, 22: 1193-1196.
- Basbaum, A.I., Clanton, C.H. and Fields, H.L. (1978). Three bulbospinal pathways from the rostral medulla of the cat: an autoradiographic study of pain modulating systems. J. Comp. Neurol., 178: 209-224.
- Basbaum, A.I. and Fields, H.L. (1977). The dorso-lateral funiculus of the spinal cord: a major route for descending brain stem control. *Neurosci. Abst.*, 3: 499.
- Basbaum, D.M., Yarborough, G.G. and Carter, M.E. (1973). Biogenic amines and narcotic effects. I. Modification of morphineinduced analgesia and motor activity after alteration of cerebral amine levels. J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther., 185: 317-327.
- Beck, P.W., Handwerker, H.O. and Zimmermann, M. (1974). Nervous outflow from the cat's foot pad during noxious radiant heat stimulation. *Brain Res.*, 67: 373-386.
- Beddell, C.R., Clark, R.B., Hardy, G.W., Lowe, L.A., Ubatuba, F.B., Vane, J.R., Wilkinson, S., Chang, K-J, Cuatracasas, P. and Miller, R.J. (1977). Structural requirements for opioid activity of analogues of enkephalins. Proc. R. Soc. Lond. B., 198: 249-265.
- Behbehani, M.M. and Pert, A. (1984). A mechanism of the analgesic effect of neurotensin as revealed by behavioral and electrophysiological techniques. Brain Res., 324: 35-42.

- Beitel, R.E. and Dubner, R. (1976). Response of unmyelinated (C) polymodal nociceptors to thermal stimuli applied to monkey's face. *J. Neurophysiol.*, 39: 1160-1175.
- Belcher, G., Ryall, R.W. and Schaffner, R. (1978). The differential effects of 5-hydroxytryptamine, noradrenaline and raphe stimulation on nociceptive and non nociceptive dorsal horn interneurones in the cat. *Brain Res.*, 151: 307-321.
- Bennet, G.J., Abdelmoumene, M., Hayashi, H and Dubner, R. (1980). Physiology and morphology of substantia gelatinosa neurones intracellularly stained with horseradish peroxidase. J. Comp. Neurol., 194: 809-827.
- Bentley, G.A., Newton, S.H. and Starr, J. (1981). Evidence for an action of morphine and the enkephalins on sensory nerve endings in the mouse peritoneum. *Br. J. Pharmacol.*, 73: 325-332.
- Berge, O-G. (1982). The effects of 5-HT receptor agonists and antagonists on a reflex response to radiant heat in normal and spinally transected rats. *Pain*, 13: 253-266.
- Berge, O-G. (1986). Regulation of pain sensitivity, influence of prostaglandins. *Cephalalgia*, *Suppl.* 4: 21-31.
- Berge, O-G., Fasmer, O.B. and Hole, K. (1983). Serotonin receptor antagonists induce hyperalgesia without preventing morphine antinociception. *Pharmacol. Biochem. Behav.*, 19: 873-878.
- Berge, O-G., Hole, K. and Dahle, H. (1980). Nociception is enhanced after low doses and reduced after high doses of receptor agonists 5-methoxy-N, N-dimethyltryptamine. *Neurosci. Lett.*, 19: 219-223.
- Berge, O-G. and Ogren, S-O. (1984). Selective lesions of the bulbospinal serotonergic pathways reduce the analgesia induced by *p*-Chloroamphetamine in the hot-plate test. *Neurosci. Lett.*, 44: 25-29.
- Besson, J.M. and Chaouch, A. (1987). Peripheral and spinal mechanisms of nociception. *Physiol. Rev.*, 67: 67-186.
- Bessou, P. and Laporte, Y. (1961). Some observations on receptors of the soleus muscle innervated by group III afferent fibers. *J. Physiol.*, 155: 19P.
- Bessou, P. and Perl, E.R. (1969). Response of cutaneous sensory units with unmyelinated fibers to noxious stimuli. J. Neurophysiol., 32: 1025-1043.

Biemond, A. (1956). The conduction of pain above the level of the

thalamus opticus. Arch. Neurol. Psychiat., 75: 231-244.

- Blackwell, G.J., Carnuccio, R., Di Rosa, M., Flower, R.J., Parente, L. and Persico, P. (1980). Macrocortin: a polypeptide causing the anti-phospholipase effect of glucocorticoids. *Nature*, 287: 147-149.
- Blackwell, G.J., Flower, J.C., Nijkamp, F.P. and Vane, J.R. (1978). Phospholipase A<sub>2</sub> activity of guinea pig isolated perfused lungs: Stimulation and inhibition by antiinflammatory steroids. Br. J. Pharmacol., 62: 79-89.
- Bloom, F.F., Battenberg, E., Rossier, J., Ling, N. and Guillemin, R. (1979). Neurones containing β-endorphin in rat brain exist separately from those containing enkephalin: immunocytochemical studies. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.*, 75: 1591-1595.
- Bodner, R.J., Kelly, D.D., Spiaggia, A., Ehrenberg, C. and Glusman, M. (1978). Dose-dependent reduction by naloxone of analgesia induced by cold-water stress. *Pharmacol. Biochem. Behav.*, 8: 667-672.
- Boivie, J. (1971b). The termination of the spinothalamic tract in the cat. An experimental study with silver impregnation methods. *Exp. Brain Res.*, 12: 331-353.
- Booth, N. H. (1988). Neuroleptoanalgesics and non-narcotic analgesics. In: *Veterinary Pharmacology and Therapeutics*. Booth, N.H. and McDonald, L.E. (eds.). 6th edition, Iowa State University Press, Ames, Iowa, pp: 298-349.
- Bourgoin, S., Le Bars, D., Clot, A.M. and Cesselin, F. (1990). Subcutaneous formalin induces a segmental release of Met-enkephalin-like material from the rat spinal cord. *Pain*, 41: 323-329.
- Bowsher, D. (1957). Termination of the central pain pathway in man: the conscious appreciation of pain. *Brain*, 80: 606-622.
- Brett, R.A. (1986). The ecology and behaviour of the naked molerat (*Heterocephalus glaber*) Ruppell "Rodentia Bathyergidae". Ph.D. thesis, University of London, U.K.
- Brown, A.M. (1967). Excitation of afferent cardiac sympathetic nerve fibers during myocardial ischaemia. J. Physiol., 190: 35-53.
- Brown, A.G. (1982). Review article: The dorsal horn of the spinal cord. *Quart. J. Exp. Physiol.*, 67: 193-212.
- Brown, A.G. and Fyffe, R.E.W. (1981). Form and function of dorsal horn neurones with axons ascending the dorsal columns in

the cat. J. Physiol., 321: 31-48.

- Brown, A.G., Fyffe, R.E.W., Noble, R., Rose, P.K. and Snow, P.J. (1980). The density, distribution and topographical organization of spinocervical tract neurones in the cat. J. Physiol., 300: 409-428.
- Brown, A.G., Fyffe, R.E.W., Rose, P.K. and Snow, P.J. (1977). The morphology of hair follicle afferent in the spinal cord of the cat. J. Physiol., 272: 779-797.
- Brown, A.G., Fyffe, R.E.W., Rose, P.K. and Snow, P.J. (1981). Spinal cord collaterals from axons of type II slowly adapting units in the cat. *J Physiol.*, 316: 469-480.
- Brown, J.H., Kissel, J.W. and Lish, P.M. (1968). Studies on the acute inflammatory response. 1. Involvement of the central nervous system in certain models of inflammation. J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther., 160: 231-242.
- Bryum, C.E., Stornetta, E.R. and Guyenet, P.G. (1984). Electrophysiological properties of spinally projecting A5 noradrenergic neurones. *Brain Res.*, 303: 15-29.
- Burgess P.R. and Clark F.J. (1969). Characteristics of knee joint receptors in the cat. J. Physiol., 203: 317-335.
- Burgess P.R. and Perl, E.R. (1967). Myelinated afferent fibers responding specifically to noxious stimulation of the skin. J. *Physiol.*, 190: 541-562.
- Burton, H. and Loewy, A.D. (1976). Descending projections from the marginal cell layer and other regions of the monkey spinal cord. *Brain Res.*, 116: 485-491.
- Cadwalader, W.B. and Sweet, J.E. (1912). Experimental work on the function of the anterolateral column of the spinal cord. J. A. M. A., 58: 1490-1493.
- Cajal, R. y. (1909). Histologie du systeme nerveux de l'homme et des vertebres. Vol. I. Inst. Cajal, Madrid. Reprinted in 1952.
- Campbell, J.N., Meyer, R.A. and LaMotte, R.H. (1979). Sensitization of myelinated nociceptive afferents that innervate monkey hand. J. Neurophysiol., 42: 1669-1679.
- Campbell, J.N., Raja, S.N. and Meyer, R.A. (1988). Painful sequelae of nerve injury. In: Proc. Vth World Congress on Pain. Dubner, R., Gebhart, G. and Bond, M.R. (eds.). Elsevier, Amsterdam, Vol. 3, pp: 135-143.
- Capetola, R.J., Shriver, D.A. and Rosenthale, M.E. (1980). Suprofen, a new peripheral analgesic. J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther., 214: 16-23.

- Carlsson, K.H. and Jurna, I. (1987). Central analgesic effect of paracetamol manifested by depression of nociceptive activity in the thalamic neurones of the rat. *Neurosci. Lett.*, 79: 339-343.
- Carpenter, D., Lundberg, A. and Norsell, W. (1963b). Primary afferent depolarization evoked from the sensorimotor cortex. Acta Physiol. Scand., 59: 126-142.
- Castellano, C., Pavone, F. and Puglissi-Allegra, S. (1984). Morphine and memory in DBA/2 mice: effects of stress and of prior experience. *Behav. Brain Res.*, 11: 3-10.
- Cervero, F. (1982). Afferent activity evoked by natural stimulation of the biliary system in the ferret. *Pain*, 13: 137-151.
- Cervero, F. (1988). Visceral pain. In: Proc. Vth World Congress on Pain. Dubner, R., Gebhart, G. and Bond, M.R. (eds.). Elsevier, Amsterdam, Vol. 3, pp: 216-226.
- Cervero, F.A., Iggo, A. and Molony, V. (1977). Responses of spinocervical tract neurones to noxious stimulation of the skin. J. Physiol., 267: 537-558.
- Cervero, F., Molony, V. and Iggo, A. (1979a). Ascending projections of nociceptor driven lamina I neurones in the cat. *Exp. Brain Res.*, 35: 135-149.
- Cervero, F., Shouenberg, J., Sjolund, B.H. and Waddel, P.J. (1984). Cutaneous inputs to dorsal horn neurones in adult rats treated at birth with capsaicin. *Brain Res.*, 301: 47-57.
- Chan-Palay, V., Jonsson, G. and Palay, S.L. (1978). Serotonin and substance P coexist in neurones of the rat's central nervous system. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.*, 75: 1582-1586.
- Chapman, D.B. and Way, E.L. (1980). Metal ion interactions with opiates. Ann. Rev. Pharmacol. Toxicol., 20: 553-579.
- Chavkin, C., James, I.F. and Goldstein, A. (1982). Dynorphin is a specific endogenous ligand of the  $\kappa$  opioid receptor. Science, 215: 413-415.
- Chernov, H.I., Wilson, D.E., Fowler, F. and Plummer, A.J. (1967). Non-selectivity of the mouse writhing test. Arch. Int. Pharmacodyn., 167: 171-178.
- Chiu, E.K.Y. and Richardson, J.S. (1985). Behavioural and neurochemical aspects of prostaglandins in brain functions. Gen. Pharmacol., 16: 163-175.
- Christensen, B.N. and Perl, E.R. (1970). Spinal neurones specifically excited by noxious or thermal stimuli: marginal

zone of the dorsal horn. J. Neurophysiol., 33: 293-307.

- Chung, K. and Coggeshall, R.E. (1979). Primary afferent axons in the tract of Lissauer in the cat. J. Comp. Neurol., 186: 451-464.
- Chung, K., Langford, L.A., Applebaum, A.E. and Coggeshall, R.E. (1979). Primary affernt fibers in the tract of Lissauer in the rat. J. Comp. Neurol., 184: 587-598.
- Chung, J.M., Lee, K.H., Hori, Y. and Willis W.D. (1985). Effects of capsaicin applied to a peripheral nerve on the responses of primate spinothalamic tract cells. *Brain Res.*, 329: 27-38.
- Clark, J.A., Liu, L., Price, M., Hersh, B., Edelson, M. and Pasternak, G.W. (1989). Kappa opiate receptor multiplicity: evidence for two U50, 488-sensitive  $\kappa_1$  subtypes and a novel  $\kappa_3$  subtype. J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther., 251: 461-468.
- Clark, W.E.L. (1936). The termination of ascending tracts in the macaque monkey. *J. Anat.*, 71: 7-40.
- Clark, W.G. (1979). Influence of opioids on thermal regulatory mechanisms. *Pharmacol. Biochem. Behav.*, 10: 609-613.
- Cloix, J.F., Colard, O., Rothut, B. and Russo-Marie, F. (1983). Characterisation and partial purification of "renocortins": two polypeptides formed in renal cells causing the antiphospholipase-like action of glucocorticoids. Br. J. Pharmac. Chemother., 79: 313-321.
- Coderre, T.J., Abbott, F.V., and Melzack, R. (1984). Effects of peripheral anti-sympathetic treatments in the tail flick, formalin and autotomy tests. *Pain*, 18: 13-23.
- Coggeshall, R.E., Hong, K.A.P., Langford, L.A., Schaible, H.G. and Schmidt, R.F. (1983). Discharge characteristics of fine medial articular afferent at rest and during passive movements of inflammed knee joints. *Brain Res.*, 272: 185-188.
- Cohen, R.H., Meyer, R.A., Davis, K.D., Treede, R.D. and Campbell, J.N. (1990). Mechanically insensitive afferents (MIAs) in cutaneous nerves of the monkey. *Pain*, Suppl. 5: s105.
- Collier, H.O.J., Dineen, L.C., Johson, C.A. and Schneider, C. (1968). The abdominal constriction responses and it's suppression by analgesic drugs in the mouse. Br. J. Pharmacol. Chem., 32: 295-310.
- Collier, H.O.J. and Roy, A.C. (1974). Morphine-like drugs inhibit the stimulation by E prostagladin of cyclic AMP formation in rat brain homogenate. *Nature*, 248; 24-27.

- Cotton, R., Giles, M.G., Miller, L., Shaw, J.S. and Timms, B. (1984). ICI 174864, a highly selective antagonist for the opioid delta-receptor. *Eur. J. Pharmacol.*, 97: 331-332.
- Coulter, J.D. and Jones, E.G. (1977). Differential distribution of corticospinal projections from individual cytoarchitectonic fields in the monkey. *Brain Res.*, 66: 335-340.
- Coulter, J.D., Maunz, R.A. and Willis, W.D. (1974). Effects of stimulation of sensorimotor cortex on primate spinothalamic neurones. *Brain Res.*, 66: 351-356.
- Cox, B., Lee, T. and Vale, J. (1979). Effects of morphine and related drugs on core temperature of 2 strains of rats. *Eur. J. Pharmacol.*, 54: 27-36.
- Croze, S., Duclaux, R. and Kenshallo, D.R. (1976). The thermal sensitivity of the polymodal nociceptors in the monkey. *J. Physiol.*, 263: 539-562.
- Czlonkowski, A., Costa, T., Przewlocki, R., Pasi, A. and Herz, A. (1983). Opiate receptor binding sites in human spinal cord. Brain Res., 267: 392-396.
- D'Amato, F.R. and Castellano, C. (1989). Behavioral effects of morphine in mice: a role of experimental housing. *Pharmacol. Biochem. Behav.*, 34: 361-365.
- D'Amour, F.E. and Smith, D. L. (1941). A method for determining loss of pain sensation. J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther., 72: 74-79.
- Dahlstrom, A. and Fuxe, K. (1965). Evidence for the existence of monoamine neurones in the central nervous system. II. Experimentally induced changes in the intraneuronal amine levels of bulbospinal neuronal systems. Acta Physiol. Scand. Suppl., 247: 1-36.
- Danon, A. and Assouline, G. (1978). Inhibition of prostaglandin biosynthesis by corticosteroids requires RNA and protein synthesis. *Nature*, 273: 552-554.
- Davis, R.A. and Stokes, J.W. (1966). Neurosurgical attempts to relieve thalamic pain. Surg. Gyn. Obstet., 123: 371-384.
- Deakin, J.F.W. and Dostrovsky, J.O. (1978). Involvement of the periaqueductal gray matter and spinal 5hydroxytryptaminergic pathways in morphine analgesia: effects of lesions and 5-hydroxytryptamine depletion. Br. J. Pharmacol., 63: 159-165.
- DeLanerolle, N.C. and LaMotte, C.C. (1983). Ultrastructure of chemically defined neurone systems in the dorsal horn of the monkey. I. Substance P immunoreactivity. Brain Res.,

274: 31-49.

- Deraedt, R., Jouquey, S., Delevallee, F. and Flahaut, M. (1980). Release of prostaglandins E and F in an algogenic reaction and it's inhibition. *Eur. J. Pharcamacol.*, 61: 17-24.
- Di Rosa, M. and Persico, P. (1979). Mechanism of inhibition of prostaglandin biosynthesis of hydrocortisone in rat leucocytes. *Br. J. Pharmacol.*, 66: 161-163.
- Dickenson, A.H. and Sullivan, A.F. (1987). Subcutaneous formalininduced activity of dorsal horn neurones in the rat: differentail response to an intrathecal opiate administered pre- or post formalin. *Pain*, 30: 349-360.
- Difiglia, M., Aronin, N. and Leeman, S.E. (1982). Light microscopic and ultrastructural localization of immunoreactive substance P in the dorsal horn of monkey spinal cord. *Neuroscience*, 7: 1127-1139.
- Dilly, P.N., Wall, P.D. and Webster, K.E. (1968). Cells of origin of the spinothalamic tract in the cat and rat. *Exp. Neurol.*, 21: 550-562.
- Dodt, E. and Zotterman, Y. (1952b). The discharge of specific cold fibers at high temperatures (the paradoxical cold). Acta Physiol. Scand., 26: 358-365.
- Dostrovsky, J.O. and Guilbaud, G. (1990). Nociceptive responses in medial thalamus of the normal and arthritic rat. *Pain*, 40: 93-104.
- Dubas, T.C. and Parker, J.M. (1971). A central component in the analgesic action of sodium salicylate. Arch. Int. Pharmacodyn. Ther., 194: 117-122.
- Dubner, R., Sumino, R. and Wood, W.I. (1975). A peripheral "cold" fiber population responsive to innocuous and noxious thermal stimuli applied to monkey's face. J. Neurophysiol., 38: 1373-1389.
- Dubuisson, D. and Dennis, S.G. (1977). The formalin test: a quantitative study of the analgesic effects of morphine, meperidine, and brain stem stimulation in rats and cats. *Pain*, 4: 161-174.
- Duclaux, R. and Kenshalo sr., D.R. (1980). Response characteristics of cutaneous warm receptors in the monkey. J. Neurophysiol., 43: 1-15.
- Duggan, A.W. and North, R.A. (1984). Electrophysiology of opioids. Pharmacol. Rev., 35: 219-281.
- Duncan, G.H., Bushnell, M.C. and Feine, J.S. (1988). Single-unit

responses in monkey medial thalamus during nociceptive and non-nociceptive discrimination tasks. Soc. Neurosci. Abst., 14: 581.

- Dusser de Barenne, J.M. and Sager, O. (1937). Sensory functions of the optic thalamus in the monkey (*Macacus Rhesus*). Symptomatology and functional localization investigated with the method of local strychninization. Arch. Neurol. Psychiat., 38: 913-926.
- Earle, K.M. (1952). The tract of Lissauer and it's possible relation to the pain pathway. J. Comp. Neurol., 96: 93-109.
- Eddy, N.B. and Leimbach, D. (1953). Synthetic analgesics, II. Dithienylbutenyl and dithienylbutylamine. J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther., 107: 385-393.
- Eddy, N.B., Touchberry, C.F. and Liebermann, J.E. (1950). Synthetic analgesics. I. Methadone isomers and derivatives. J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther., 98: 121-137.
- Emele, J.F. and Shanaman, J. (1963). A method for measuring analgesia. Proc. Soc. Exp. Biol., 114: 680-682.
- Engberg, I. and Ryall, R.W. (1966). The inhibitory action of noradrenaline and other monoamines on spinal neurones. J. *Physiol.*, 185: 298-322.
- Eposito, R.V., McLean, S. and Kornersky, C. (1979). Effects of morphine on intracranial self-stimulation to various brain stem loci. *Brain Res.*, 168: 425-429.
- Erickson, T.C., Bleckwenn, W.J. and Woolsey, C.N. (1952). Observation on the post central gyrus in relation to pain. *Trans. Amer. Neurol. Assn.*, 57-59.
- Erulkar, S.D., Sprague, J.M., Whitsel, B.L., Dogan, S. and Jannetta, P.J. (1966). Organization of the vestibular projection to the spinal cord of the cat. *J. Neurophysiol.*, 29: 626-664.
- Fasmer, O.B., Berge, O-G. and Hole, K. (1984). Metergoline elevates or reduces nociceptive thresholds in mice depending on test method and route of administration. *Psychopharmacol.*, 82: 306-309.
- Fasmer, O.B., Berge, O-G., Tveiten, L. and Hole, K. (1986). Changes in nociception after 6-hydroxydopamine lesions of descending catecholaminergic pathways in mice. *Pharmacol. Biochem. Behav.*, 24: 1441-1444.
- Fasmer, O.B., Berge, O-G., Walther, B. and Hole, K. (1983). Changes in nociception after intrathecal administration of 5-6 dihydroxytryptamine in mice. *Neuropharmacol.*, 22: 1197-1201.

- Faulkes, C.G., Abbot, D.H. and Jarvis, J.U.M. (1987). Reproductive suppression in female naked mole-rats (*Heterocephalus* glaber). In: Comparative Reproduction in Mammals and Man. Eley, R.M. (ed.). Proceedings of a Conference of the National Centre for Research in Reproduction, Nairobi. pp: 155-161.
- Ferreira, S.H. (1972). Prostaglandins, aspirin-like drugs and analgesia. Nature New Biol., 240: 200-202.
- Ferreira, S.H. (1982). Pain in inflammation. In: inflammation. Velo, G.P. and Vergano, M. (eds.). pp: 58-70.
- Ferreira, S.H. (1983). Prostaglandins: peripheral and central analgesia. In: Advances in Pain Research and Therapy. Bonica, J.J., Lindblom, U. and Iggo, A. (eds.). Raven Press, New York. Vol. 5, pp: 627-634.
- Ferreira, S.H., Lorenzetti, B.B. and Correa, F.M.A. (1978). Central and peripheral antialgesic action of aspirin-like drugs. *Eur. J. Pharmacol.*, 53: 39-48.
- Ferreira, S.H., Molina, N. and Vettore, O. (1982). Prostaglandin hyperalgesia. V. A peripheral analgesic receptor for opiates. *Prostaglandins*, 23: 53-58.
- Ferreira, S.H., Moncada, S. and Vane, J.R. (1973). Prostaglandins and the mechanisms of analgesia produced by aspirin-like drugs. *Br. J. pharmacol.*, 49: 86-93.
- Fetz, E.E. (1968). Pyramidal tract effects on interneurones in the cat lumbar dorsal horn. J. Neurophysiol., 31: 69-80.
- Fields, H.L., Basbaum, A.I., Clanton, C. H. and Anderson, S.D. (1977b). Nucleus raphe magnus inhibition of spinal cord dorsal horn neurones. *Brain Res.*, 126: 441-453.
- Fields, H.L., Clanton, C.H., and Anderson, S.D. (1977a). Somatosensory properties of spinoreticular neurones in the cat. Brain Res., 120: 49-66.
- Fields, H.L., Emson, P.C., Leigh, B.K., Gilbert, R.F.T. and Iversen, L.L. (1980). Multiple opiate receptor sites on primary afferent fibers. *Nature*, 284: 351-353.
- Fields, H.L., Wagner, G.M. and Anderson, S.D. (1975). Some properties of spinal neurones projecting to the medial brain-stem reticular formation. *Exp. Neurol.*, 47: 118-134.
- File. S.E. and Rodgers, R.J. (1979). Partial anxiolytic action of morphine sulphate following microinjection into the central nucleus of the amygdala in rats. *Pharmacol. Biochem. Behav.*, 11: 313-318.

- Fitzgerald, M. (1979). The spread of sensitization of polymodal nociceptors in the rabbit from nearby injury and by antidromic nerve stimulation. J. Physiol., 297: 207-216.
- Fitzgerald, M. (1983). Capsaicin and sensory neurones. A review. Pain, 15: 109-130.
- Fitzgerald, M. and Woolf, C.J. (1982). The time course and specificity of the changes in the behavioral and dorsal horn cell responses to noxious stimuli following peripheral nerve capsaicin treatment in the rat. *Neuroscience*, 7: 2051-2056.
- Flower, R.J. (1985). Background and discovery of lipocortins. Agents. Act., 17: 255-262.
- Flower, R.J. and Blackwell, G.J. (1979). Antiinflammatory steroids induce biosynthesis of a phospholipase A<sub>2</sub> inhibitor which prevents prostaglandin generation. *Nature*, 278: 456-459.
- Flower, R.J., Moncada, S. and Vane, J.R. (1980). Analgesic antipyretics and antiinflammatory agents; drugs employed in the treatment of gout. In: *The Pharmacological Basis of Therapeutics*. Goodman, L. and Gilman, A. (eds.). MacMillan Publishing Co., New York. pp: 682-728.
- Flower, R.J. and Vane, J.R. (1972). Inhibition of prostaglandin synthetase in brain explains the antipyretic activity of paracetamol (4-acetamidophenol). *Nature*, 240: 410-411.
- Foerster, O. (1927). Die leitungsbaknem des schmerzgefulils und die chirurgische behandlung der schmerzzustande. Berlin, Urban.
- Foerster, O. (1936). In: Handbuch der neurologie. Bumke, O. and Foerster, O. (eds.). Springer. Berlin. Vol. 6, pp 358.
- Foreman, B.D., Beall, J.E., Applebaum, A.E., Coulter, J.D. and Willis, W.D. (1976). Effects of dorsal column stimulation on primate spinothalamic tract neurones. J. Neurophysiol., 39: 534-546.
- Foreman, J.C., Jordan, C.C., Oehme, P. and Renner, R. (1983). Structure-activity relationships for some substance P related peptides that cause wheal and flare reactions in human skin. J. Physiol., 335: 449-465.
- Foreman, R.D., Schmidt, R.F. and Willis, W.D. (1977). Convergence of muscle and cutaneous output onto primate spinothalamic tract neurones. *Brain Res.*, 124: 555-560.
- Forster, R.W. and Ramage, A.G. (1981). The action of some

chemical irritants on somatosensory receptors of the cat. *Neuropharmacol.*, 20: 191-198.

- Frenk, H., McCarty, B.C. and Liebeskind, J. C. (1978). Different brain areas mediate the analgesic and epileptic properties of enkephalin. *Science*, 200: 335-337.
- Fukushima, T., Mayanagi, Y. and Bouchard, G. (1976). Thalamic evoked potentials to somatosensory stimulation in man. *EEG. Clin. Neurophysiol.*, 40: 481-490.
- Gamse, R., Holzer, P. and Lembek, F. (1979). Indirect evidence for presynaptic location of opiate receptors on chemosensitive primary sensory neurones. *Naunyn Schmiedebergs Arch. Pharmacol.*, 308: 281-285.
- Garcia, L.J. and Hamamura, L. (1974). Formation of a factor increasing vascular permeability during electrical stimulation of the saphenous nerve in rats. Br. J. Pharmacol., 51: 383-389.
- Gardner, G. and Cuneo, H.M. (1945). Lateral spinothalamic tract and associated tracts in man. Arch. Neurol. Psychiat., 53: 423-430.
- Gaungher, M. and Kapp, B.S. (1978). Manipulation of opiate activity into the amygdala alters memory processes. *Life sci.*, 23: 1973-1978.
- Gaze, R.M. and Gordon, G. (1955). Some observations on the central pathway for cutaneous impulses in the cat. *Quart. J. Exp. Physiol.*, 40: 187-194.
- Geller, E.B., Hawk, C., Keinath, S.H., Tallarida, R.J. and Adler, M.W. (1983). Subclasses of opioids based on body temperature change in rats: acute subcutaneous administration. J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther., 225: 391-398.
- Georgopoulos, A.P. (1976). Functional properties of primary afferent units probably related to pain mechanisms in primate glabrous skin. J. Neurophysiol., 39: 71-83.
- Georgopoulos, A.P. (1977). Stimulus response relations in high threshold mechanothermal fibers innervating primate glabrous skin. Brain Res., 128: 547-552.
- Gibson, S.J., McGregor, G., Bloom, S.R., Polak, J.M. and Wall, P.D. (1982). Local application of capsaicin to one sciatic nerve of the adult rat induces a marked depletion in the peptide content of the lumbar dorsal horn. *Neuroscience*, 7: 3153-3162.
- Gibson, S.J., Polak, J.M., Bloom, S.R. and Wall, P.D. (1981). The distribution of nine peptides in cat spinal cord with special

emphasis on the substantia gelatinosa and on the area around the central canal (lamina X). J. Comp. Neurol., 201: 65-79.

- Giesler, G.J., Menetrey, D., Guilbaud, G. and Besson, J.M. (1976). Lumbar cord neurones at the origin of the spinothalamic tract in the rat. *Brain Res.*, 118: 320-324.
- Gobel, S. (1975). Golgi studies of the substantia gelatinosa neurones in the spinal trigeminal nucleus. J. Comp. Neurol., 162: 397-416.
- Gobel, S. (1978). Golgi studies of the neurones in layer II of the dorsal horn of the medulla (trigeminal nucleus caudalis). J. Comp. Neurol., 180: 395-414.
- Goth, A. (1974). Adrenal steroids. In: *Medical Pharmacology Principles and Concepts*. Goth, A. (ed.), 7th edition. The C.V. Mosby Co., St. Louis, pp: 486.
- Groppetti, A., Braga, P.C., Biella, G., Parenti, M., Rusconi, L. and Mantegazza, P. (1988). Effect of aspirin and Metenkephalin in brain: correlation with the anti-nociceptive activity of the drug. *Neuropharmacol.*, 27: 499-505.
- Guilbaud, G. and Iggo, A. (1984). The effect of aspirin on the mechanical sensitivity of joint-capsule sensory receptors in arthritic rats. *J. Physiol.*, 357: 29P.
- Guilbaud, G., Oliveras, J.L., Giesler, G. and Besson, J.M. (1977b). Effects induced by stimulation of the centralis inferior nucleus of the raphe on the dorsal horn interneurones in cat's spinal cord. *Brain Res.*, 126: 355-360.
- Hagg, S. and Ha, H. (1970). Cervicothalamic tract in the dog. J. Comp. Neurol., 139: 357-374.
- Handwerker, H.O. (1976). Pharmacological modulation of the discharge of nociceptive C-fibers. In: Sensory Functions of the Skin in Primates. Zotterman, Y. (ed.). Pergamon, Oxford, UK. pp: 427-437.
- Handwerker, H., Iggo, A., Ogawa, H. and Ramsey, R.L. (1975). Input characteristics and rostral projections of dorsal horn neurones in the monkey. J. Physiol., 244: 76-77P.
- Hardy, J.D., Goodell, H. and Wolff, H.G. (1951). The influence of skin temperature upon the pain threshold as evoked by thermal radiation. *Science*, 114: 149-150.
- Hayes, R.L., Bennett, G.J., Newlon, P.G. and Mayer, D.J. (1978). Physiological studies of non-narcotic analgesia in the rat elicited by certain environmental studies. *Brain Res.*, 155: 69-90.

- Headley, P.M., Duggan, A.W. and Griersmith, B.T. (1978). Selective reduction by noradrenaline and 5-hydroxytryptamine of nociceptive responses of cat dorsal horn neurones. *Brain Res.*, 145: 185-189.
- Hellon, R.F. and Mitchell, D. (1975). Characteristics of neurones in the ventrobasal thalamus of the rat which respond to noxious stimulation of the tail. J. Physiol., 250: 29-30P.
- Henry, J.L. (1976). Effects of substance P on functionally identified units in cat spinal cord. *Brain Res.*, 114: 439-451.
- Henry, J.L. (1982). Relation of substance P to pain transmission: neurophysiological evidence. In: Substance P in the Nervous System. Ciba Foundation Symposium. Pitman, London. Vol. 91, pp: 206-217.
- Hinson, R.E. and Siegel, S. (1983). Anticipatory hyperexcitability and tolerance to the narcotizing effect of morphine in the rat. *Behav. Neurosci.*, 97: 759-767.
- Hirata, F., Schiffmann, E., Venkatasubramanian, K., Salomon, D. and Axelrod, J. (1980). A phospholipase A<sub>2</sub> inhibitory protein in rabbit neutrophils induced by glucocorticoids. *Proc. natn. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.*, 77: 2533-2536.
- Hokfelt, T., Elde, R., Johansson, O. and Terenius, L. (1977). Distribution of enkephalin-like immunoreactivity in the rat central nervous system. I. Cell bodies. *Neurosci. Lett.*, 5: 25-31.
- Hokfelt, T., Johansson, O., Ljungdahl, A., Lundberg, J.M. and Schultzberg, M. (1980). Peptidergic neurones. *Nature*, 284: 515-521.
- Hokfelt, T., Kellerth, J.O., Nilsson, G. and Pernow, B. (1975). Experimental immunohistochemical studies on the localization and distribution of substance P in cat primary sensory neurones. *Brain Res.*, 100: 235-252.
- Howe, J.R., Wang, J-Y. and Yaksh, T.L. (1983). Selective antagonism of the antinociceptive effect of intrathecally applied alpha adrenergic agonists by intrathecal prazocin and intrathecal yohimbine. J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther., 224: 552-558.
- Hunskaar, S. (1987a). Non-narcotic anti-nociceptive drugs. Studies with special emphasis on appropriate behavioral tests in mice. Ph.D. thesis. University of Bergen, Bergen, Norway.
- Hunskaar, S. (1987b). Similar effects of acetylsalicylic acid and morphine on immediate responses to acute noxious stimulation. *Pharmacol. Toxicol.*, 60: 167-170.

- Hunskaar, S., Berge, O-G. and Hole, K. (1986). Dissociation between antinociceptive and antiinflammatory effects of acetylsalicylic acid and indomethacin in the formalin test. *Pain*, 25: 125-132.
- Hunskaar, S., Fasmer, O.B. and Hole, K. (1985a). Formalin test in mice, a useful technique for evaluating mild analgesics. J. Neuroci. Meth., 14: 69-76.
- Hunskaar, S., Fasmer, O.B. and Hole, K. (1985b). Acetylsalicylic acid, paracetamol and morphine inhibit behavioral responses to intrathecally administered substance P or capsaicin. *Life sci.*, 37: 1835-1841.
- Hunskaar, S. and Hole, K. (1987). The formalin test in mice: dissociation between inflammatory and non-inflammatory pain. *Pain*, 30: 103-114.
- IASP, (1979). Pain Terms: A list with definitions and notes on usage. *Pain*, 6: 249-252.
- Iggo, A. (1959). Cutaneous heat and cold receptors with slowly conducting (C) afferent fibers. *Quart. J. Exp. Physiol.*, 44: 362-370.
- Iggo, A. (1961). Non-myelinated afferent fibers from mammalian skeletal muscle. J. Physiol., 155: 52-53P.
- Iggo, A. (1969). Cutaneous thermoreceptors in primates and subprimates. J. Physiol., 200: 403-430.
- Iggo, A. and Ogawa, H. (1971). Primate cutaneous thermal nociceptors. J. Physiol., 216: 77-78P.
- Irwin, S., Houde, R.W., Benett, D.R., Hendershot, L.C. and Seevers, M.H. (1951). The effect of morphine, methadone and meperidine on some reflex responses of spinal animals to nociceptive stimulation. J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther., 101: 132-143.
- Jancso, G. and Kiraly, E. (1980). Distribution of chemosensitive primary sensory afferents in the central nervous system of the rat. *J. Comp. Neurol.*, 190: 781-792.
- Jancso, G., Kiraly, E. and Jancso-Gabor. (1977). Pharmacologically induced selective degeneration of chemosensitive primary sensory neurones. *Nature*, 270: 741-743.
- Jarvis, J.U.M. (1969). The breeding season and litter size of african mole-rats. J. Reprod. Fert. Suppl., 6: 237-248.
- Jarvis, J.U.M. (1978). Energetics of survival in Heterocephalus glaber (Ruppell), the naked mole-rat (Rodentia:

Bathyergidae). Bulletin of Carnegie Museum of National History. No. 6, pp: 81-87.

- Jarvis, J.U.M. and Sale, J.B. (1971). Burrowing and burrow patterns of East-African mole-rats, Tachyoryctes, Heliophobius, Heterocephalus. J. Zool., 163: 451-479.
- Jessell, T.M. and Iversen, L.L. (1977). Opiate analgesics inhibit substance P release from rat trigeminal nucleus. *Nature*, 268: 549-551.
- Jessell, T.M., Tsungo, A., Kanazawa, I. and Otsuka, M. (1979). Substance P: depletion in the dorsal horn of rat spinal cord after section of the peripheral processes of primary sensory neurones. *Brain Res.*, 168: 247-259.
- Jones, E.G. and Burton, H. (1974). Cytoarchitecture and somatic sensory connectivity of thalamic nuclei other than the ventrobasal complex in the cat. J. Comp. Neurol., 154: 395-431.
- Jorenby, D.E., Keesey, R.E. and Baker, T.B. (1988). Characterization of morphine's excitatory effects. *Behav. Neurosci.*, 102: 975-985.
- Jurna, I. and Brune, K. (1990). Central effect of the non-steroid antiinflammatory agents, indomethacin, ibuprofen and diclofenac, determined in C fiber-evoked activity in single neurones of the rat thalamus. *Pain*, 41: 71-80.
- Kantner, R.M., Kirby, M.L. and Goldstein, B.D. (1985). Increase in substance P in the dorsal horn during a chemogenic nociceptive stimulus. *Brain Res.*, 338: 196-199.
- Kanui, T.I. and Hole, K. (1990). Morphine induces aggression but not analgesia in the naked mole-rat (*Heterocephalus Glaber*). Comp. Biochem. Physiol., 96C: 131-133.
- Kanui, T.I. and Hole, K. (1991). The formalin test in the naked mole-rat (*Heterocephalus Glaber*): analgesic effects of morphine, nefopam and paracetamol. *Comp. Biochem. Physiol.*, (submitted).
- Karras, P. J. and North, R.A. (1979). Inhibitions of neuronal firing by opiates: evidence against the involvement of cyclic nucleotides. *Br. J. Pharmacol.*, 65: 647-652.
- Katayama, Y.L., Watkins, L.R., Becker, D.P. and Hayes, R.L. (1984). Non opiate analgesia induced by carbachol microinjection into the pontine parabrachial region of the cat. *Brain Res.*, 296: 263-283.
- Kavaliers, M. (1988). Evolutionary and comparative aspects of nociception. Brain Res. Bull., 21: 921-931.

- Kerr, F.W.L. (1975b). The ventral spinothalamic tract and other ascending systems of the ventral funiculus of the spinal cord. J. Comp. Neurol., 159: 335-356.
- King, J.S., Gallant, P., Meyerson, V. and Perl, E.R. (1976). The effects of antiinflammatory agents on the responses and the sensitization of unmyelinated (C) fiber polymodal nociceptors. In: Sensory Functions of the Skin in Primates. Zotterman, Y. (ed.). Pergamon, Oxford, UK. pp: 441-454.
- Koster, R., Anderson, M. and deBeer, E.J. (1959). Acetic acid for analgesic screening. *Fed. Proc.*, 18: 412-419.
- Kuhar, M.J. and Atweh, S.A. (1977). Autoradiographic localization of opiate receptors in rat brain. I. Spinal cord on lower medulla. *Brain Res.*, 124: 53-57.
- Kuhar, M.J., Pert, C.B. and Snyder, S.H. (1973). Regional distribution of opiate receptor binding in monkey and human brain. *Nature*, 245: 447-450.
- Kumazawa, T. and Perl, E.R. (1977). Primate cutaneous sensory units with unmyelinated (C) afferent fibers. J. Neurophysiol., 40: 1325-1338.
- Kumazawa, T. and Perl, E.R. (1978). Excitation of marginal and substantia gelatinosa neurones in the primate spinal cord. Indications of their place in dorsal horn functional organization. J. Comp. Neurol., 177: 417-434.
- Kumazawa, T. and Mizumura, K. (1977). Thin-fiber receptors responding to mechanical, chemical and thermal stimulation in the skeletal muscle of the dog. J. Physiol., 273: 179-194.
- Kumazawa, T. and Mizumura, K. (1980). Mechanical and thermal responses of polymodal receptors recorded from the superior spermatic nerve of dogs. J. Physiol., 299: 233-245.
- Kuraishi, Y., Harada, Y., Aratani, S., Satoh, M. and Takagi, H. (1983). Separate involvement of the spinal noradrenergic and serotoninergic systems in morphine analgesia: the differences in mechanical and thermal analgesic tests. Brain Res., 273: 245-252.
- Kuraishi, Y., Harada, Y. and Takagi, H. (1979). Noradrenaline regulation of pain transmission in the spinal cord mediated by adrenoreceptors. *Brain Res.*, 174: 333-336.
- Kuraishi, Y., Hirota, N., Satoh, Y. and Takagi, H. (1985). Antinociceptive effects of intrathecal opioids, noradrenaline, and serotonin in rats: mechanical and

thermal algesic tests. Brain. Res., 326: 168-171.

- LaMotte, C. (1977). Distribution of the tract of Lissauer and the dorsal root fibers in the primate spinal cord. J. Comp. Neurol., 172: 529-562.
- LaMotte, C. and DeLanerolle, N. (1981). Substance P. enkephalin and serotonin: ultrastructural basis of pain transmission in primate spinal cord. *Pain*, *Suppl.* 1: 19.
- LaMotte, C., Pert, C.B. and Snyder, S.H. (1976). Opiate receptor binding in primate spinal cord: distribution and changes after dorsal root section. *Brain Res.*, 112: 407-412.
- Leek, B.F. (1972). Abdominal visceral receptors. In : Handbook of Sensory Physiology. Enteroceptors. Neil, E. (ed.). Springer, New York. Vol. III/I, pp:113-160.
- Lembeck, F., Donnerer, J. and Bartho, L. (1982). Inhibition of neurogenic vasodilatation and plasma extravasation by substance P antagonists, somatostatin and (D-Met<sup>2</sup>-Pro<sup>5</sup>) enkephalinamide. Eur. J. Pharmacol., 85: 171-176.
- Levante, A., L'amour, Y., Guilbaud, G. and Besson, J.M. (1975). Spinothalamic cell activity in the monkey during intense nociceptive stimulation: intra-arterial injection of bradykinin into the limbs. *Brain Res.*, 88: 560-564.
- Levitan, H. and Barker, J.L. (1972). Membrane permeability: cation selectivity reversibly altered by salicylate. *Science*, 178: 63-64.
- Lewin, W. and Phillips, C.G. (1952). Observations on partial removal of the postcentral gyrus for pain. *Neurol. Neurosurg. Psychiat.*, 15: 143-147.

Lewis, T. (1942). Pain. The Macmillan Co., New York.

- Light, A.R. and Perl, E.G. (1979b). Spinal termination of functionally identified primary afferent neurones with slowly conducting myelinated fibers. J. Comp. Neurol., 186: 133-150.
- Light, A.R. and Perl, E.R. (1979a). Re-examination of dorsal root projection to the spinal dorsal horn including observations on the differential termination of coarse and fine fibers. J. Comp. Neurol., 186: 117-132.
- Light, A.R., Trevino, D.A. and Perl, E.R. (1979). Morphological features of functionally defined neurones in the marginal zone and substantia gelatinosa of the spinal dorsal horn. J. Comp. Neurol., 186: 151-172.
- Lim, R.K.S., Guzman, F., Rodgers, D.W., Goto, K., Braun, G.,

Dickerson, G.D. and Engle, R.J. (1964). Site of action of narcotic and non-narcotic analgesics determined by blocking bradykinin-evoked visceral pain. Arch. Int. Pharmacodyn. Ther., 152: 25-58.

- Lin, M.T. (1982). An adrenergic link in the hypothalamic pathways which mediate morphine- and  $\beta$  endorphin-induced hyperthermia in the rat. *Neuropharmacol.*, 21: 613-617.
- Ling, G.S.F., Simantov, R., Clark, J.A. and Pasternak, G.W. (1986). Naloxonazine actions in vivo. Eur. J. Pharmacol., 129: 33-38.
- Lippman, H.H. and Kerr, F.W.L. (1972). Light and electron microscopic study of crossed ascending pathways in the anterolateral funiculus in monkey. *Brain Res.*, 40: 496-499.
- Loh, H., Tseng, L., Wei, E. and Li, C.H. (1976). Beta-endorphin as a potent analgesic agent. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.*, 73: 2895-2896.
- Long, R.R. (1977). Sensitivity of cutaneous cold fibers to noxious heat: paradoxical cold discharge. J. Neurophysiol., 40: 489-502.
- Lord, J.A.H., Waterfield, J., Hughes, H. and Kosterlitz, H.W. (1977). Endogenous opioid peptides: Multiple agonists and receptors. *Nature*, 267: 495-499.
- Lund, R.D. and Webster, K.E. (1967b). Thalamic afferents from the spinal cord and trigeminal nuclei. An experimental anatomical study in the rat. J. Comp. Neurol., 130: 313-328.
- Lynn, B. and Carpenter, S.E. (1982). Primary afferent units from the hairy skin of the rat hind limb. *Brain Res.*, 238: 29-43.
- Macdonald, R.L. and Nelson, R. (1978). Specific opiate-induced depression of transmitter release from dorsal root ganglion cells in culture. *Science*, 199: 1449-1451.
- Madden, J., Akil, H., Patrick, R.L. and Barchas, J.D. (1977). Stressinduced parallel changes in central opioid levels and pain responsiveness in the rat. *Nature*, 265: 358-360.
- Marshall, J. (1951). Sensory disturbances in cortical wounds with special reference to pain. J. Neurol. Neurosurg. Psychiat., 14: 187-204.
- Martin, W.R. (1984). Pharmacology of opioids. Pharmacol. Rev., 35: 283-323.
- Martin, W.R., Eades, C.G., Thompson, J.A., Huppler, R.E. and Gilbert, P.E. (1976). The effects of morphine- and nalorphine-like drugs in the non-dependent and morphine-

dependent chronic spinal dog. J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther., 197: 517-532.

- Martin, W.R., Wilker, A., Eades, C.G. and Pescor, F.J. (1963). Tolerance to and physical dependence on morphine in rats. *Psychopharmacologia*, 74: 247-260.
- McCarson, K.E. and Goldstein, B.D. (1989). Naloxone blocks the formalin-induced increase of substance P in the dorsal horn. *Pain*, 38: 339-354.
- McFadzean, I. (1988). The ionic mechanisms underlying opioid actions. *Neuropeptides*, 11: 173-180.
- McNab, B. K. (1966). The metabolism of fossorial rodents: a study of convergence. *Ecology*, 47: 712-733.
- McNab, B. K. (1968). The influence of fat deposits on the basal rates of metabolism in desert homeotherms. *Comp. Biochem. Physiol.*, 26: 337-343.
- Mehler, W.R. (1957). The mammalian "pain tract" in phylogeny. Anat. Rec., 127: 332.
- Mehler, W. R. (1966). Some observations on secondary ascending afferent systems in the central nervous system. In: *Pain.* Knighton, R.S. and Dumke, P.R. (eds.). Little Brown, Boston. pp: 11-32.
- Mehler, W.R. (1969). Some neurological species differences -a posteriori. Ann. N.Y. Acad. Sci., 167: 424-468.
- Mehler, W.R., Feferman, M.E. and Nauta, W.J.H. (1960). Ascending axon degeneration following anterolateral cordotomy. An experimental study in the monkey. *Brain*, 83: 718-750.
- Melzack, R. and Wall, P.D. (1965). Pain Mechanisms: a new theory. Science, 150: 971-978.
- Menetrey, D., Chaouch, A. and Besson, J.M. (1980). Location and properties of dorsal horn neurones at the origin of the spinoreticular tract in lumbar enlargement of the rat. J. Neurophysiol., 44: 862-877.
- Menetrey, D. Giesler, G.J. and Besson, J.M. (1977). An analysis of spinal cord dorsal horn neurones to non-noxious and noxious stimuli in the spinal rat. *Exp. Brain Res.*, 27: 15-33.
- Mense, S. (1977). Nervous outflow from skeletal muscle following chemical noxious stimulation. J. Physiol., 267: 75-88.
- Mense, S., Light, A.R. and Perl, E.R. (1981). Spinal terminations of subcutaneous high threshold mechanoreceptors. In: Spinal Cord Sensation. Brown, A.G. and Rethelyi, A. (eds.).

Scottish Academic Press, Edinburgh, Scotland, pp: 79-86.

- Mense, S. and Meyer, H. (1975). Different types of slowly conducting afferent units in cat skeletal muscle and tendon. *J. Physiol.*, 263: 403-417.
- Messing, R.B., Jensen, R.A., Martiez, J.L., Spiehler, V.R., Vasquez, B.J., Soumirieu-Mourat, B., Liang, K.C. and McGaugh, J.L. (1979). Naloxone enhancement of memory. *Behav. Neural Bio.*, 27: 266-275.
- Milne, P.J., Foreman, R.D., Giesler Jr., G.J. and Willis, W.D. (1981). Convergence of cutaneous, pelvic visceral nociceptive inputs onto primate spinothalamic neurones. *Pain*, 11: 163-183.
- Moncada, S., Ferreira, S.H. and Vane, J.R. (1975). Inhibition of prostaglandin biosynthesis as the mechanism of analgesia of aspirin-like drugs in the dog knee joint. *Eur. J. Pharmacol.*, 31; 250-255.
- Mountcastle, V.B. and Henneman, E. (1949). Patterns of tactile - representation in thalamus of cat. J. Neurophysiol., 12: 85-100.
- Mountcastle, V.B. and Henneman, E. (1952). The representation of tactile sensibility in the thalamus of the monkey. J. Comp. Neurol., 97: 409-439.
- Mucha, R.F., Volvoski, C. and Kalant, H. (1981). Conditioned increases in locomotor activity produced with morphine as an unconditioned stimulus, and the relation of conditioning to acute morphine effect and tolerance. J. Comp. Physiol. Psychol., 95: 351-362.
- Nathan, D.W. (1976). The gate control theory of pain. Brain, 99: 123-158.
- Nijkamp, F.P., Flower, R.J., Moncada, S. and Vane, J.R. (1976). Partial purification of rabbit aorta contracting substancereleasing factor and inhibition of it's activity by antiinflammatory steroids. *Nature*, 263: 479-482.
- North, R.A. and Williams, J.T. (1983). Opioids influence the calcium-dependent release process of the cell body. *Br. J. Pharmacol.*, 80: 225-228.
- North, R.A., Williams, J.T., Surprenant, A. and Macdonald, J.C. (1987).  $\mu$  and  $\delta$  receptors belong to a family of receptors that are coupled to potassium channels. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.*, 84: 5487-5491.
- North, R.A., and Yoshimura, M. (1984). The actions of noradrenaline on neurones of the rat substantia gelatinosa

in vitro. J. Physiol., 349: 43-55.

- Numan, R. and Lal, H. (1981). Effect of morphine on rectal temperature after acute and chronic treatment in the rat. *Prog. Neuro-Psychopharmacol.*, 5: 363-371.
- Nyberg-Hansen, R. and Brodal, A. (1963). Sites of termination of corticospinal fibers in the cat. An experimental study with silver impregnation methods. *J. Comp. Neurol.*, 120: 369-391.
- Okuyama, S. and Aihara, H. (1984). Effects of morphine and indomethacin on evoked neuronal responses of ventrobasal thalamic neurones: site of action of analgesic drugs in adjuvant arthritic rats. Jpn. J. Pharmacol., 36: 177-186.
- Otsuka, M. and Konishi, S. (1976). Release of substance P like immunoreactivity from isolated spinal cord of newborn rats. *Nature*, 264: 83-84.
- Paintal, A.S. (1960). Functional analysis of group III afferent fibers of mammalian muscles. J. Physiol., 152: 250-270.
- Paintal, A.S. (1973). Vagal sensory receptors and their reflex effects. Physiol. Rev., 53: 159-227.
- Paintal, A.S. (1976). Natural and paranatural stimulation of sensory receptors. In: Sensory Functions of the Skin in Primates. Zotterman, Y. (ed.). Pergamon, Oxford, UK. pp: 3-12.
- Pasternak, G.W. and Wood, P.J. (1986). Multiple mu opiate receptors. Life Sci., 38: 1889-1898.
- Pearson, A.A. (1952). Role of gelatinosa substance of spinal cord in conduction of pain. Arch. Neurol. Psychiat., 68: 515-529.
- Pearson, J., Brandeis, I. and Cuello, A.C. (1982). Depletion of substance P containing axons in substantia gelatinosa of patients with diminished pain sensitivity. *Nature*, 295: 61-63.
- Pelletier, G., Steinbusch, H.W.M. and Verhofstaad, A.A.J. (1981). Immunoreactive substance P and serotonin present in the same dense-core vesicles. *Nature*, 293: 71-72.
- Penfield, W. and Boldrey, E. (1937). Somatic motor and sensory representation in the cerebral cortex of man as studied by electrical stimulation. *Brain*, 60: 389-443.
- Penfield, W. and Rasmussen, T. (1950). The cerebral cortex of man. A clinical study of localization of function. MacMillan, New York.
- Pepper, C.M. and Henderson, G. (1980). Opiates and opioid

peptides hyperpolarize locus coeruleus neurones in vitro. Science, 209: 394-396.

- Perl. E.R. (1968). Myelinated afferent fibers innervating the primate skin and their response to noxious stimuli. *J. Physiol.*, 197: 593-615.
- Perl, E.R. and Whitlock, D.G. (1961). Somatic stimuli exciting spinothalamic projection to thalamic neurones in cat and monkey. *Exp. Neurol.*, 3: 256-296.
- Peschanski, M., Guilbaud, G. and Gautron, M. (1981). Posterior intralaminar region in rats: neuronal responses to noxious and non-noxiuos cutaneous stimuli. *Exp. Neurol.*, 72: 226-238.
- Pierau, F.K., Torry, P. and Carpenter, D.O. (1974). Afferent nerve fiber activity responding to temperature changes of scrotal skin of the rat. *J. Neurophysiol.*, 38: 601-612.
- Pircio, A.W., Fedele, C.T. and Bierwagen, M.E. (1975). A new method for the evaluation of analgesic activity using adjuvant-induced arthritis in the rat. *Eur. J. Pharmacol.*, 31: 207-215.
- Pong, S.F., Demuth, S.M., Kinney, C.M. and Deegan, P. (1985). Prediction of human analgesic dosages of nonsteroidal antiinflammatory drugs (NSAIDs) from analgesic ED 50 values in mice. *Arch. Int. Pharmacodyn.*, 273: 212-220.
- Portoghese, P.S. and Takemori, A.E. (1985). TENA, a selective kappa opioid receptor antagonist. *Life Sci.*, 36: 801-805.
- Price, D.D. and Dubner, R. (1977). Neurones that subserve the sensory-discriminative aspects of pain. *Pain*, 3: 307-338.
- Price, D.D., Hayashi, H., Dubner, R. and Ruda, M.A. (1979). Functional relationships between neurones of marginal and substantia gelatinosa layers of primate dorsal horn. J. Neurophysiol., 42: 1590-1608.
- Price, D.D., Hu, J.W., Dubner, R. and Gracely, R. (1977). Peripheral suppression of first pain and central summation of second pain evoked by noxious heat pulses. *Pain*, 3: 57-68.
- Price, D.D. and Mayer, D.J. (1974). Physiological laminar organization of the dorsal horn of *M. mulatta. Brain Res.*, 79: 321-325.
- Price, D.D. and Mayer, D.J. (1975). Neurophysiological characterization of the anterolateral quadrant neurones subserving pain in *M. mulatta. Pain*, 1: 59-72.
- Proudfit, H.K. and Anderson, E.G. (1974). New long latency

bulbospinal evoked potentials blocked by serotonin antagonists. Brain Res., 65: 542-546.

- Proudfit, H.K. and Hammond, D.L. (1981). Alterations in nociceptive threshold and morphine-induced analgesia produced by intrathecally administered amine antagonists. Brain Res., 218: 393-399.
- Raffel, G., Clarenbach, P., Peskar, B.A. and Hertting, G. (1976). Synthesis of prostaglandins by rat brain synaptosomal fractions. J. Neurochem., 4: 313-398.
- Ralston, H.J., III, and Ralston, D.D. (1979). The distribution of dorsal root axons in laminae I, II and III of the macaque spinal cord: a quantitative electron microscope study. J. Comp. Neurol., 184: 643-684.
- Ramwell, P.W. and Shaw, J.E. (1966). Spontaneous and evoked release of prostaglandins from cerebral cortex of anaesthetized cats. Am. J. Physiol., 211: 125-134.
- Ramwell, P.W., Shaw, J.E. and Jessup, R. (1966). Spontaneous and evoked release of prostaglandins from frog spinal cord. *Am. J. Physiol.*, 211: 998-1004.
- Randall, L. O. and Selitto, J. J. (1957). A method of measurment of analgesic activity on inflammed tissue. Arch. int. *Pharmacodyn.*, 111: 409-419.
- Randic, M. and Yu, H.H. (1976). Effects of 5-hydroxytryptamine and bradykinin in cat dorsal horn neurones activated by noxious stimuli. *Brain Res.*, 111: 197-203.
- Rethelyi, M. (1977). Preterminal and terminal axon arborization in the substantia gelatinosa of the cat's spinal cord. *J. Comp. Neurol.*, 172: 511-528.
- Rexed, B. (1952). The cytoarchitectonic organization of the spinal cord in the cat. J. Comp. Neurol., 96: 415-466.
- Rexed, B. (1954). A cytoarchitectonic atlas of the spinal cord in the cat. J. Comp. Neurol., 100: 297-380.
- Riccippo Neto, F. and Narahashi, T. (1976). Ionic mechanism of the salicylate block of nerve conduction. J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther., 199: 454-463.
- Richardson, D.E. (1974). Thalamotomy for control of chronic pain. Acta Neurochir. Suppl., 21: 77-88.
- Rosenthal, W., Hescheler, J., Trautwein, W. and Schultz, G. (1988). Control of voltage-dependent Ca<sup>2+</sup> channels by G proteincoupled receptors. *FASNEB J.*, 2: 2784-2790.

- Rosland, J.H. (1991). The formalin test in mice: the influence of ambient temperature. Pain, 45: 211-216.
- Rosland, J. H., Tjolsen, A., Bjorn, M. and Hole, K. (1990). The formalin test in mice: effect of formalin concentration. *Pain*, 42: 235-242.
- Rossi, G.F. and Brodal, A. (1957). Terminal distribution of spinoreticular fibers in the cat. Arch. Neurol. Psychiat., 78: 439-453.
- Ruch, T.C. (1946). Visceral sensation and referred pain. In: Howell's Textbook of Physiology. Fulton, J.F. (eds.). 20th edition. Saunders, Philadelphia. pp: 305-324.
- Ruch, T.H., Patton, H.D. and Amassian, V.E. (1952). Topographical and functional determinants of cortical localization patterns. Assoc. Res. Nervous Mental Dis. Proc., 30: 403-429.
- Ruda, M.A. and Gobel, S. (1980). Ultrastructural characterization of axonal endings in the substantia gelatinosa which take up (<sup>3</sup>H) serotonin. *Brain Res.*, 184: 57-83.
- Russo-Marie, F., Piang, M. and Duval, D. (1979). Involvement of glucocorticoid receptors in steroid-induced inhibition of prostaglandin secretion. J. Biol. Chem., 254: 8498-8504.
- Rustioni, A. (1977). Spinal cord neurones projecting to the dorsal column nuclei of rhesus monkey. *Science*, 196: 656-658.
- Salt, T.E. and Hill, R.G. (1983). Neurotransmitter candidates of somatosensory primary afferent fibers. *Neuroscience*, 10: 1083-1103.
- Sanyal, A.K., Srivastava, D.N. and Bhattacharya, S.K. (1979). The anti-nociceptive effect of intracerebroventricularly administered prostaglandin  $E_1$  in the rat. *Psychopharm.*, 60: 159-163.
- Scadding, J.W. (1980). The permanent anatomical effects of neonatal capsaicin on somatosensory nerves. J. Anat., 131: 473-484.
- Schaible, H.G., and Schmidt, R.F. (1983a). Activation of groups III and IV sensory units in medial articular nerve by local mechanical stimulation of knee joint. J. Neurophysiol., 49: 34-44.
- Schaible, H.G. and Schmidt, R.F. (1983b). Responses of fine medial articular nerve afferents to passive movements of knee joint. J. Neurophysiol., 49: 1118-1126.

- Schaible, H.G. and Schmidt, R.F. (1988). Direct observation of the sensitization of the articular afferents during an experimental arthritis. In: Proc. Vth World Congress on Pain. Dubner, R., Gebhart, G. and Bond, M.R. (eds.). Elsevier, Amsterdam. Vol. 3, pp: 44-50.
- Scheibel, M.E. and Scheibel, A.B. (1968). Terminal axonal patterns in the cat spinal cord. II. The dorsal horn. *Brain Res.*, 9: 32-58.
- Segal, M. and Sandberg, D. (1977). Analgesia produced by stimulation of catecholamine nuclei in rat brain. Brain Res., 123: 369-372.
- Selzer, M. and Spencer, W.A. (1969). Convergence of cutaneous and visceral pathways. *Brain Res.*, 14: 331-348.
- Shefner, S.A., North, R.A. and Zukin, R.S. (1981). Opiate effects on rabbit vagus nerve: electrophysiology and radioligand binding. *Brain Res.*, 221: 109-116.
- Shibata, M., Ohkubo, T., Takahashi, H. and Inoki, R. (1989). Modified formalin test: characteristic biphasic pain response. *Pain*, 38: 347-352.
- Shyu, K.W. and Lin, M.T. (1985). Hypothalamic monoaminergic mechanisms of aspirin-induced analgesia in monkeys. J. Neural. Trans., 62: 285-283.
- Shyu, K.W., Lin, M.T. and Wu, T.C. (1984). Possible role of central serotoninergic neurones in the development of dental pain and aspirin-induced analgesia in the monkey. *Exp. Neurol.*, 84: 179-187.
- Siegmund, E., Cadmus, R. and Lu, G. (1957). A method for evaluating both non-narcotic and narcotic analgesics. *Proc. Soc. Exp. Bio. N.Y.*, 95: 729-731.
- Simon, E.J. (1977). The opiate receptors. In: *Receptors in Pharmacology*. Smithies, J.R. and Bradley, R.J. (eds.). Dekker, New York. pp: 257-293.
- Simon, E.J. and Hiller, J.M. (1978). The opiate receptors. Ann. Rev. Pharmacol. Toxicol., 18: 371-394.
- Simonds, W.F. (1988). The molecular basis of opioid receptor function. Endocr. Rev., 9: 200-212.
- Smith, T.W. (1984). The mechanisms of pain and opioid-induced analgesia. *Molec. Aspects Med.*, 7: 509-545.
- Snyder, S.H. (1984). Drug and neurotransmitter receptors in the brain. Science, 224: 22-31.

- Sosnowski, M., Stevens, C.W. and Yaksh, T.L. (1989). Assessment of the role of  $A_1/A_2$  adenosine receptors mediating the purine antinociception, motor and autonomic function in the rat spinal cord. J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther., 250: 915-922.
- Spiaggia, A., Bodnar, R.J., Kelly, D.D., McManus, M.E. and Glusman, M. (1977). Biphasic alterations of nociceptive thresholds induced by food deprivation. *Neurosci. Abst.*, 3: 492.
- Steel, R.G.D. and Torrie, J.H. (1981). I. Sampling from a normal distribution. II. Analysis of Variance 1: The one-way classification. In: Principles and Procedures in Statistics. A Biometrical Approach. Steel, R.G.D. and Torrie, J.H. (eds.). Second edition. McGraw-Hill Int. Book Co., Singapore. pp: 67-83 and 137-167.
- Steiner, T.J. and Turner, L.M. (1972). Cytoarchitecture of the rat spinal cord. J. Physiol., 222: 123-124P.
- Stewart, J. and Vezina, P. (1987). Environmental-specific enhancement of the hyperactivity induced by systemic or intra-VTA morphine injections in rats pre-exposed to amphetamine. *Psychobiol.*, 15: 144-153.
- Stone, W.T. and Perkins, M.N. (1979). Is adenosine the mediator of opiate action on neuronal firing rate? *Nature*, 281: 277-278.
- Sugiura, Y. (1975). Three dimensional analysis of neurones in the substantia gelatinosa Rolandi. *Proc. Jpn. Acad.*, 51: 336-341.
- Sumino, R. and Dubner, R. (1981). Response characteristics of specific thermoreceptive afferents innervating monkey facial skin and their relationship to human thermal sensitivity. *Brain Res.*, 3: 105-122.
- Sweeney, M.I., White, T.D., Jhamandas, K.H. and Sawynok, J. (1987a). Morphine releases endogenous adenosine from the spinal cord in vivo. Eur. J. Pharmacol., 141: 169-170.
- Sweeney, M.I., White, T.D. and Sawynok, J. (1987b). Involvement of adenosine in the spinal antinociceptive effects of morphine and noradrenaline. J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther., 243: 657-665.
- Sweet, W.H. (1971). Pain. In: Handbook of Physiology, Neurophysiology Section, Field, J., Magoun, H.W. and Hall, V.E. (eds.). Waverly Press, Baltimore, Maryland, U.S.A. Vol. I, chapter XIX, pp: 490-498.
- Szentagothai, J. (1964). Neuronal and synaptic arrangement in the substantia gelatinosa Rolandi. J. Comp. Neurol., 122: 219-240.

- Taber, R.I. (1974). Predictive value of analgesic assays in mice and rats. In: Narcotic Antagonists. Advances in Biochemical Psychopharmacology. Braude, M.C., Harris, L.S., May, E.L., Smith, J.P., Villarreal, J.E. (eds.). Raven Press, New York. Vol. 8, pp: 191-211.
- Tagliamonte, A., Tagliamonte, P., Perez-Cruet, J., Stern, S. and Gessa, G.L. (1971). Effects of psychotropic drugs on tryptophan concentrations in the rat brain. J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther., 177: 475-480.
- Takahashi, H., Ohkubo, H., Shibata, M. and Narese, S. (1984). A modified formalin test for measuring analgesia in mice. J. Oral Bio., 26: 543-548.
- Takahashi, T. and Otsuka, M. (1975). Regional distribution of substance P in the spinal cord and nerve roots of the cat and the effect of dorsal root section. *Brain Res.*, 87: 1-11.
- Tasker, R.R., Organ, L.W. and Hawrylyshyn, P.A. (1982). The spinothalamic pathway. In: *The Thalamus and Midbrain of Man.* Tasker, R.R., Organ, L.W. and Hawrylyshyn, P.A. (eds.). Charles Thomas Publishers, Springfield, Illinois, U.S.A. pp: 109-199.
- Thigpen, L. W. (1940). Histology of the skin of a normal hairless rodent. J. Mamm., 21: 449-456.
- Torebjork, H.E. and Hallin, R.G. (1974). Identification of afferent C units in intact human skin nerves. *Brain Res.*, 67: 387-403.
- Trevino, D.L. and Carstens, E. (1975). Confirmation of the location of spinothalamic neurones in the cat and monkey by the retrograde transport of horseradish peroxidase. *Brain Res.*, 98: 177-182.
- Trevino, D.L., Coulter, J.D. and Willis, W.D. (1973). Location of cells of origin of spinothalamic tract in the lumbar enlargement of the monkey. *J. Neurophysiol.*, 36: 750-761.
- Trevino, D.L., Maunz, R.A., Bryan, R.N. and Willis, W.D. (1972). Location of cells of origin of the spinothalamic tract in the lumbar enlargement of cat. *Exp. Neurol.*, 34: 64-77.
- Uchida, Y. and Murao, S. (1974). Potassium-induced excitation of afferent cardiac sympathetic nerve fibers. Am. J. Physiol., 226: 603-607.
- Uchida, Y. and Murao, S. (1975). Acid-induced excitation of afferent cardiac sympathetic nerve fibers. Am. J. Physiol., 228: 27-33.
- Van Hees, J. and Gybels, J. (1972). Pain related to single afferent C

fibers from human skin. Brain Res., 48: 397-400.

- Vane, J.R. (1971). Inhibition of prostaglandin synthesis as a mechanism of action for aspirin-like drugs. *Nat. New Biol.*, 231: 232-235.
- Vane, J.R. and Botting, R. (1987). Inflammation and the mechanism of action of antiinflammatory drugs. *FASEB*, 1: 88-96.
- Vasko, M.R. and Domino, E.F. (1978). Tolerance development to the biphasic effects of morphine on locomotor activity and brain acetylcholine in the rat. J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther., 207: 848-858.
- Vinegar, R., Truax, J.F. and Selph, J.L. (1976). Quantitative comparison of the analgesic and antiinflammatory activities of aspirin, phenacetin and acetaminophen in rodents. *Eur. J. Pharmacol.*, 37: 23-28.
- Von Euler, U.S. and Gaddum, J.H. (1931). An unidentified depressor substance in certain tissue extracts. J. Physiol., 72: 74-87.
- Waldeyer, W. (1888). Das Gorilla Ruckenmark. Abhandlungen der koniglichen Akademic der Wissenchaften. 3: 1-147.
- Walker, A.E. (1942). Somatotopic localization of spinothalamic and secondary trigeminal tracts in mesencephalon. Arch. Neurol. Psychiat., 48: 884-889.
- Wall, P.D. (1967). The laminar organization of dorsal horn and effects of descending impulses. J. Physiol., 188: 403-424.
- Wall, P.D. (1978). The gate control theory of pain mechanisms: a re-examination and re-statement. *Brain*, 101: 1-18.
- Wall, P.D., Merrill, E.G. and Yaksh, T.L. (1979). Responses of single units in Laminae II and III of cat spinal cord. *Brain Res.*, 160: 245-260.
- Weiss, E.R., Kelleher, D.J., Woon, C.W., Soparkar, S., Osawa, S., Heasley, L.E. and Johnson, G.L. (1988). Receptor activation of G proteins. *FASNEB J.*, 2: 2841-2848.
- Werz, M.A. and McDonald, R.L. (1983). Opioid peptides with differential affinity for  $\mu$  and  $\delta$  receptors decrease sensory neurone calcium-dependent action potentials. J. *Pharmacol. Exp. Ther.*, 227: 394-402.
- Westlund, K.N., Bowker, R.M., Ziegler, R.G. and Coulter, J.D. (1983). Noradrenergic projections to the spinal cord of the rat. Brain Res., 263: 15-31.

- Westlund, K.N. and Coulter, J.D. (1980). Descending projections of the locus coeruleus and subcoeruleus, medial parabrachial nuclei in monkeys: axonal transport study and dopamine-βhydroxylase immunocytochemistry. Brain Res. Rev., 2: 235-264.
- White, D.M. and Helme, R.D. (1985). Release of substance P from peripheral nerve terminals following electrical stimulation of the sciatic nerve. *Brain Res.*, 336: 27-31.
- Wieselfield-Hallin, Z., Hokfelt, T., Lundberg, J.M., Forssmann, W.G., Reinecke, M., Tschopp, F.A. and Fischer, J.A. (1984). Immunoreactive calcitonin gene-related peptide and substance P coexist in sensory neurones to the spinal cord and interact in spinal behavioral responses of the rat. *Neurosci. Lett.*, 52: 199-204.
- Wilcockson, W.S., Chung, J.M., Hori, Y., Lee, K.H. and Willis, W.D. (1984). Effects of iontophoretically released peptides on primate spinothalamic tract cells. J. Neurosci., 4: 741-750.
- Wilcockson, W.S., Gerhart, K.D., Cargill, C.L. and Willis, W.D. (1983). Effects of biogenic amines on raphe-spinal tract cells. J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther., 225: 637-645.
- Willis, W.D. and Coggeshall, R.E. (1978). Sensory mechanisms of the spinal cord. Willis, W.D. and Coggeshall, R.E. (eds.). Plenum Press, New York. pp: 53-124.
- Willis, A.L., Davison, P., Ramwell, P.W. and Brocklehurst, W.E.S. (1972). Release and action of prostaglandins in inflammation and fever: inhibition by antiinflammation and antipyretic drugs. *Cell Biol.*, 53: 227-268.
- Willis, W.D., Haber, L.H. and Martin, R.F. (1977). Inhibition of spinothalamic tract cells and interneurones by brain stem stimulation in the monkey. *J. Neurophysiol.*, 40: 968-981.
- Willis, W.D., Maunz, R.A., Foreman, R.D. and Coulter, J.D. (1975). Static and dynamic responses of spinothalamic tract neurones to mechanical stimuli. *J. Neurophysiol.*, 38: 587-600.
- Willis, W.D., Trevino, D.L., Coulter, J.D. and Maunz, R.A. (1974). Responses of primate spinothalamic tract neurones to natural stimulation of hindlimb. *J. Neurophysiol.*, 37: 358-372.
- Woolfe, G. and MacDonald, A. D. (1944). The evaluation of analgesic action of pethidine hydrochloride (demerol). J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther., 80: 300-307.
- Wuster, M., Schultz, R. and Herz, A. (1980). A direction of opioid

agonists towards  $\mu$ -,  $\delta$ - and  $\epsilon$ -receptors in the vas deferens of the mouse and the rat. *Life Sci.*, 27: 163-170.

- Wuster, M., Schultz, R. and Herz, A. (1981). Multiple opiate receptors in peripheral tissue preparations. *Biochem. Pharmacol.*, 30: 1883-1887.
- Yaksh, T.L. (1979). Direct evidence that spinal serotonin and noradrenaline terminals mediate the spinal antinociceptive effects of morphine in the periaqueductal gray. Brain Res., 160: 180-185.
- Yaksh, T.L. (1982). Central and peripheral mechanisms for the antialgesic action of acetylsalicylic acid. In: Acetylsalicylic acid: new uses for an old drug. Barnett, H.J.M., Hirshi, J. and Mustard, J.F. (eds.). Raven Press, New York, pp: 137-151.
- Yaksh, T.L. (1984a). Multiple opioid receptor systems in brain and spinal cord: Part I. *Eur. J. Anaesth.*, 1: 171-199.
- Yaksh, T.L. (1984b). Multiple opioid receptor systems in brain and spinal cord: Part II. *Eur. J. Anaesth.*, 1: 201-243.
- Yaksh, T.L. (1987). Opioid receptor systems and the endorphins: a review of their spinal organization. *J. Neurosurg.*, 67: 157-176.
- Yaksh, T.L. and Hammond, D.L. (1982). Peripheral and central substrates involved in the rostral transmission of nociceptive information. *Pain*, 13: 1-85.
- Yaksh, T.L., Jessell, T.M., Gamse, R., Mudge, A.W. and Leeman, S.E. (1980). Intrathecal morphine inhibits substance P release from mammalian spinal cord *in vivo*. *Nature*, 286: 155-157.
- Yaksh, T.L. and Noueihed, R. (1985). The physiology and pharmacology of spinal opiates. Ann. Rev. Pharmacol. Toxicol., 25: 433-462.
- Yaksh, T.L. and Rudy, T.A. (1976). Analgesia mediated by a direct spinal action of narcotics. *Science*, 192: 1357-1358.
- Yaksh, T.L., and Rudy, T.A. (1977). Studies on the direct spinal action of narcotics in the production of analgesia in the rat. J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther., 202: 411-428.
- Yaksh, T.L. and Tyce, G.M. (1980). Resting and K<sup>+</sup> evoked release of serotonin and norepinephrine *in vivo* from the cat and rat spinal cord. *Brain Res.*, 192: 133-146.
- Yetunde, O.T. and Levine, J.D. (1988). Prostaglandins inhibit endogenous pain mechanisms by blocking transmission at spinal noradrenergic synapses. J. Neurosci., 8: 1346-1349.

- Yoshimura, Y. and North, R.A. (1983). Substantia gelatinosa neurones hyperpolarized in vitro by enkephalin. Nature, 305: 529-530.
- Zimmerman, M. (1983). Ethical guidelines for investigation of experimental pain in conscious animals. *Pain*, 16: 109-110.
- Zotterman, Y. (1939). Touch, pain and tickling: An electrophysiological investigation on cutaneous sensory nerves. J. Physiol., 95: 1-28.
- Zukin, R.S., Eghbali, M., Olive, D., Unterwald, E.M. and Tempel, A. (1988). Characterization and visualization of rat and guinea pig brain  $\kappa$  opioid receptors: evidence for  $\kappa_1$  and  $\kappa_2$  opioid receptors. *Proc. Natl. Acad. U.S.A.*, 85: 4061-4065.

## APPENDIX

Treatment	Animal	0 - 6	5 - 10	10 - 16	15 - 20	20 - 25	25 30	30 - 36	35 - 40	40 - 46	45 . 60	60 · 55	55 . 60
	number	ពោរភ	<u>min</u>	tnin	inte	min	min	min	min	nin	min	min	min
formalin 10%	1	44.05	0	3.29	3.66	9.35	10.29	40.14	100.83	A5.59	140.25	131.58	162.49
fermalin	13	42.96	0	0	0	50	4.3	11.30	12.2	67.35	21.2	75.09	106.23
Iermalin	3	A2.87	38.58	28.64	0	0	0	0	19.93	87. 18	54.62	101.43	83.63
Termalin	4	82.56	0	12.03	.46	0	5.64	63. DO	47.84	42.03	76.2	72.15	67.96
Termalin	5	54.01	0	0	0	.72	0	8,83	6,38	67.33	53.41	76.03	79.13
Termalin	6	89.53	13.05	38.65	1	100.01	39.05	65.61	59.56	98.54	69.03	88.37	127.4
Tormalin 10%	7	92.08	0	46.9	TOO.AM	9.08	42.00	82.05	DE A7	125.62	159_45	151.55	160.45
fermalin 10%	A	65.23	72	0	0	13.01	33.03	48.00	10.09	69.41	83.61	58.95	112.92
Ineminites 10%	9	30.54	Ō	0	٥	6.88	0	0	2.00	45.00	32.72	21.25	42.16
lormalin 10%	10	52.01	1.08	0	39.02	a	0	31.69	0	15.11	89.27	71.11	38.14
vehicle	1	ð	0	0	0	a	0	ā	ā	0	0	0	0
vehicle	2	٥	0	0	0	0	Ō	0	0	0	Ó	ð	0
vehicle	3	0	0	0	0	0	Ō	0	Ō	0	0	0	0
vehicle	4	2.3	0	0	Ō	ā	3.40	3.7	5.4	45	1.08	4.09	4.03
whicle	5	14	a	0	ō	0	à	a	a	18.99	4.66	0.52	17.65
vehicle	6	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
whicle	7	0	0	Ô.	0	0	0	0	0	٥	0	0	0
vehicle	A	1.06	0	0	0	0	a	11.46	3.01	0	0	0	0
vehicle	9	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	ō
rehiefe	10	4.98	0	0	0	0	0	4.31	o	0	5.97	0	ō

Appendix 1: Shows time (sec) opent licking the injected hind paw, in blocks of 6 min after subcutaneous injection of 10% formalin or vehicle in the hind paw in the naked mole-rat during a 1 h observation period.

Treatment	Annual	0 - 5	15 - 10	10 -15	15 - 20	20 - 25	25 30	30 35	35 - 40	40 -45	45 - 50	50 -55	55-60	60 - 65	63 - 70	70 - 75	75 - 80	80 - 65	85 - 90	90 - 95	95 - 100	100 -	105 -	110 -	1115 -
	number	11111	min	min	min	min	min	min	min	min	min	min	min	mia	min	វាមេន	min	mia	2010	ការដ	min	105 min	110 mm	115 0000	120 mm
lormain 10%	1	25.2	0	16.2	Ō	22.91	9.46	117.44	69.46	121.25	109.5	117.86	86.52	98.05	110.83	171.86	158.75	144.87	82.23	79.12	116.13	59.36	64.96	65.93	27.33
formalize 10%	2	48.05	0	6.93	2.4	2.61	40.17	07.57	140.96	159.6	155.83	164.54	127.21	142.02	108.1	123.89	69.13	94.43	89.47	78.46	56.61	26.34	61.76	0	0
formalin 10%	3	82.60	35.20	19,99	67.09	30.21	158.82	103.82	169.29	140.13	159.63	176.49	185.59	157.39	124.15	175.67	101.26	103.48	141.99	170.53	96.76	160.64	165.54	172.12	150.91
10%	4	67.2	0	14.39	0	0	76.36	104.23	165.13	195.17	170.12	180.2	120.54	25.13	170.19	252.73	180.38	199.65	112.02	102.43	39.43	0	0	45.2	28.02
10 mm.lin ] 0%	5	95.64	0	0	0	105.06	0	38.48	213.73	31.64	243.17	48.1	144.63	193.99	207.58	163.09	172.93	177.17	164.91	159.89	193.26	116.07	41.5	154.83	6.06
vehicie	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	٥	0	Ŏ	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
vehicle	2	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	ů.	0	0
vehicle	3	4.87	0	0	7.94	0	0	0	0	0	0	9.67	2.33	1.32	4.76	0	0	0	2.67	9.54	0	5.4	1.85	2.09	0
venicie	4	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	٥	0	0	0	0
vehicle	5	3.23	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	7.43	0	2.09	1.06	0	0	1.63	0	0

Appendix 2: Time (see) spent licking the injected hind paw, in blocks of 5 mm after subcutaneous injection of 10% formalm or vehicle in the hind paw of the naked mole-rat during a 2 h observation period.

	Animal	0 - 5	5 - 10	10 15	15 - 20	20 - 25	25 - 30	130 - 35	35 - 40	40 - 45	45 - 50	50 - 55	55 - 60
Ticamore	number	min	min	Inin	min	min	min	min	min	៣២	min	min	min
Thicle		13	0	13	0	4	113	23	40	126	79	109	190
- bule	2	70	0	2		0	0	0	0	5	21	10	32
ve luie	3	34	0	10	0	14	7	131	19	44	46	66	94
Viscle.	4	114	0	0	0	0	25	113	48	45	179	123	128
Venicie	5	39	0	17	1	Ō	0	0	32	45	6	145	100
wrnich	6	86	14	0	2	ð	0	0	0	0	0	15	39
VELICE	7	69	6	7	0	25	01	29	112	58	161	123	171
venicie	8	43	0	0	0	19	31	77	150	146	210	218	268
Lick	0	141	63	14	14	0	37	29	72	101	137	149	174
- Lule	110	177	10	30	1	Ŏ	11	131	110		174	176	150
senicite	11	64	0	10	0	0	104	25	55	42	74	115	65
10	12	149	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	9	16	72	0
10	3	107	0	10	0	0	0	0	21	13	35	154	240
141 30	14	95	10	10	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	149	13
101 10	15	43	10	18	0	10	10	0	0	0	41	105	128
Pet 10	A	205	10	18	0	10	0	0	0	0	12	245	4.9
141 10	17	150	193	0	0	10	0	Ň	11	105	140	60	106
141 10	18	55	10	228	40	0.8	282	TT	147	A1	110	191	421
121 10	0	82	10	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	278	7
141 10	110	146	35	10	21	10	0	2	105	173	292	288	228
141 10	11	20	10	10	112	10	0	10	0	0	14	118	80
1'el 20	3	11	10	10	0	10	0	10	6	0	0	0	100
1.20	1	17	10	0	0	0	<u> </u>	0	0	6	0	161	154
11et 20	4	0	10	10	18	1 <del>×</del>	N	×		8	0	103	1
pet 20	5	12	0	0		10	0	0	0		0		
1/21 20	A	05	10	0		10	0		0	0	0	0	0
141 20	2	4	10	13	10		1		0	<u> </u>	<u> </u>	1.0	114
Tel 20	4	0	10	10	0	10	-	<u> </u>	0	0	0		11
Pet 20	0	71	114	10	X		0	<u>0</u>	0	0	U	10	20
l'et 20	10	6	1.	10	X		0	0	V	0	-	0	38
1'el 20	10	61	0	0	0	0	0	0	U	U	0	10	0
net 30	1	15	12	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	9	0
1et 30	2	15	0	0	0	10	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
1ie1 30	3	49	0	0	0	10	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
net 30	4	56	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
pet 30	5	38	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
net 30	6	8	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
pet 30	7	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
1#1 30	6	3.9	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	46	91	164
pet 30	9	59	39	13	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	102
1rel 30	10	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0

Appendix 3: Shows number of licks recorded in blocks of 5 min of after i.p. injection of vehicle or pethidine (pei)  $\frac{10}{10}$ , 20 and 30 mg/kg in the naked mole-rai during a 1 h observation period.

.

.

.

Trestment	Animel	0-5	15.10	110 - 15	115.20	20 28	105 10					10-11-	145 - 141
	number	min	min	min	min	20 20	- 40 - JU	30 30	30.40	40 40		00 00	
vehicle	11	19.31	0	1415	0	1 44	62 60	16 74	20 74	90.4	51.08	RD K4	101 41
vehicle	12	42.24	0	.98	60	0	0	0	0	2 44	10 10	5.9	17 11
vehicle	3	17.69	10	0	0	T AT	1 03	64 17		15.04	15 44	24.54	46.69
vehicle	14	45.26	10	10	10	0	1111	A 37	20.42	14 54	44	55 43	A1 28
vehicle	5	20.26	lõ	0.60	90	la	0	0	IN IN	17 65	2.56	56.6	50.68
vehitile	6	37	2.44	0	1.63	la	0	ō	0	0	5.00	D0.11	34.93
vehicle	17	25.34	3.1	2.69	0	13.67	26.61	12.36	50.69	25.04	19.95	54.63	77 95
vehicle	A	14.29	0	0	la	7.59	11.46	27.26	60 4 8	58.08	45.67	00.87	PLAT
vehicle	9	59.4	24.02	11.94	1.0	0	16.72	12 12	74.15	39.75	56 94	64.18	76 13
vehicle	10	79.64	0	21.23	.5	ō	4.64	54.00	51.05	46.84	72.58	76.1	66.66
Pet 10	11	27.53	0	0	0	lö	50.72	10.18	21.95	19.90	32.62	50.83	28.13
Pet 10	2	67.97	0	10	0	0	0	0	0	3.83	7 49	33.9	0
Pet 10	3	7.48	0	0	0	10	10	lõ –	10	I Q	0	0	0
Pet 10	4	43.63	lõ.	lō	ō	0	0	10	la	la la	0	88.43	8.56
Pet 10	5	22.23	Ô.	là	lõ –	1 <u>0</u>	10	ō	lõ –	10	21.14	49 04	A2 61
Pet 10	6	105.53	0	10	ŏ	1 <u>ŏ</u>	0	0	10	10	15.54	124 34	23.47
Pet 10	17	73.13	53.60	10	0	ŏ	0	10	28.45	74.38	120.10	17.44	79.12
Pet 10	18	26.63	0	104.32	25 89	62 38	143 15	20.94	66 18	28 18	62 5	104 51	247 35
Pet 10	9	35.71	0	0	0	0	0	0	0010	0	0	123.98	9 14
1121 0	110	83.54	15.98	lõ	37.25	ă	0	T dA	30.83	AA AT	132 08	125 50	95.42
Pet 20	11	12.28	0	lā —	6.36	1 <del>0</del>	0	0	0	0	A AQ	IAI	38 56
Pet 20	12	5.84	10	1 <u>ö</u>	0	lõ	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
pet 20	13	7.33	10	10	tă —	lõ.	10	10	1 A	10	0	07 0	78.54
pet 20	14	50.06	0	10	0	0	0	849	18.61	147 23	137 34	115 68	148 78
Pet 20	15	10.2	0	10	lă	0	0	0	10.00	0	0	0	0
Pel 20	6	44.79	Ō	0	ō	lō —	0	tă	0	lă —	0	lõ	0
Pet 20	7	1.83	0	1.66	2.38	1.08	2.67	10	0	10	0	12.58	10.08
141 20	A	0	0	0	0	0	0	10	0	0	0	0	0
Pet 20	0	19.93	0	0	0	0	0	0	. 93	62.71	28.66	150.81	109 66
Pet 20	10	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
pet 50	1	20.34	1.63	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	4	0
pet 30	2	6.85	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
pet 30	3	24.98	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
pet 30	4	30.4	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
pet 30	5	18.49	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
pet 30	6	3.8	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
pel 30	7	Ó	l õ	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	Ò	0	0
pel 30	8	21.13	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	20.08	35.58	75.09
pet 30	0	29.96	19.17	6.46	10	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	45.03
pet 30	110	0	0	10	TO	10	0	0	0	0	0	0	0

Appendix 4: Shows time (sec) spent licking the injected hind paw, in blocks of 5 min after i.p. injection of vehicle or pethidine (pet) (10, 20 and 30 mg/kg) in the naked mole-rat during a 1 h observation period.

•
Treatment	Animal	0 - 5	5 - 10	10 - 15	15 - 20	20 - 25	25 - 30	30 - 35	35 - 40	40 - 45	45 - 50	50 - 55	55 - 60
	number	min	min	nun	inin	min	min	min	min	min	min	mtn	min
vehicle	1	83	0	7	7	19	22	78	173	161	254	230	274
vehicle	2	75	0	0	0	2	11	25	27	159	34	172	186
vehicle	3	201	90	64	0	0	0	0	49	159	120	198	204
vehicle	4	181	0	29	1	0	15	129	115	110	179	170	162
vehicle	5	120	0	0	0	1	0	16	14	130	120	165	164
vehicle	6	196	25	69	2	165	76	127	117	173	135	170	238
vehicle	7	183	0	90	181	17	72	134	151	259	293	246	298
vehicle	8	161		0	0	29	68	116	107	138	197	121	243
vehicle	9	66	0	0	0	10	0	0	8	97	67	45	91
vehicle	10	71	5	0	76	0	0	43	0	27	183	125	75
cod 10	I	24	0	0	15	0	0	0	0	0	0	68	2
cod 10	2	17	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	Ō	10	0
cod 10	3	108	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	Ö	0	132	242
cod 10	4	90	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	112	153	79	108
cod 10	5	103	16	39	0	20	0	0	18	34	59	117	102
cod 10	6	135	29	9	3	0	0	0	0	5	191	185	157
cod 10	7	103	0	0	0	0	0	29	210	89	42	180	153
cod 10	8	60	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	4	72	88	184
cod 10	9	84	12	0	0	0	20	26	27	136	202	182	78
cod 10	10	139	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	55	127	122	174
cod 25	1	39	0	0	0	0	0	27	30	146	92	86	179
cod 25	2	73	0	4	0	0	0	41	22	126	109	110	128
cod 25	3	82	44	38	0	0	0	0	33	150	13	158	86
cod 25	4	147	0	0	0	0	0	0	91	85	141	180	182
cod 25	5	57	0	Ō	0	0	0	0	0	96	134	пп	129
cod 25	6	89	0	0	0	0	0	0	140	78	150	126	92
cod 25	7	95	0	0	0	0	0	0	35	49	82	101	132
coil 25	8	67	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	Ō	52	107
cod 25	9	65	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	21	63	97	142
cod 25	10	53	0	0	0	0	0	0	29	52	103	101	97
cod 50	1	5	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
cod 50	2	20	0	0	0	0	0	Ō	0	0	0	0	0
cod 50	3	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
cod 50	4	5	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
cod 50	5	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	10	0	0	0	0
cod 50	6	14	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
cod 50	7	38	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
cod 50	8	24	0	ö	0	0	0	0	tō	0	ō	ō	0
cod 50	9	30	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
cod 50	10	8A	0	0	ă	ă	0	<del></del>	0	0	0	0	ă

Appendix 5: Number of licks recorded in blocks of 5 min after i.p. injection of vehicle or codeine (cod) (10, 25 and 50 mg/kg) in the naked inole-rat during a 1 h observation period.

Treatment	Animal	<u>іо – Б</u>	6 - 10	10 - 15	15.20	20.25	26. 30	30.95	96 40	40 - 41	46 . 60	EO EE	E.C. 40
	number	min	min	min	min	min	min	min	50 - 40	min	min	00 - 00	00 - 00
vehicle		44.05	0	3 29	3.55	9.35	10.29	10.16	100.83	85 59	140.24	111 58	187 40
vehicle	2	12.98	Ö	0	Ō.	.06	1.1	11.50	12.2	67.35	212	75 49	108 21
vehicle	3	82.67	38.55	28.54	0	0	0	0	10.03	87.18	14 14	101.45	ALL S
vehicle	4	82.56	Ō	12.03	.45	0	5.64	I.S.P.I	47.84	42.05	70.2	72.15	67 BA
vehicle	5	54.01	Ō	0	Q	.7/	0	<b>LILN</b>	6.38	87.55	55.41	76.03	79.13
vehicle	6	09.53	13.05	38.85	1	100.01	39.05	65.61	59.58	<b>P8.54</b>	69.03	86.37	127.4
vehicle	7	92.06	0	45.0	100.88	9.00	42.99	62.96	66.67	125.82	159.45	131.55	159.45
vehicle	8	65.23	.72	0	0	13.01	33.05	48.98	40.09	69 41	AJ LA	58.95	112.92
vehicle	9	30.54	0	0	0	5.85	0	0	2.99	45.06	32 72	21.25	42.16
vehicle	10	32.81	1.96	0	39.02	0	0	21.60	0	13.11	99.27	71.11	38.14
coil 10		12.3	0	0	8.39	0	0	0	0	Ō	0	36 33	55
cod 10	2	8.21	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	3.35	0
cod 10	3	52.05	0	0	Ō	0	0	0	Ò	0	0	79.00	149.52
cod 10	4	47.51	0	0	0	0	a	0	0	73 29	89.64	45.74	61.54
rod 10	5	56.88	9.0	17	0	9.76	Ô.	Ō	7.2	18.82	32 69	73.09	69.42
rod_10	6	50.75	16.62	4.95	1.09	0	0	0	0	2.07	105.29	110.31	91.13
rod 10	7	58,5	Ô	0	0	0	0	13.00	114.03	44.93	21.21	102 46	85.06
cod 10	8	33.52	0	0	0	0	0	Ô	0	21.63	41.34	50 66	109.48
cod 10	9	45.17	5.03	0	0	0	11.21	14.8	15.98	72.37	114.52	107.17	39.74
cod l0	10	50.26	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	25.20	61.12	60.06	91.89
rod 25	1	19 79	0	0	Ō	0	ā i	14.12	14.9	74.29	57.78	52.17	85.01
cod 25	2	35.43	Ō	2.28	0	0	0	20.87	12.17	89.15	66.26	71.99	80.41
cod 25	3	51.67	29.13	2574	0	0	0	0	20.34	97.49	7.82	81.69	39. 4
rod 25	4	85.21	0	0	0	0	0	0	44.32	41,97	78.33	104.29	101.24
cod 25	5	30.35	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	45.82	69.73	49.5	69.05
Lod 25	6	42.10	0	0	0	0	Ō	0	85.14	32.01	101.23	70.02	41.22
cod 25	7	42.87	0	0	0	0	0	0	17.44	27.41	31.38	46.45	76.28
cod 25	8	31.00	0	0	0	0	a	0	0	0	0	22.85	51.02
cod 25	0	20.10	0	Ō	0	0	0	0	0	9.36	32.08	47.62	63.66
cud 25	10	27.96	0	0	0	0	0	0	13.78	26.06	55.29	53.1	50.48
cod 50	1	3.59	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
cod 50	2	11.09	0	Ō	0	0	0	0	0	Õ	0	0	0
cod 50	3	0	0	0	0	0	0	Ō	Ō	0	0	0	0
cod 50	4	2.7	0	0	0	Ō	Ō	Ō	a	0	0	0	0
cod 50	6	0	0	0	0	0	Ō	0	0	Ō	0	0	0
cod 50	6	4.8	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
cod 50	7	20.0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
cod b0	8	14 11	0	0	0	0	0	Ō	0	0	0	0	0
cod 50	8	15.33	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
cod 50	10	35.3	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0

Appendix 6: Time (sec) spent licking the injected hind paw, in blocks of 5 min after i.p. injection of vehicle or codeme (cod) [10, 25 and 50 mg/kg) in the naked mole-rat during a 1 h observation period.

Treatment	Animal	0-5	5 - 10	10 - 15	16 20	20 - 26	25 - 30	30 - 35	135 - 40	40 - 45	45 - 50	50 - 55	55 - 60
	number	min	min	min	min	min	min	min	min	inin	min	min	min
vehicle		88	0	0	55	81	195	180	220	140	170	IAA	218
vehicle	2	166	10	32	15	53	203	186	167	PIL	104	205	216
vehicle	3	117	31	16	0	39	12	167	05	7.	139	161	02
vehicle	14	58	18	90	158	40	73	4	115	240	1250	180	172
vehicle	5	162	0	0	0	0	46	160	85	40	256	107	106
vehicle	6	225	84	90	51	0	0	0	122	10	120	205	178
vehicle	7	218	0	116	130	0	0	0	0	i i i	174	180	103
vehicle	8	152	0	0	0	0	46	159	88	47	249	107	106
vehicle	0	116	0	0	0	32	1	0	1	16	101	72	59
vehicle	10	189	15	90	158	49	75	5	116	Phi-	256	162	170
ASA 200	1	144	29	0	0	0	19	82	54	143	124	129	137
ASA 200	2	134	0	10	2	36	110	82	145	153	187	179	170
ASA 200	3	110	48	0	0	0	23	0	0	33	88	117	20
ASA 200	4	43	0	1.8	5	9	9	0		180	44	77	101
ASA 200	5	119	5	0	8	ō	ő	0	0	54	117	191	191
ASA 200	8	171	98	62	61	24	0		IKO	110	200	164	181
ASA 200	7	57	0	0	0	0	0	0	100	40	43	140	183
ASA 200	a	132	2	22	Ť.	21	2	0	67	17	11.0	50	30
ASA 200	9	177	99	07	0	8	0	199	944	1 F	100	205	110
ASA 200	10	140	11	80	0	16	0	0	204	100	33	203	07
ASA 400	11	00	A	0	3	10	0			01	0	7.3	107
ASA 400	12	89	0	0	8	8	A 1	10	40	18	90	137	124
454 400	1	148	0	0	0	0	0	0	00	5.2	110	143	149
ASA 400	4	110	17		1	80	U	0	97	D/	U	138	U
454 400	5	145	1	2.0		00	70	0.0	100	107	127		
ASA 400	A	167	EE	40	N N	0	U	1.1	184	81	179	108	175
ASA 400	17	145	120	12	0	X	u .	141	34	114	62	117	198
ASA 400	A	105	74	<u>0</u>	TT	0	0	U	0	U	242		103
ASA 400	0	107	49	0	19	U I O I	20	101	229	22	136	101	141
ASA 400	in	63	10	0	0	101	183	0	4	130	32	98	107
AGA 600		0.2	0	0	0	19	0	0	2	7	78	82	182
ACA ROO	12	151	04	8	10	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	204
ACA EDO	4	131		0	U	0	0	0	37	0	0	168	36
ASA BOO	17	103	3	44	30	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
ASA BIN	12	103	30	60	0	0	0	D	0	7	27	186	1114
ASA 800	6	108	3	0	0	1	U	U	0	8	0	00	30
AGA ADA	9	TUN	0		0	0	0	0	67	100	84	133	40
ACA ROA	8	05	0	2			U	0	20	U	100	120	40
ASA 600	8	70	13	N N			10	0	0	106	81	47	HO
ASA 600	10	10	07	01	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	100	117
10A 000	110	0.8	41	02	0	26	30	0	0	0	70	68	138

Appendix 7: Number of licks recorded in blocks of 5 min after i.p. injection of vehicle or ASA (200, 400 and 600 mg/kg) in the naked mole-rat during a 1 h observation period.

Transforment	4-11												
Treatment	Animai	0.0	D + 10	10 - 16	15 - 20	20 - 26	32 - 30	30 • 35	36 - 40	40 - 45	45 - 50	50 - 55	55 - 60
Vehlule	number	46.02	min		min	min	min	min	min	min		min	min
vehicle	1	70 74	1 04	11 70	39.39	00.21		140.28	109.00	109 42	144.03	102.3	100.50
vehicle	13	64.05	18 44	7 64	0.04	40.04	Ind.9D	120 00	114.00	107.07	110.18	104.40	1/1/0
Nehicle	1	44.4	716	1.0.1	03 01	10.01		104.83	41.40	40.34	34.79		63.73
vehicle	<b>B</b>	00 05	7.10	0.07	83.01	20.20	30.00	I.DW	80.34	110.00	109.04	131.96	130.09
Veniele	A	111 21	0	82 1	07.90	0	27.00	113.03	48.09	20.00	190.03	79.10	78.82
venicie	7	27.0	0	DJ.	07.34	0	0	0	0	43.07	74.42	80.31	41.28
venicie	4	07.04	00 64	31.00	DE TA	12.39	13.03	22.02	132.37	107.8	63.05	130.11	140.84
venicie	0	87.04	4 4	47.23	20.7J	0	0	0	D7 3D	8.03	00.20	99.23	91.29
venicie	8	63.23	A	40.04	03.01	28.28	38.65	1.45	69.69	122.10	137.07	01.01	91.68
ACA 200	10	74 45	LAPA	0	0	19.93	19	0	1.06	0.0	64.98	38.33	26.2
154 200		71.03	10.00	U	0	0	12.06	<b>58 58</b>	39.17	107.8	DEL D	07.92	110.77
ASA 200	2	78.00	0	5.23	1.13	22.01	BO. D6	55.54	101.77	107.12	130.01	144_07	122.09
101 000	.1	04.30	27.78	0	0	0	10.67	0	0	13.09	66.16	93.58	10.76
A5A 200	4	22.18	0	4.12	2.65	4.69	5.09	4.72	8.24	112.24	57.09	51.59	66.3
A5A 200	5	57.59	2.13	0	3.58	0	0	0	0	41.48	76.79	64.25	66.96
ASA 200	6	68.07	0	0	a	0	18.73	76.33	29.02	21.3	132.62	58.54	41.06
ASA 200	7	75.63	46.97	33 14	31.15	12.46	0	20.55	101.28	73.59	04.24	49.35	93.73
ASA 200	8	67.37	.95	10.41	4.2	10.18	1	0	34.12	8.17	29	23.46	14.16
ASA 200	9	84.46	51.21	61.78	0	0	0	67.29	131.5	89.69	6.75	D1,23	55.72
ASA 200	10	24 07	0	0	0	0	3.65	0	74.97	17.42	28.97	66.66	84.78
ASA 400	11	26.39	0	0	Ō	5.89	Ō	0	97	2.01	35,28	41.28	143.69
ASA 400	2	51.35	25.53	0	0	51.56	98.96	0		62.68	14.26	40.23	60.01
ASA 400	3	88.69	71.83	1.60	0	0	0	0	0	0	130.04	60.09	46.02
ASA 400	4	86.25	26.68	0	0	0	0	75.23	20,38	45.23	26 14	59.66	45.78
ASA 400	5	82.42	42 64	0	4.63	0	7.59	81.17	106 24	12.36	71.06	50.41	72.72
ASA 400	6	43.72	2.57	a	1.26	0	15.22	7.42	32.02	51.69	68.48	99.1	99.72
ASA 400	7	49.48	0	ā i	Ō	0	Ō	0	46.72	31.22	97.88	102.74	97.75
ASA 400	0	73.45	0	0	0	0	0	0	72.63	42.20	0	109.58	0
ASA 400	Ĥ	14.62	6.67	0	5.56	40.96	48.74	48.58	60.85	114.04	96.73	126.10	89.03
ASA 400	10	69.09	1.25	18.48	0	0	0	68 72	94.29	28.09	82.15	79.03	73.52
ASA 600	1	51.63	0	0	Ó	0	0	0	43.67	83.95	59.7	113 77	35.98
ASA 600	2	65.37	0	0	0	0	0	0		ō	76.48	93.9	28.43
ASA 600	3	30.21	6.51	3.96	3.11	3.	10.18	0	0	80.25	85.62	34.33	65.78
ASA 800	4	39.53	25.76	47.04	Ô	0	0	0	0	0	0	82.67	97.02
ASA 600	5	32.92	16.33	26.21	0	17.19	17.81	ō	0	0	48.66	47.45	95.81
ASA 600	6	03.63	0	0	Ö	0	0	0	21.21	0	0	91.34	18.69
ASA 000	7	117 09	46.9	0	4.36	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	103.32
ASA 600	A	82.92	1.34	15.10	17.57	ð	0	lõ	0	ō	0	0	0
ASA 600	0	44.55	16.09	25.13	ð	ō	0	0	0	3.45	12.08	108.54	60.91
A5A 600	10	41.43	1.32	0	0	92	0	0	0	4.01	0	28.41	11.71

Appendix 8: Time (sec) spent licking the injected hind paw, in blocks of 5 min after i.p. injection of vehicle or ASA (200, 400 and 600 mg/kg) in the naked mole-rat during a 1 h observation period.

Treatment	Antinal	0 - 5	5 - 10	10 - 15	15 - 20	20 - 25	25 - 30	30 - 35	35 - 40	40 - 45	45 - 50	50 - 55	55 - 80
	number	min	min	min	intn	min	min	min	min	min	ការក	min	min
vehicle	1	58	0	Ö	0	4		129	2	49	98	102	93
vehicle	2	179	10	0	0	1	10	131	110	118	174	176	163
vehicle	3	200	130	113	14	0	170	78	20	135	51.	266	152
vehicle	1	187	9	29	180	45	63	13	118	135	170	182	202
vehicle	5	76	0	0	0	0	0	36	27	180	35	178	180
vehicle	6	119	0	0	0	0	Ō	15	16	132	116	170	161
vehicle	7	117	2	0	0	0	0	0	179	62	129	191	236
vehicle	A	121	8	14	0	0	0	0	0	88	70	141	150
vehicle	0	50		0	0	0	0	29	62	90	10	29	80
vehicle	10	69	22	0	0	7	8	20	80	60	1141	98	217
nap 50		163	17	15	10	14	0	10	90	37	139	91	99
nap 50	2	122	76	59	0	33	0	38	140	37	78	55	183
пар 60	3	184	154	18	24	132	11	3	0	42	44	110	88
nap 50	4	223	115	99	80	0	41	88	25	101	111	113	172
nap 60	5	104	26	29	89	11	18	89	0	129	98	157	196
nap 50	8	225	24	102	22	47	71	159	85	109	120	171	166
пар 50	7	128	18	0	0	0	0	51	147	135	177	201	TAA
nap 50	8	98	8	0	0	0	0	18	0	108	115	162	71
nap 50	9	60	15	0	0	0	0	29	81	129	72	29	18
nap 50	10	73	0	0	0	0	0	0	115	82	17	22	39
nap 100	1	172	19	51	17	0	73	37	141	165	169	155	215
nap 100	2	138	8	17	35	15	6		0	24	46	31	131
nap 100	3	122	69	95	8	5	35	146	1	0	0	77	5
nap 100	4	104	0	0	34	74	0	0	0	0	10	0	0
лар 100	6	226	60	30	91	59	104	28	93	18	121	104	198
nap 100	6	76	11	0	0	18	7	13	AA	81	04	71	AA
nap 100	7	78	30	16	68	15	20	5	10	30	31	40	101
nap 100	8	214	112	2	2.6	0	25	11		IA	240	113	00
нар 100	0	87	33	142	58	8	IA	107	0	5	180	80	51
nap 100	10	120	57	44	11	18	141	101	153	109	113	174	123
nap 200	1	65	31	0	0	0	10	0	0	70	63	153	61
nap 200	2	102	94	199	Ō	ō	ō	ā	0	0	115	100	120
nap 200	3	236	190	143	9	ā	0	õ	ō	114-	166	193	108
nap 200	4	150	43	32	98	24	00	87	ii -	85	55	32	52
nap 200	5	153	08	43	20	9	B	28	87	BT	134	218	101
nap 200	6	62	0	0	6	0	0	0	4	Ó	0	0	0
nap 200	7	88	17	62	40	0	0	0	31	211	116	138	183
nap 200	8	73	4	46	28	0	22	0	0	0	0	0	0
nap 200	9	74	0	7	0	0	0	0	Ō	0	0	0	0
nap 200	10	89	20	18	22	10	10	0	10	10	0	88	29

Appendix 9: Number of licks recorded in blocks of 5 mm after i.p. injection of vehicle or naproxen (nap) (50, 100 and 200 mg/kg) in the naked mole-rat during a 1 h observation period.

-

App	endix 10;	Time (sec	) spent licking	the injected hind	paw, in blocks	of 5 min after	I.p. Injection of	vehicle or naurozen (nau	4
150	100 and	2/10 minut/h	of the theory of the					the second second second second	- N
1490.			<u>Ri in une neked</u>	mole-rel during	a b abaamatta	n norte d			
			the second second	Indic ter dattig	W I U OUDCLAFTIO	I DEFIDUL			

Trestment	Animal	0.5	5 - 10	10-15	115 - 20	120 - 25	125 - 30	130 - 35	35 - 40	40 - 45	145 - 141	150 - 55	155 . 80
	number	min	min	min	min	min	min	min	min	min	min	min	min
vehicle	1	30.98	0	0	0	1.96	2.99	65.23	10.44	25.48	52.80	58.52	49.87
vehicle	2	89.94	0	0	0		4.54	54.00	51.5	47.60	73.51	78.35	107 2
vehicle	3	89.94	11.17	6.1	6.19	0	69.75	39.13	15.53	70.22	21.52	139.24	61.97
vehicle	4	85.01	4.58	15.52	89.11	26.19	33,45	6.21	60.59	71.00	91.66	93.94	105.61
vehicle	6	43.96	0	0	0	0	0	15.50	12.21	84.56	22	81.8D	100 22
vehicle	6	53.21	0	0	0	0	0	6.82	6.96	67.63	80.41	79.08	79.12
vehicle	7	52.95	1.96	0	0	0	0	0	91.3	29.56	66.36	106.38	145.34
vehicle	8	70.40	2.5	6. 8	0	0	0	0	0	45.65	44.67	91.54	06.39
vehicle	9	28.01	.41	0	0	10	10	15.65	AND	50.01	7.59	15 49	45.91
vehicle	10	48.81	12.81	0	10	4.2	3.96	10.04	43.03	35.4	80.13	64.78	122.62
nap 50	11	109.48	6.35	9.9	8.28	9.33	0	7.01	64.99	28.99	66 12	60 17	A0 00
пар 50	2	83.24	51.89	38.08	0	21.38	0	22.83	1013	23.04	40.60	20 73	110.76
nap 50	3	108.36	102 69	12.05	14.79	00.23	8.99	149	0	24 72	22.6	60.98	47.01
nap 50	14	139.63	67.81	65.36	39.09	0	28 53	64 85	11 77	1.5 8 11		73 10	107 84
nap 50	5	59.37	15.69	IS OA	54 85	8.97	10.04	KAA	0	AK AG	R. A		114.44
nap 50	6	135.94	9.93	58.4	11.35	28.57	43.88	ASAA	10 19	80.5	60 66	107 7	00 24
nep 50	7	01.11	8 33	0	0	0	0	30 4	01.64	49 77	117.01		116 77
nap 50	8	16.20	5.01	0	0	0	0	10.25	0	80 80	86 80	02 02	AE BA
nap 50	9	36 28	8 29	0	0	0	0	18.25	40.88	70.03	E2 81	18 24	10 17
nap 50	10	45.21	0	10	10	0	10	10 10	84 08	60 10	019	10.20	100 07
nap 100	1	93.39	10.33	37	12.25	i i	IA AA	23.12	04 43	TILAA	100 71	100 38	144 80
map 100	2	81.14	5.47	10.66	19.6	9.26	2.64	8.73	0	IK KK	28 40	14 44	100 01
map 100	3	76.08	49.63	68.98	2.69	1 47	23.43	102 51	12 17	0	0	65 9	914
nap 100	4	00.09	0	0	23.36	62 82	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
nap 100	5	147.78	35.24	20.34	61.8	38.58	73 78	17.03	67.94	27.04	91.09	71 83	145 25
nap 100	6	48.02	4.93	0	0	3.05	4.5	74	42 26	41.59	58 78	11 64	55 AB
nap 100	7	47.69	14.66	9.04	58.08	A AA	18 12	1.07	11 67	10.26	20 10	24.05	117 44
пар 100	8	159 49	80.78	.94	2.52	0	14.6	30.57	60.61	10.84	TALAT	61.03	61 15
1ap 100	0	56.3	20.31	108.09	45.99	I AA	10.61		AIA	2.26	180 80	40.2	15 01
nap 100	10	72.84	37.34	28.99	5.09	0.40	86 40	76 81	103.38	78 12	79.05	127 83	03 38
пар 200	1	37.93	23.16	0	0	0	0	0	104.55	48.08	18 00	0141	38 59
nap 200	2	62.26	55.40	13.06	ō	0	0	0	0	0	65 70	10 10	75 75
nap 200	3	184.32	142.92	104.42	8.29	ō	Ő.	0	0	70.97	124 84	28 31	137 84
nap 200	4	104.28	28.75	20.69	69	TRI	78.2	AK 21	94 97	71.00	10 37	17 11	28 30
nap 200	5	99.33	64.29	28.96	12.15	4.52	5.01	17.79	54.07	51 AS	01.00	150	72 4
nap 200	6	39.49	0	0	3.11	0	0	0	1 40	0	0	10	10
nap 200	7	63.21	11.28	42.75	29.05	0	0	0	20.61	150.2	84 70	100 62	128.24
пар 200	8	50.79	2.06	30.22	16.33	0	TATA	10	10	0	00.70	100.04	140.40
nap 200	0	45.27	0	2.76	0	0	0	0	0	8	10	0	0
nap 200	110	52.06	11.26	11.21	12.63	0	ñ	0	0	6	ă	58 02	10.43

Treatment	Antinal	0 - B	15 - 10	10 - 15	116 - 20	20 - 25	125 - 50	130 - 36	36 - 40	40 - 45	45 - 50	160 - 55	55 - 60
	number	min	min	min	min	inin	min	min _	min	min	min	min	min
vehicle	3	243	199	131	0	0	0	97	43	169	198	201	195
vehicle	12	128	15	114	85	18	22	12	151	133	195	172	152
vehicle	3	128	69	104	0	40	42	21	148	138	255	220	232
vehicle	4	72	2	0	1	0	12	10	78	124	171	118	111
vehicle	6	52	0	52	24	1	0	54	85	56	100	95	155
vehicle	Ĝ	180	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	142	1111
vehicle	7	85	7	20	42	7	8	33	79	62	139	84	221
vehicle	6	TIL		0	0	0	12	18	138	101	73	im –	129
vehicle	9	178	0	22	0	0	29	152	117	116	179	180	101
vehicle	10	190	16	00	128	12	0	3	125	208	228	170	163
hyd 40	11	137	0		80	0	50	II	0	95	112	24	91
hyd 40	2	116	76	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
hyd 40	3	147	4	0	0	0	25	21	44	60	138	186	119
hyd 40	4	240	71	68	Ō	ō	0	0	5	118	160	80	100
hyd 10	5	93	3	0	0	0	0	0	0	129	178	100	209
hyd 40	6	208	74	0	Ō	5	0	98	144	178	125	198	210
ligit 10	17	200	99	35	5	5	9	0	9	ð	0	34	28
hyd 40	H	125	26	105	24	15	3	48	125	200	50	88	279
hyd 40	Ð	168	13	9	0	0	0	102	122	113	50	110	215
liyd 40	10	122	16	1	9	0	0	0	٥	105	112	96	1121
hyd 75		90	A	12	25	0	0	0	0	84	0	7	18
hyd 75	2	133	62	25	65	18	0	11	0	247	35	0	0
hyd 75	3	163	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	40	0	62	20
hyd 75	4	168	2	161	0	0	0	0	10	21	223	14	99
hyd 75	5	07	0	0	0	7	5	2	0	6	8	0	4
hyd 75	6	58	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	94	1	135
hyd 75	7	100	18	19	14	0	29	ō	45	74	18	138	40
hyd 75	8	44	10	0	0	0	Ō	0	0	18	111	101	48
hyd 75	9	121	10	0	0	0	0	0	ō	0	12	78	06
hyd 75	10	152	Б	0	0	0	0	0	29	121	78	94	26
hyd 150	1	125	26	15	0	0	62	24	30	81	28	89	0
hyd 150	2	156	0	0	Ö	0	Ō	0	0	0	0	0	0
hyd 150	3	101	162	43	0	Ō	20	0	ō	õ	0	0	0
hyd 150	4	94	59	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	20	53
hyd 150	5	233	10	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	15
hyd 150	0	126	7	13	18	0	0	lo lo	44	88	69	142	148
Tiyd 150	7	133	88	0	Ō	0	0	Ō	0	0	3	114	17
hyd 150	8	112	13	10	0	ō	0	0	a	0	20	186	41
hyd 150	9	78	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	60	122
hvd 150	110	AA	10	10	1	0	8	10	A	1	A	10	10

Appendix 11: Number of licks recorded in blocks of 5 min after i.p. injection of vehicle or hydrocortisone (hyd) [40, 75 and 150 mg/kg] in the naked mole-rat during a 1 h observation period.

Treatment	Animal	0 - 6	15 - 10	10 15	15 - 20	20 - 25	25 - 30	130 - 35	35 - 40	40 - 45	45 - 50	150 - 55	155 • 60
	number	mtn	min	min	min	min	inin	min	min	min	min		nuin
vehicle	1	143.16	66.84	18.21	Ō	0	0	56 26	22.32	A9.08	99.08	121.06	103.95
vehicle	2	82.96	7.12	7.9	58.83	10 23	IO P	7.26	79.37	85.09	135 17	119.51	93 69
vehicle	3	80.21	42.23	63.04	0	24.64	28.94	113.00	94 44	90.18	167 56	181 92	161.47
vehicle	4	40.23	89	0	T.K	0	6.82	103	45 57	71.26	105.65	66 16	69 6
vehicle	5	20.56	0	38.64	12 04	5 00	0	14 64	48.53	30 41	KK 71	54 25	HI IA
vehicle	6	109.89	lõ	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	07.50	64.78
vehicle	7	46 64	4.53	12 63	74.06	2 07	1 2 2	20.03	42.91	18 84	88 17	62 79	124 24
vehicle	8	51.29	43	0	0	0	6.09	8 60	74 57	80.07	40.14	82.02	78 73
vehicle	9	78.54	10	10.17	0	0	17 48	6.40	57 1		74 64	78 17	114 55
vehicle	110	A5 36	7 69	45 15	70.00	7 19	7	80	7.4	100 44	184 98	01 43	01 41
hvd 40	1	71 97	0	AAA	81 24	0	TT IT	8.08	0	87 90	77 64	11 55	46.86
hvd 40	2	59.03	44 42	0.10	0	0	A	0.00	<u>0</u>	07.40	0	0	10.00
byd 40	3	81.20	1.58	0	0	0	0.00	IT OR	34 74	31 70		122 47	67 12
hurl 40	4	145 60	42.08	45.04	0	0	0		2.98	11. 46	100 48	44.00	115 00
byd 40	16	48 75	0.4	10.00	ŏ.	10	0	8	4.30		04 64	1100	1111.04
Juni 40	A	112 34	45 20	Ň	Ň	5 44	0	87.71	44.2	LOE OR	47 47	104 14	135 61
hvd 40	7	107 55	100.27	20.08	2.04	2 04	8 20	10	811	00.00	0	10 21	111 4
hvd 40	A	70.85	16 15	73 AT	18 12	A 64	1 04	22 64	70 D	147.84	17 AK	RT 64	131 11
hvd 40	0	80.38	8.46	5 29	3.82	0	0	50 49	72 07	AL 40	28 38	81 19	125.34
hvil 40	110	68.02	8.65	42	8.2	6	0	0	0	62 45	85 40	60.10	70 12
byd 75	11	417	3 18	A 44	14.21	0	0	0	0	52 45	0	2 83	7 41
hvd 75	12	78.7	27 83	15 13	35.0	A 02	0	51 33	0	141 04	21.25	0	0
hvd 75	13	00.48	0	0	0	0	0	0	6	20 40	0	35 72	0.43
hvd 75	1	97.84	04	28.3	ŏ	0	ő	0	0.80	11 47	117 85	ARG	SA RA
byd 75	16	51 31	0	0	0	9 10	1.41	00	0	1.83	2 59	0	1.61
hvil 75	6	31.57	0	ň	0	0	0	0	0	0	81.03	60	80 75
hvd 75	7	105 78	10.20	10.13	7 72	1 00	10.00	ŏ	28 14	44.01	0.04	70.53	20.5
byd 75	A	221	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0.03	A5 07	58.17	24 00
byd 75	19	84 23	10	Ň	ő	0	0	10	0	3.84	8 25	37 04	A9 8.4
hvd 75	110	80.91	2.24	ŏ	0	0	0	0	19 29	AS OA	10 40	49.08	12 24
hvd 150	1	05 22	11 73	1 58	0	0	30.3	19 93	18 33	61 47	18.44	61.80	0
hvd 150	2	98.09	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
hvd 150	13	101.04	102.54	33.07	0	0	14.65	10	0	ō.	10	10	10
hvd 150	4	48.8	36.49	0	0	0	0	10	ŏ	ō	0	10.05	20 46
hvd 150	15	125.71	4.00	0	0	0	0	0	ŏ	ō	0	0	20.01
hyd 150	8	72.42	2.40	8.48	0.09	0	8	10	28.08	59.92	44.08	ALL ST	96.51
hvd 150	7	72.53	58.6	0	0	0	0	10	0	0	1.38	70.98	10.96
hyd 150	8	72 8	7.32	0	0	0	0	10	la	a	17.53	50.96	24.87
hyd 150	0	40.01	0	0	0	lõ –	ō	lõ	lõ.	8	0	40.22	112.61
hvd 150	110	38.44	0	0	1.16	0	0	0	0	0	0	10	4.60

Appendix 12: Time (sec) spent licking the injected hind paw, in blocks of 5 min after i.p. injection of vehicle or hydrocoriisone (hyd) [40, 75 and 150 mg/kg] in the naked mole-rat during a 1 h observation period.

Treatment	Autine	0 - 6	15 - 10	10.15	15 20	20 - 25	125 - 30	30 - 35	136 - 40	10 . 15	15 - 50	150 - 55	155 . 00
	number	min	min	inin	in in	min	min	min	inte	min	min	min	min
vehicle	1	72	14	0		0	15	64	120	HO	120	260	327
venicle	2	00	5	73	0	0	0	0	4	77	97	152	110
vehicle	3	83	0	5	0	0	ō	Ō	84	128	90	121	289
vehicle	1	123	0	10	4	0	0	0	0	39	100	1 80	101
vehicle	5	132	114	Ō	0	21		113	0	6	270	310	301
vehicle	6	117	143	11	0	0	0	Ö	173	130	8	122	201
vehicle	7	116	2	0	0	0	0	1	180	130	160	253	212
vehicle	8	114	31	1	0	0	1	a	0	126	104	178	100
vehicle	0	162	22	0	δ	1	ō	ō	182	85	133	167	20
vehicle	10	89	2	0	0	0	0	ō	THT	01	102	192	178
dex 10	T	138	230	87	ō	19	0	208	230	236	208	247	28
dex 10	2	160	0	78	0	185	1 64	168	227	273	307	226	299
dex 10	3	105	0	183	4	0	0	0	107	91	180	93	237
dex 10	4	76	0	7	0	0	2	141	84	50	126	41	243
dex 10	5	50	1171	37	5	Phb	00	72	148		201	204	69
dex 10	6	116	0	0	00	50	10	1	0	107	59	229	217
dex 10	7	104	l a	lõ	26	103	96	29	197	122	198	205	267
dex 10	8	HO	0	0	0	28	2	141	88	50	0	22	217
dex 10	9	133	67	18	4.0	0	14	50	87	113	197	120	85
dex  0	10	01	28	58	7	15	39	128	127	127	133	172	238
dex 20		73	0	12	0	Ō	0	0	i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i	0	0	ŏ	ō
des 20	13	213	25	101	56	14		10	47	78	34	20	193
dex 20	3	77	01	42	104	0	115	114	130	144	17	1113	120
dex 20	4	108	229	117	129	201	213	235	167	104	105	205	210
dex 20	5	122	128	63	37	58	24	31	0	40	68	105	118
dex 20	6	166	123	3	0	Ō	0	0	0	96	155	149	187
dex 20	7	176	47	26	0	0	33	15	137	146	190	142	210
dex 20	8	124	30	07			12	149	24	140	237	175	236
dex 20	9	144	117	62	125	71	9	09	271	122	250	240	296
des 20	10	156	32	22	2	0	0	30	0	12	6	0	0
dex 30	1	115	0	2	2	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	0
dex 30	2	89	0	4	Ō	Ō	0	Ō	0	8	0	7	0
dex 30	3	110	0	0	0	0	Ō	12	ō	0	15	0	34
dex 30	4	70	Ō	0	Ō	0	0	0	Ö	ā	30	21	13
dex 30	6	219	0	15	4	Ō	0	0	Ō	47	60	62	91
dex 30	0	107	0	2	0	Ō	0	0	0	0	84	03	22
dex 30	7	70	0	0	3	0	1	0	0	0	0	71	52
dex 30	8	42	3	٥	0		0	0	0	2	28	97	00
ilex 30	0	58	7	11	Ō	Ō	0	0	0	0	0	12	8
ilex 30	10	159	112	7	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	131	42

Appendix 13: Number of licks recorded in blocks of 5 min after i.p. injection of vehicle or dexamethasone (dex) (10, 20 and 30 ng/kg) in the naked mole-rat during a 1 h observation period.

Appendix 14: Time (sec) spe	nt licking the injected hind	paw, in blocks of 5 min after i.p.	Injection of vehicle or dexamethasone (dex)
(10, 20 and 30 mg/kg) in th	e naked mole-rat during a 1	h observation period.	

number         min         min<	Treatment	Animal	0 - 5	15.10	110 - 15	15 - 20	20 - 25	25 - 30	130 - 35	35 - 40	40 . 45	21-11-25		EE AN
vehicle         1         33.7         20.6         0         7.04         30.53         75.11         16         16         110.7		number	min	min	min	min	mtn	min	min	min	min	10 - 00	00 - 00	03 - 00
vehicle         2         2         2         6         2         6         0         0         0         2         8         37         33         1 <th1< td=""><td>vehicle</td><td>1</td><td>33.7</td><td>2.05</td><td>0</td><td>4.82</td><td>0</td><td>7.04</td><td>30.63</td><td>75.11</td><td>40 80</td><td>71 44</td><td>188 91</td><td>126 22</td></th1<>	vehicle	1	33.7	2.05	0	4.82	0	7.04	30.63	75.11	40 80	71 44	188 91	126 22
vehicle         3         16.7         0         0         0         0         56.18         166.23         0         0         0         36.18         166.23         0         0         0         37.4         166.23         0         166.23         0 <th0< th="">         0         <th0< th=""> <th0< th=""></th0<></th0<></th0<>	vehicle	2	42.00	26.6	42.55	0	0	0	Ó	2.83	37.03	40.24	02 60	140 44
vehicle         4         108 22         0         8         0 <th0< th="">         0         0         <!--</td--><td>vehicle</td><td>3</td><td>10.7</td><td>0</td><td>1.74</td><td>0</td><td>0</td><td>0</td><td>0</td><td>39.16</td><td>150 01</td><td>40.44</td><td>62.00</td><td>00.30</td></th0<>	vehicle	3	10.7	0	1.74	0	0	0	0	39.16	150 01	40.44	62.00	00.30
vehicle         5         60.73         7.48         0         11.99         2.04         8.43         0         24.14         166.72         170.75         170.7	vehicle	4	101-21/	0	5.04	2	0	0	0	0	21.7	100.05	04 00	54 67
vehicle         6         52         53         64         63         54         64         53         10         65         100         100         <	vehicle	5	69.73	7.45	0	0	11.00	2.04	6.63	0	26.14	100 43	171 38	
vehicle         7         53.32         1.98         0 <th0< th="">         0         0</th0<>	vehicle	8	52 98	84.08	4.9	0	0	0	0	93.28	66.94	3.4	RA 43	15 41
vehicle         8         53.71         16.69         1.93         0         64         0         67         38         55.22         100.06         106.36           vehicle         10         43.54         1.56         0         0         2         0         0         37.26         25.52         25.73         100.06         106.36           vehicle         10         43.54         1.56         0	vehicle	7	53.32	1.98	0	0	0	0	95	90.3	67.08	82.31	122.22	102.04
vehicle         0         64,82         10.1         0         0         2         0         0         37,26         26,82         85,73         100.86         120,20           vehicle         10         43,84         1.68         0         <	vehicle	8	53.71	15.69	1.93	0	0	.64	0	0	67.38	53 02	100.08	105 36
vehicle         10         43.84         1 66         0         33         14         23         16         33         16         0         13         12         13         13         15         10         33         13         13         17         15           dex         10         3         51.09         0         100.28         2.25         0         0         64         66         165.1         24.03         50.67         147         86           dex         10         5         28.64         66.33         22.32         3.1         142.82         56.69         37.63         84.61         38.62         167.98         103.35         53.15           dex         10         7         46.46         0         15.77         0         0         17.31         1.01         05.31         41.67         87.71         33         60.81         18.20         16.50         11         55.66         77.78         32.69	vehicle	9	86.82	10.1	0	0	1	0	0	37.29	29.52	85.73	100.00	120.20
$\begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $	vehicle	10	43.64	1.90	0	0	0	0	0	90.69	36.61	54.72	108.30	A 77
$\begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $	dex 10	1	68.09	STATE	61.35	0	16.67	0	110.03	109.33	129.52	101.25	124 44	158 78
$\begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $	dex 10	2	85.92	0	39.23	0	04.8	66.1	82.04	109.4	152.28	109.35	130.13	171 5
$\begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $	den 10	3	51.09	0	100.20	2 25	0	0	0	59 P	63.76	98.83	50 87	147.94
$\begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $	dex 10	4	120.65	0	2.96	0	ō	64	68.8	45.61	24.93	59.64	218	179.59
$\begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $	dex 10	5	25.64	98.43	12.32	5.0	142.82	54 69	37.65	84.61	38 62	167 04	105 34	44 14
$\begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $	dex 10	6	79.99	0	0	51.14	26.05	2.03	1.23	ō	85.55	51.45	150 40	131 60
$\begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $	dex 10	7	49.48	0	ă	13.02	54 49	52 10	14 57	A4 77	71.35	00 40	150.01	154.00
$\begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	dex 10	8	25.77	0	ŏ	0	17 31	1 01	105 11	11.04	24.03	0	11 64	100 00
dex 10       10       42.32       12.87       30.78       0       10       11       13.1       10.13       10.71       17.13       18.99         dex 20       1       33.04       0       .94       0	dex 10	9	92.28	30 80	0.26	30.78	0	0.04	31	70.51	40.09	107 10	77.00	108.31
$\begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	dex 10	10	42.37	12 87	30.71	2 88	7 1 2	20.81	13.94	71 13	76 74	82.84	109 28	142 20
$\begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	dex 20	1	36.06	0	04	0	0	A0.01	13.34	X	70.79	04.01	100.40	110.0.1
$\begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	dex 20	2	105 77	11 22	10 47	10 10	9 60		X	64 64		177 7	17 14	100
$\begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $	dex 20	3	34 74	12 61	23.03	54 40	0	44.40	44 44	20,00	80.00	AI AT	1.10	102.90
$ \begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $	dex 20	4	38 58	108 51	KO 74	44 14	00.12	101.10	144 1		23 58	44.07	101.10	141.97
$\begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $	dex 20	6	64.63	69.53	51	17 90	31.00	11.00	14.94	100.10	04.30	00.00	122.93	131.00
Jex 20         7         58.33         12.55         0	des 20	8	82 43	10 20	1.26	0	31.00	11.00	14.30	×		31.03	83 DI	75 10
$\begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $	dex 20	7	98.38	11.48	17 50	8	0	18.49	7 / 7		44.04	OW. L	00.00	10.0
$\begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	des 20	8	70.00	22 80	16 61	2 08	8 A1	1 84	00 17	14 49	BA 11	145 70	100.07	141-00
drx 20       10       36.00       18.47       12.61       56       0       0       16.33       10.426       1.435       1.437	dex 20	0	77.55	65.34	22.88	71.10	42.08	TAA	12 44	184 16	40.03		175 61	170 14
dex 30         i         54.55         o         i         64         0	dex 20	10	36.99	16.47	12.41	DA.	0	0.00	14 34	0	ALA	145	0	A
$\begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $	dex 30	1	54.53	0	80	60	0	0	0		0.00	1.00	24	0
dex 30         3         55.2         6         0         6         0         5.38         0         0         7.48         0         14.87           dex 30         4         36.29         0         0         0         0         0         0         0         14.87           dex 30         4         36.29         0         0         0         0         0         0         0         11.38         6.33           dex 30         5         47.48         0         0         0         4.65         0         0         0         18.64         11.38         6.33           dex 30         6         41.34         0         0         4.65         0         0         0         6         51.76         41.96         10.38         6.33           dex 30         7         14.36         95         0         0         1         0         0         0         25.62         18.91           dex 30         7         14.36         95         0         0         1         0         0         0         25.62         18.91           dex 30         9         93.39         2.55         4.91	den 30	2	89	0	1.53	0	0	0	0	0	4 47	0	94	1 10
$\begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	deg 30	3	55.1	õ	0	ō	0	0	5 34	8	0	7.10	0	12 47-1
dex 30         5         47.48         0	dex 30	4	36 29	0	0	0	0	0	0.00	0	ă -	IR AL	TT 18	1 1.07
dex 30         6         41.34         0         0         1.32         0         1         0         0         0         17.05         18.91           dex 30         7         14.38         98         0         0         .42         0         0         0         98         7.98         48.63         46.25           dex 30         8         27.53         4.91         0         0         0         0         0         5.25         4.26           dex 30         9         9.339         4.99         4.15         4.92         0         0         0         0         14.81         0         14.82         15.01	dex 30	5	47.41	0	.90	0	ō	4.5	ō	0	0	61 74	41 65	10.14
dex 30         7         14.38         98         0         0         .42         0         0         0         98         7.98         48.85         48.25           dex 30         8         25.23         2.53         4.91         0	dex 30	6	41.34	0	ō	1.32	0		0	0	0	01.70	15 02	TROI
dex 30         6         25 23         2.53         4.91         0         1         4.92         15         0         0         0         1         4.92         15         0         0         0         1         4.92         15         0         0         0         1         4.92         15         0         0         0         1         4.92         15         0         1         0	dex 30	7	14.36	95	0	0	42	0	0	0	Dall	7 08	49 95	48.25
dex 30 0 03.39 4.99 4.15 4.92 0 0 0 4.31 0 0 14.82 15.01	dex 30	8	25 23	2.53	4.91	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	5 25	4 98
de 30 110 110/ 42 10 17 13 13 10 10 114 13 13 10 10 114 13 13 01	dex 30	9	93.39	4.99	4.15	4.92	0	ō	ō.	1 11	6	0	14 02	15 01
	dex 30	10	104.66	0	6.35	1.16	0	0	3.03	0	20.14	31 64	94 10	13 60

Trestment	Animal	0 - 5	5 - 10	10 -15	115 - 20	120 - 25	25 - 30	130 - 35	135 - 40	40 - 45	145 - 50	150 . 55	155.6	0 160 - 65	165 . 70	170 . 75	175 . 40	100 . 85	185 . 0	0 100 . 05	105 -	1100	1105 -	1110 -	1115
	number	min	min	min	min	min	min	min	min	min	min	min	min	min	min	min	min	min	min	min	100	105	110	115	120
	-											1						1				min	min	min	mta
vehicle	1	50	10	127	0	38	17	145	92	[] 46	1135	1144	112	119	141	[211	[]95	[178	[113	107	142	195	68	91	45
vehicle	12	95	0	[13	4	15	53	122	199	210	213	220	1170	182	156	173	103	130	124	117	85	38	85	0	0
vehicle	3	150	68	76	92	40	199	130	200	172	211	228	231	184	166	255	147	144	187	228	132	223	226	251	201
vehicle	[4	123	0	39	0	0	113	158	250	294	224	262	166	40	259	309	265	298	156	139	52	0	0	76	141
vehicle	5	159	10	0	0	140	0	59	260	40	297	60	164	242	256	201	211	228	201	198	238	150	155	190	68
dex 20	1	199	72	17	3	8	0	24	72	46	229	161	1147	171	250	286	104	143	112	129	77	54	117	181	106
dex 20	2	85	10	0	10	61	95	97	23	173	205	130	246	281	217	260	247	248	247	194	256	99	177	240	152
dex 20	3	171	0	10	15	0	0	9	82	76	105	139	1164	230	193	178	203	194	143	119	145	167	96	93	38
dex 20	14	69	10	10	0	156	3	207	193	231	236	277	291	205	274	295	272	255	241	291	222	298	282	192	290
dex 20	15	93	10	0	18	6	20	34	98	70	204	226	180	98	176	286	250	206	256	280	252	291	278	283	243
dex 30	1	43	[6	[14	10	10	7	16	29	55	132	187	122	254	105	177	164	169	180	176	191	169	77	105	38
dex 30	2	100	15	41	97	0	0	151	122	81	194	281	174	273	297	312	295	253	230	270	222	295	1157	216	1119
dex 30	3	90	10	48	0	10	0	61	98	40	54	181	65	108	196	116	139	107	149	125	215	104	105	118	127
dex 30	14	71	0	10	0	0	0	0	0	0	12	64	72	75	69	1106	121	151	101	206	103	98	114	119	1126
dex 30	15	218	0	14	15	10	10	19	0	0	127	173	197	79	76	1121	116	121	109	1103	195	161	72	1153	162

Appendix 15: Number of Scies recorded in blocks of 5 min after Lp. mjection of vehicle or desamethasone (dest 220 and 30 mg/kg in the naked mole-rat during a 2 h observation period.

1.4

16

ė,

Party of the second second second			16 10	10.10	115 00	100 08	106 00	120 20	100 10	1.100	1.10 0.0	100 00	100 20	1	1	1									
Treaument	Animai	0-5	5 - 10	10 -15	15 - 20	20 - 25	25 - 30	30 - 35	35 - 40	40 - 45	45 - 50	50 - 55	55 - 60	60 - 65	65 - 70	70 - 75	75 - 80	80 - 85	85 - 90	90 - 95	95 -	100 -	105 -	110 -	115 -
	number	min	min			min	min	a con	mm	min	min	min	min	min	min	min	min	min	min	min	100	105	110	115	120
				+				1			1		1					L			min	min	min	min	min
vehicie	11	25.2	0	16.2	0	22.91	9.46	117.44	69.46	121.25	109.5	117.36	136.52	98.05	[110.83	171.96	158.75	144.87	82.23	79.12	116.13	69.36	64.96	65.93	27.33
vehicle	2	48.05	10	6.93	2.4	2.61	40.17	87.57	140.96	159.6	[155.83	164.54	127.21	142.02	108.1	123.89	69.13	94.43	89.47	78.46	56.61	26.34	61 76	0	10
vehicie	3	82.69	35.29	53.22	67 09	30.21	[156.82	103.82	169.29	140.13	159.63	176.49	185.59	157.39	124.15	175.67	101.26	103.48	141.99	170.53	96.76	160.64	165.54	172 12	150.91
vehicle	4	67.2	0	14.39	0	10	76.36	104.23	[165.13	195.17	170.12	180.2	120.54	25.13	170.19	252.73	180.38	199.65	112.02	102.43	39.43	10	10	45 2	28.72
vehicle	15	95.64	0	0	0	105.06	0	38.48	213.73	31.88	243.17	48.	144.63	193.99	207.58	163.09	172.93	177.17	164.91	159.89	193 26	116 07	415	154 83	14.04
des 20	11	103.16	42.46	7.2	1.86	4.13	0	11.58	46.49	33.69	168.39	115.43	94.48	124.41	185.08	211.97	70.37	100.56	83.27	95.91	42.82	37.24	9.23	178.78	90.47
dex 20	2	53.36	0	0	4.22	38.46	58.74	66 23	12.64	114.71	141.03	98.07	177.56	201.45	156.96	180.7	179.43	184 81	182.3	150.87	190 36	69.90	124 50	120.20	100.45
dex 20	3	102.4	10	Ō	2.93	0	10	4.06	54.69	46.04	66.97	100.17	105.46	161 36	146.9	123 99	125 53	128 24	101.93	95 27	105.03	110.03	120.38	1/1.91	143.00
des 20	4	35.25	10	10.23	0	11736	11.56	140.93	140.52	168.57	182.6	204.66	235.78	168.17	223 16	234 31	233 3	198 35	177 49	239.22	171 61	1240.64	10.34	00.40	20.93
den 20	15	54.79	10	10	13.34	164	9.37	23 15	68 38	46.61	133.84	1152.23	124 3	54.34	114 34	208.94	197 72	172.63	209.15	200.41	173.31	240.00	414.40	193.73	222.19
d= 10	11	121 52	13.4	6.04	10	0	A IR	7 70	10.50	42.54	00.54	101.00	144.5	1000.5	1110.50	100.34	107.75	173.03	208.15	200.41	201.22	226.9	230.46	211.01	193.5I
der 30	1	41.33	13.4	13.00		10	9.10	1.19	19.59	93.39	94.00	101.51	90,40	200.5	78.55	131.54	129.41	149.32	140.32	141.54	145.33	127.5	54.34	73.09	27.4
der JO	12	18.02	2.09	22.73	171.00	10	10	103.38	86.72	55.03	137.99	219.46	138.68	223.71	211.09	248.59	133.99	186.83	173.46	199.46	165.26	228.14	118.69	169.28	89
dex 30	13	53.77	0	34.32	10	0	10	42.3	65.26	27.06	28.01	119.9	45.16	76.36	155.64	87.6	103.73	73.73	112.1	90.73	164.37	73.73	77.33	10.83	84.55
dex 30	[4	41.32	[0	0	10	0	0	0	0	0	5.46	38.25	41.05	44.09	39.62	89.05	91.23	122.89	82.06	134.09	84 62	71 52	80.15	97.61	84 84
dex 0	5	121.62	0	6.34	1.29	10	0	4.01	0	0	91.71	132.35	70.53	50.15	51.29	92.71	80.55	94.7	89.13	84.59	70 43	40.68	41 14	116 10	120 44

Appendix 16: Time (sec) spent licking the injected hind paw, in blocks of 5 min after 1.p. injection of vehicle or dexamethasone (dex) [20 and 30 mg/kg in the naked mole-rat during a 2 h observation period.